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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Good afternoon.

          3  This is a hearing of the New York City Council

          4  Committee on Youth Services. My name is Ken Fisher,

          5  I am a Council Member from Brooklyn and I want to

          6  welcome you to our hearing entitled, Why Do Kids

          7  Join Gangs?

          8                 Let me just announce as a

          9  housekeeping matter, that if anyone is here to

         10  testify in connection with our hearing, please see

         11  one of our Sergeant-At-Arms and fill out a witness

         12  slip so that we know to recognize you.

         13                 We are going to be hearing first from

         14  the District Attorney of Brooklyn, then from a panel

         15  of experts from the law enforcement community. We

         16  will also be hearing from some of the young people

         17  who have been involved themselves in gang activity

         18  or have been susceptible to it and a number of

         19  experts on the behavior of young people to give us

         20  some insights into the extent of this problem and

         21  how we can address it.

         22                 A few months ago I was in a small

         23  grocery store in a middle class neighborhood of New

         24  York and there were two young girls, I would

         25  estimate them to be about ten or 11 years old,
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          2  standing next to the cash register.

          3                 There were some bandanas hanging on

          4  the side of the register, and the two girls got into

          5  a conversation as to which gang would be wearing

          6  which bandana. One was blue and one was red. And

          7  whether it was safe for them to be wearing those

          8  colors, whether they were wearing them in the form

          9  of a gang bandana or not.

         10                 It brought home to me that there is a

         11  level of consciousness about gang activity in New

         12  York City among the young people that many adults

         13  are not aware of. They are not aware of the extent

         14  of the problem of the gangs, they are not aware of

         15  the growth of gangs, they are not aware of some of

         16  the sophisticated techniques that gangs are using to

         17  recruit people in New York City today.

         18                 Now, the problem of gangs is

         19  certainly not a new one to New York, but it is

         20  something that seems to ebb and flow with the times.

         21                 What we want to do today is call

         22  attention to the fact that it is a growing problem

         23  in New York and to identify the causes for young

         24  people to join a gang, whether it is through an

         25  inducement of some type, such as protection, or
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          2  whether it is for fear of retaliation, so that we

          3  can begin to fashion a policy for addressing those

          4  problems.

          5                 I should call out to everyone's

          6  attention that in the strategic policy statement

          7  released by the Mayor just a few weeks ago, he makes

          8  reference to the fact that a City that cares about

          9  its children, make sure that they have safe and

         10  appropriate places to spend their free time.

         11                 We also need to let young people know

         12  that they are engaged with adults, that there are

         13  adults that care about them and that want to make

         14  sure that they succeed. And we have to make sure

         15  that our schools are not recruiting grounds for

         16  gangs and that we make our schools gang-free zones

         17  for the children of New York.

         18                 If we don't do that and the gang

         19  activity accelerates at the rate that is currently

         20  growing, we stand to run the risk of a serious

         21  increase in crime in the days ahead.

         22                 We are joined at this hearing by

         23  Council Member Lucy Cruz and Council Member Pedro

         24  Espada and I want to thank everyone for their

         25  attendance today. Without further ado, let me first
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          2  call as our witness the District Attorney of

          3  Brooklyn, Joe Hynes, who has had a distinguished

          4  career in law enforcement and his office has been

          5  engaged in some very innovative techniques for

          6  addressing the problem of gang violence in New York.

          7                 Mr. District Attorney.

          8                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY HYNES: Thank you,

          9  Mr. Chairman.

         10                 I want to thank you for the

         11  opportunity to speak to you and the Committee this

         12  morning about a very, very serious problem and the

         13  response we have taken.

         14                 With me today representing the United

         15  States Attorney for the Eastern District of New

         16  York, Loretta Lynch, is the Chief of the violent

         17  criminal enterprise section of the United States

         18  Attorney's Office, Ben Campbell. And from my office

         19  is Pat Gatling, who is in charge of the major

         20  Narcotics Investigative Bureau, and she is the

         21  co-director of this new initiative which is called

         22  ComALERT. Deanna Rodriguez is the chief of our Gang

         23  Bureau in the county.

         24                 As you may know, Mr. Chairman, and

         25  members, on October 13th the United States Attorney
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          2  for the Eastern District of New York Loretta Lynch

          3  and I announced the beginnings of what we believe

          4  would be a comprehensive response to the increase of

          5  gang activity in the country.

          6                 The program ComALERT, or the

          7  community and law enforcement resources together has

          8  the full support, I should mention, of Mayor

          9  Giuliani and Police Commissioner Howard Safir.

         10                 ComALERT is modeled after a very

         11  successful program which was started in Boston in

         12  the nineties called the Boston Plan, which reduced

         13  youth violence and firearm homicides among those 24

         14  years of age or younger by 64 percent in 1996 and

         15  1997, and is credited for having a period of

         16  non-juvenile deaths by firearms for 18 months, from

         17  July 1995 to 1996.

         18                 What makes ComALERT different is that

         19  it includes City, State and federal officials in all

         20  segments of the community. There are 19 agencies

         21  involved in this program, as well as every possible

         22  segments of the community, because as we have

         23  learned a long time ago, and I think you have

         24  mentioned many times Council Member, that public

         25  safety is all about getting community working with
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          2  law enforcement. ComALERT will use prevention,

          3  intervention and enforcement strategies to reduce

          4  violence.

          5                 I believe this approach makes sense

          6  because I have never believed that law enforcement

          7  alone was the answer to public safety.

          8                 There is little purpose I think, and

          9  you have alluded to it, to talk about the existence

         10  of gang activity because it goes back to pre-Civil

         11  war days, the Plug Uglies and other groups. When I

         12  was a kid growing up we had the South Brooklyn Boys

         13  and HillToppers and the South Brooklyn Tigers, and

         14  many people who were members of those mob gangs

         15  became police officers and firefighters after being

         16  saved from the gang activity. Some even became

         17  lawyers. Others, though, went to prison.

         18                 What is important is to understand

         19  what we are dealing with and that gang membership

         20  appears to be growing and the violence attending to

         21  it is growing as well.

         22                 We have to understand, it seems to

         23  me, what is attracting kids to this, and I think

         24  that on the screen you will see what I believe is

         25  part of the problem attracting them.
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          2                 These are websites from The Bloods

          3  and other organizations. As you can see, the

          4  websites are attractive, they are sophisticated,

          5  they have enormous appeal for young people. It is

          6  powerful, it is seductive, it glamourizes a

          7  lifestyle that we all know leads nowhere.

          8                 Those who promote these websites will

          9  tell you they are really anti-gang activities, I

         10  think the parents should judge whether or not that

         11  is true.

         12                 We know from wiretaps we have made

         13  during the course of some gang investigations that

         14  leaders of gang sets have begun to use the

         15  information from these websites to organize their

         16  own sets and that gang chatrooms have become a place

         17  of recruitment.

         18                 As I said, Ben Campbell is with me,

         19  he has done the research on the law and I assume

         20  will provide you with any information about the

         21  law's ability to combat gang activity on the web.

         22  But obviously the real problem for us is that the

         23  first amendment is a mighty protection which will

         24  prevent any interdiction of these programs.

         25                 In 1994 we created the City's first
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          2  gang unit dedicated solely to the prosecution of

          3  gang crimes. We typically prosecute 200 people a

          4  year. But I think you know my philosophy has always

          5  been prosecution alone doesn't solve all of our

          6  problems, and in keeping with that philosophy, I

          7  would like to announce we are developing an

          8  alternative to gang violence we call the Gang Rescue

          9  Operation or GRO, the elements are:

         10                 - Aggressive outreach to young kids

         11  who want to turn their backs on violence and avoid

         12  the street life.

         13                 - Counseling for appropriate

         14  educational, job and recreational activities.

         15                 - Witness relocation for those

         16  victimized by gangs and who will testify against

         17  their tormentors.

         18                 - An expansion of our cooperation

         19  with faith-based and community organizations to

         20  provide alternatives to the gang life.

         21                 In closing, while we fully expect to

         22  make a difference in the lives of young kids in

         23  Brooklyn because of these activities, and will

         24  continue to work for ways to provide alternatives,

         25  make no mistake about it, if people choose to remain
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          2  in gang activities and choose violence, then we will

          3  take every means to prosecute them and to make sure

          4  people who commit these crimes of violence go to

          5  jail.

          6                 I will be happy to take some

          7  questions in the interim, but as I said, I will have

          8  Ms. Gatling and Mr. Rodriguez with me, but would you

          9  take some words from Mr. Campbell?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Yes.

         11                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY HYNES: Thank you.

         12                 ASSISTANT U.S. ATTORNEY CAMPBELL:

         13  Thank you, District Attorney Hynes, Mr. Chairman.

         14  Good afternoon, members of the Council. My name is

         15  Ben Campbell, and I am an Assistant United States

         16  Attorney in the Eastern District of New York. The

         17  office is headed by Loretta Lynch, the United States

         18  Attorney for the Eastern District.

         19                 Before I begin my testimony I would

         20  like to take this opportunity to briefly thank you

         21  for inviting the office to attend, we appreciate the

         22  invitation and we are happy to participate in

         23  today's proceed.

         24                 By way of background, I am the Chief

         25  of the Eastern District's Violent Criminal

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            13

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  Enterprises Unit. This unit was created by Zachary

          3  Carter, the former United States Attorney, and its

          4  purpose was to combat gangs and other emerging

          5  criminal organizations.

          6                 Our unit works in close cooperation

          7  with several state and federal agencies, such as the

          8  FBI, the ATF, the INS, the New York City Police

          9  Department and the Kings and Queens County District

         10  Attorneys.

         11                 Our purpose is to prosecute and

         12  eliminate all varieties of organized criminal

         13  groups, including violent street gangs. A large

         14  component of our investigations and prosecutions,

         15  include meeting with current and former gang

         16  members, as well as their family members and the

         17  men, women and children who live and work in the

         18  neighborhoods where these gangs are active.

         19                 I intend in my testimony to briefly

         20  present some of the lessons we have learned about

         21  how gangs recruit members, the ties between gang

         22  activity and other types of crime, and some of the

         23  strategies that could be used to combat the gang

         24  problem.

         25                 Now, the gang problem, as we all
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          2  know, is complex and defies easy or simple answers.

          3  Gangs are not confined to any one regional, ethnic

          4  or religious group. Gangs affect all segments of our

          5  society, and all types of cities and towns. The root

          6  of the problem, as the Council has already heard,

          7  starts with the formation of a gang and the

          8  recruitment of new members. The reasons for the

          9  growth of gangs are many. They often include a

         10  desire for power, prestige or money. Most of the

         11  gangs we have encountered in our investigations and

         12  prosecutions are formed out of closely knit groups

         13  of friends, young men and women who have known each

         14  other nearly their entire lives and who grew up

         15  together in a particular neighborhood.

         16                 In many neighborhoods these young

         17  people are exposed to older gang members who appear

         18  to be very successful.

         19                 These older gang members often look

         20  like they have lots of money, drive fancy cars, wear

         21  nice clothes and are accorded respect.

         22                 In our experience many of the gang

         23  members that we talk to tell us that they know many

         24  of these older gang members extremely well, as older

         25  brothers or sisters or friends or neighbors who they
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          2  have known since they were children.

          3                 They also tell us they are lured into

          4  gang life because of the success and respect that

          5  these older gang members appear to enjoy.

          6                 All of the young gang members that we

          7  talk to talk about learning what it was like back in

          8  the days. Hearing stories about gang members who

          9  came to fore, what they did, how powerful they were

         10  and what happened to them.

         11                 By far in a way these community ties

         12  and this familiarity are the most effective tactics

         13  the gang use to increase their membership and bring

         14  new recruits into the fold.

         15                 Young men and women looking for

         16  prestige, power and money are easily recruited by

         17  older friends and relatives whom they know and

         18  respect. The common bonds of familiarity and

         19  neighborhood are strong and a gang often develops

         20  into a cohesive and resilient group.

         21                 The vast majority of the gang members

         22  we have talked to began their careers selling drugs.

         23  A much smaller percentage started by committing

         24  robberies, purse snatchings or by extorting

         25  protection money from local merchants.
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          2                 The objective, as always, was to earn

          3  money for the gang. Many, but not all, of the

          4  organizations that we prosecute, are built around

          5  the sale and distribution of crack cocaine, powder

          6  cocaine, heroin and marijuana. By applying the drug

          7  trade, gangs are able to generate money for their

          8  leadership and their members, further expanding the

          9  apparent success of the gang and contributing to its

         10  ability to continue recruiting. The more

         11  sophisticated gangs who often rent out or take over

         12  apartments known as safehouses for gang members to

         13  hang out in and to store gang guns, ammunition,

         14  drugs and money.

         15                 Gang leaders will use a share of the

         16  money they make from drug sales to throw parties for

         17  gang members and to give gang members token payments

         18  to build up the gang's stock in narcotics, weapons

         19  or ammunition.

         20                 Gangs have become increasingly

         21  sophisticated in expanding the scope of their power

         22  and operations.

         23                 For example, we have detected an

         24  increasing pattern over the last few years of gangs

         25  dispatching members from New York City throughout
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          2  the Northeast and mid-Atlantic states to set up shop

          3  in smaller towns and cities.

          4                 The main incentive for this is the

          5  lure of dramatically increased drug profits.

          6                 For example, in one case we recently

          7  prosecuted a gang in the East New York section of

          8  Brooklyn, found crack cocaine which had sold for $5

          9  for two vials in New York City, could be sold in

         10  Upstate New York for nearly $20 a vial.

         11                 Law enforcement agencies in smaller

         12  cities and towns are frequently not as well equipped

         13  to deal with the gang problem. As often as not, they

         14  will simply put a juvenile gang member back on the

         15  bus to New York City with a stern warning after they

         16  catch them selling drugs in their town.

         17                 There are other factors which

         18  attracts gangs to these localities as well. Gang

         19  members can establish themselves in a new town

         20  fairly easily, and the local competition is much

         21  less intense than it is, for example, in East New

         22  York or Bedford Stuyvesant or Washington Heights.

         23                 Small cities and towns can serve as a

         24  refuge from law enforcement and rival gangs.

         25                 The logic that hides in this analysis
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          2  is simple, violence attracts the attention of law

          3  enforcement and the police and it leads to shootings

          4  with rival groups. In a small town gang members can

          5  concentrate on making money and they don't have to

          6  worry about the occupational hazards of gang

          7  membership in New York City.

          8                 It has often been said that gangs are

          9  a big City problem, but the empirical evidence does

         10  not bear that out.

         11                 Now, gang members and gang leaders

         12  have become increasingly sophisticated in their

         13  recruitment techniques.

         14                 As District Attorney Hynes pointed

         15  out, some are using the Internet, and more and more

         16  games are aiming their recruitment efforts at

         17  juveniles, teenage men and women under the age of

         18  16.

         19                 Juveniles offer gangs many

         20  advantages. For example, if the juvenile is caught

         21  committing crimes for the gang, he or she is

         22  difficult to prosecute and the likelihood of a

         23  substantial jail sentence is often very low.

         24                 This is good for gang members and

         25  gang leaders alike. Juvenile gang members get out of
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          2  jail quickly and are back on the streets within days

          3  of their arrest. And senior gang members don't have

          4  to worry about juveniles cooperating with police in

          5  order to avoid a harsh prison term.

          6                 This revolving door through the

          7  system often means that before a juvenile gang

          8  member reaches the age of 16, he or she has been

          9  with the gang for several years. As a result,

         10  juvenile recruits often become hardened by their

         11  late teens, resisting opportunities to leave gang

         12  life and start anew. The result of course is

         13  predictable and many of these kids are either dead

         14  or in prison by their mid-twenties.

         15                 The link between gang membership and

         16  other criminal activity is well documented. Gangs

         17  are frequently built around the bonds of friendship

         18  and geography, but their secondary purpose is to

         19  make money for their members and their leaders.

         20                 Much of this money is generated

         21  through the sale of narcotics. Protecting this

         22  lucrative operation is a cornerstone of gang

         23  activity. Gang members routinely carry firearms and

         24  participate in acts of violence designed to defend

         25  their turf and a gang's drug trade.
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          2                 Assaults, shootings and murders are

          3  part and parcel of gang operations. Intimidation is

          4  a tried and true tactic and gang members routinely

          5  apply to rival drug sellers or gangs active in their

          6  area or infringing on the success of their

          7  operations. One assault or threat can in turn spark

          8  an entire round of retaliatory violence.

          9                 One point I would like to make, which

         10  is that gangs often have a dark side for their gang

         11  members as well as their rivals.

         12                 All too often this particular issue

         13  is ignored. Gangs enforce a strict code of

         14  discipline, and will frequently use their same

         15  techniques of violence against members who are

         16  believed either to be stealing from the gang or

         17  possibly cooperating with law enforcement.

         18                 Now, in closing, as I indicated, the

         19  solution to the gang problem is difficult and gangs

         20  defy sort of instantaneous resolution.

         21                 As District Attorney Hynes noted,

         22  prosecution is not the sole answer to the gang

         23  problem. It is part of the puzzle, but a combined

         24  community alert program like the Kings County

         25  District Attorney has brought forward is something
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          2  that the United States Attorney Ms. Lynch very much

          3  looks forward to participating in and we are

          4  optimistic that this program can reach out to gang

          5  members and reach out to people who have not yet

          6  joined gangs, nor to present them with an

          7  alternative which is more stable than a gang, an

          8  alternative lifestyle, which is based on education

          9  and job opportunities.

         10                 With this combined prosecution, and

         11  prevention approach, that we hope is the best way to

         12  deal with the growing gang problem.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 I wanted to note we have been joined

         17  by Council Members Tracy Boyland, Bill Perkins and

         18  Al Stabile.

         19                 How young are the young gang members

         20  in New York City today? And how do we identify young

         21  people who are at risk so that we can direct our

         22  attention to them.

         23                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY HYNES: I will let

         24  Deanna Rodriguez, the head of our gun unit, respond

         25  to that.
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          2                 ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY

          3  RODRIGUEZ: We have had gang members as young as 12

          4  and 13 years old. They go from that young age

          5  anywhere up to 20 years of age. In some instances we

          6  have had gang members that are in their thirties and

          7  early forties as well.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: We have been told

          9  there is an increase in the number of female gang

         10  members, is that also true?

         11                 ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY

         12  RODRIGUEZ: There is a significant -- the females,

         13  traditionally females have not been involved in the

         14  gangs. They have usually been girlfriends of gang

         15  members. What we are seeing how, however, is that

         16  they are participating substantially in the gangs

         17  that they are members of, as well as splintering off

         18  and creating their own gangs.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: If a parent were

         20  concerned about their child, how would they

         21  recognize that their child was at risk?

         22                 ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY

         23  RODRIGUEZ: The first thing, you know, gang members

         24  have their own dress code, each gang has their own

         25  colors, they identify themselves in a specific way,
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          2  that to many parents may seem to be, you know, young

          3  people have their own ways of dressing, but if a

          4  parent starts seeing their child, for example,

          5  Bloods' colors are red, and some diehard Blood

          6  members will go out in the streets from head to toe

          7  dressed in their gang colors. If parents begin to

          8  see this type of pattern in terms of their clothing,

          9  this is something they should look to and be

         10  concerned about.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: We have also been

         12  joined by Council Member Clarke from Brooklyn.

         13                 Council Member Stabile. For those of

         14  you who haven't testified before, we will just do a

         15  brief round of questions.

         16                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY HYNES: Sure.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Good

         18  afternoon.

         19                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY HYNES: Hi, Al, how

         20  are you?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Very good.

         22                 I would like to ask you two questions

         23  about the infiltration of our schools, especially

         24  into our junior high schools, because we are talking

         25  12-year-olds and then into our high schools.
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          2                 Are we training our police security,

          3  or our security guards in school to be aware of

          4  these signs? Are we letting them know?

          5                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY HYNES: Well, I

          6  think the appropriate one to respond are the

          7  representatives of the Police Department here,

          8  Council Member Stabile, and I am sure they will have

          9  an answer. We work very closely with them and I

         10  think that it is all about trying to expand the

         11  information network so that we understand that we

         12  are on the same page and have the same focus.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: The gang

         14  population that we see growing in New York City, is

         15  it parallel to the one we experienced in Los

         16  Angeles?

         17                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY HYNES: No. I think

         18  before that even comes remotely to the level of Los

         19  Angeles or Cook County, Illinois, the Police

         20  Commissioner Howard Safir and I were determined to

         21  take this step, this Community Alert Program, so

         22  that we could cut it off. And that is why we are

         23  very optimistic about it.

         24                 Tonight Pat Gatling who is in charge,

         25  she is one of the co-directors of our operation, and
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          2  has been running the program, will meet with

          3  representatives from the United States Attorney's

          4  Office, Ben Campbell will be there, there will be

          5  people from these 19 agencies, there will be

          6  community representatives, faith-based

          7  representatives, and we will have people from the

          8  street there who have been involved in gang

          9  activity, and the message is going to be very, very

         10  direct: That you can come with us and have job

         11  opportunities, job training, you can change your

         12  life, we can protect you from gang activity, and if

         13  you don't then we will bring the forces of the

         14  federal, the state, the local government to bear.

         15                 If I can just, Councilman Fisher, you

         16  know I have another appointment, I would like to

         17  have Pat Gatling sit in with me, all right? It was

         18  good seeing you all.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you,

         20  District Attorney.

         21                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY HYNES: Take care.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Council Member

         23  Boyland had a question.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Hello, how

         25  are you? In my community there will be I guess the
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          2  first experimental project, the Boston Plan, that

          3  will be implemented, and tonight I will be joining

          4  you with the 81st Precinct. We had an in-depth

          5  meeting with Captain Unich yesterday in discussing

          6  it.

          7                 One of the questions that I had for

          8  the Captain, and he was not able to respond because

          9  he said I needed to meet with you first, is in light

         10  of the issues of gang violence and crime within our

         11  community, doesn't Community Alert really address

         12  the issue of probation or people on parole coming

         13  back in the community and being repeat offenders?

         14  What is the correlation between the gang members and

         15  the people on probation or parole?

         16                 DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY GATLING:

         17  Well, certainly quite a few people that will be at

         18  the meeting tonight will be gang members. Quite a

         19  few of the ex-offenders are gang members. But, you

         20  know, this is, we are also inviting gang members,

         21  people who have identified themselves as gang

         22  members to the correctional, in the correctional

         23  facilities, who might not necessarily be on parole

         24  or probation right now, but that was certainly a

         25  core group of people that we could sort of have a
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          2  command performance tonight at the meeting.

          3                 And we also think that when you speak

          4  to parolees and probationers, and just so that

          5  everyone is clear here, we have never done this

          6  before. We have never had a dialogue with

          7  ex-offenders, be they gang members or not gang

          8  members. And that becomes critical in our

          9  communities, because people are coming back to our

         10  communities and they are in touch with other gang

         11  members, they are in touch with other criminal,

         12  people who are involved with criminal enterprises,

         13  they are the sophisticated ones. And so these are

         14  the ones that we are going to look to to help us

         15  with the problems that we are having now, and it

         16  will be interesting certainly. It will be very

         17  interesting.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: I am sure

         19  that it will. And I will be there with you tonight.

         20  And I know in my area you are doing, in the 41st

         21  District you are doing Brevoight Projects

         22  (phonetic), you are doing Kings Borough Projects and

         23  another --

         24                 DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY GATLING:

         25  Entoply (phonetic).
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: -- Housing

          3  complex in my area. And that will encompass what,

          4  the 81st and the 77th?

          5                 DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY GATLING:

          6  That's correct, Council Member.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: I am looking

          8  forward to working with you. I hope there aren't too

          9  many niches. As I read through the Boston Plan, and

         10  actually as I went, on Friday I went to ATF in the

         11  World Trade Center and I was able to see the

         12  statistics that this organization, this federal

         13  organization was able to pull together in terms of

         14  relocating the illegal gun issue that the Chairman

         15  of this Committee and I have been working on, in

         16  terms of our youth and how it affects our

         17  communities.

         18                 My last question: What are some of

         19  the most serious crimes committed by gangs? Is it

         20  drug-related? Is it prostitution? Is it assault with

         21  fire weapons? Is it homicide or is it property

         22  damage? What are some -- if you had to rank them in

         23  the highest categories to the lowest?

         24                 DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY GATLING:

         25  Well, certainly the Police Department, and I know
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          2  Inspector McCool is here from Gang Intel, and I am

          3  sure that he will be able to answer that in more

          4  detail. But I think whenever you talk about the loss

          5  of life, that is certainly the most detrimental to

          6  our community.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Okay, Ms.

          8  Gatling, I look forward to working with you and

          9  seeing you tonight.

         10                 DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY GATLING:

         11  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 Oh, I am sorry, Council Member Cruz

         15  had a question.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ: Thank you very

         17  much. I have to say that when we looked up and I saw

         18  a website for gangs I was just like totally in

         19  shock. I don't know how many people know that there

         20  was a website for gangs, and how you can turn on

         21  your website and join a gang.

         22                 So, obviously it is not something

         23  that is happening just in Brooklyn, although we are

         24  addressing Brooklyn's issue, although it is

         25  Citywide.
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          2                 And I am going to say that last year

          3  we had, when The Bloods and The Crypts were

          4  supposedly initiating, we had a forum in my office

          5  and it consisted of Division of School Safety and

          6  the Police Department and we had teachers and we had

          7  a myriad of people all addressing their concern and

          8  fear of what was going on in the schools. And one

          9  thing that was made very clear to me, and I hope I

         10  can impress upon this District Attorney's Office,

         11  that the need to exchange and have everybody on base

         12  at the same time I think is monumental. The Police

         13  Department can't be operating in a vacuum and the

         14  District Attorney's Office doing something else and

         15  the Board of Ed doing something else and the

         16  teachers or the CSA doing something else and the

         17  youth doing something else. You have to have a forum

         18  whereby everybody knows this is how it is done, this

         19  is how we get it done and let's push off on the same

         20  foot.

         21                 It is obviously very clear, and my

         22  last concern would be, is there a networking between

         23  District Attorneys, everything that Hynes knows in

         24  Brooklyn, do we have that same information in the

         25  Bronx, Manhattan and across the City?
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          2                 DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY GATLING:

          3  Well, between District Attorneys, no. Between the

          4  U.S. Attorney's Office, certainly that operates in

          5  our district, and we are on board with, like the

          6  District Attorney said, 19 other agencies. I mean,

          7  we have working agreements, but, Deanna, maybe you

          8  could speak to that?

          9                 ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY

         10  RODRIGUEZ: Well, we do have a relationship with

         11  Queens. They have a unit that goes for gang members,

         12  as well as youth violence. And occasionally I will

         13  receive phone calls from other District Attorneys,

         14  not just from New York, but from out of state.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ: Well, maybe what

         16  we need to immediately walk away with is an

         17  understanding that all the DAs in the City of New

         18  York are going to hold a forum just on teen gangs so

         19  that they can all step off on the right foot. Maybe

         20  you have something or you are doing something such

         21  as ComALERT that is not being done in any of the

         22  other boroughs.

         23                 The problem of gangs is the same,

         24  whether it is in Manhattan, Bronx, Brooklyn, Queens

         25  or Staten Island. So I think we really have to bring
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          2  all of the DAs together and let's share information,

          3  please. Our kids are at stake.

          4                 DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY GATLING:

          5  It's a good suggestion.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: I wanted to ask a

          7  technical question.

          8                 We have been provided some testimony

          9  from the City's Chief Juvenile Prosecutor Peter

         10  Reinholtz, that indicates that there are limitations

         11  on the City's ability to get search warrants where

         12  only youth crimes are involved, and apparently there

         13  has been an effort to get the State Legislature to

         14  address this.

         15                 Are the investigative techniques

         16  necessary to investigate youth gang activity, as

         17  opposed to the adult gangs, are the tools that we

         18  have available to us adequate at this point? And are

         19  there any gangs that are exclusive composed of

         20  people under the age of 18?

         21                 DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY GATLING: We

         22  are all looking at each other because quite frankly

         23  we don't deal with a lot of people under the age of

         24  16.

         25                 And you are right, there probably is
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          2  a void and a problem because we don't deal with that

          3  under 16 population that often.

          4                 We have certainly used younger people

          5  as informants on search warrants, but again that

          6  opens up a serious set of problems, and it is only

          7  done in extreme circumstances and that is certainly

          8  an issue that is well worth investigating and

          9  addressing, Council Member.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Council Member

         11  Cruz.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ: I just want to

         13  say, do we have statistics of whether or not the

         14  female members of gangs have become more, taken a

         15  more aggressive role, a more violent type of a role?

         16                 Years ago they were just like, the

         17  girlfriends today, they are as much the slashers as

         18  the boys. I had a young lady who came into my office

         19  and because she was dating a member of a gang who

         20  had obviously another girlfriend that came and

         21  carved there -- she said it was so fast. The girl is

         22  hoping that some generous person, a doctor, would

         23  volunteer facial surgery. She is ruined for the rest

         24  of her life. So, I want to know, is this something

         25  that is prevalent now?
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          2                 DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY GATLING:

          3  Well, females are definitely taking a more active

          4  role. As you look at gangs traditionally 20 years

          5  ago, I can't give you exact numbers, but what I can

          6  tell you is females are being recruited to being

          7  part of the gangs, they are actually being initiated

          8  into gangs and they are also involved in violence.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: If I could just

         10  ask you, just so our stenographer gets it down, if

         11  you could just go down the row and just restate your

         12  names, please, for the record.

         13                 ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY: Deanna

         14  Rodriguez.

         15                 DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY GATLING:

         16  Patricia Gatling.

         17                 ASSISTANT U.S. ATTORNEY CAMPBELL: Ben

         18  Campbell.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you.

         20                 Thank you very much for testifying. I

         21  particularly want to thank Ms. Gatling for coming

         22  down. She is a hands-on prosecutor who at our

         23  request came down and sat tenant patrol in the

         24  Ingersol Houses a few years ago, it was a powerful

         25  statement for some of our residents there.
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          2                 Our next panel are going to be some

          3  of the experts from the Law Enforcement Community on

          4  the investigative side, Deputy Commissioner Jimenez

          5  (spelled phonetically), from the Police Department;

          6  Chief Wangenstein from the Department of

          7  Corrections, Deputy Inspector McCool from the Police

          8  Department, if I could ask you to come up. And we

          9  also have Assistant Deputy Warden Bailey.

         10                 And if I could remind all of the

         11  witnesses, if you have not yet filled out a witness

         12  slip, please make sure that you see the

         13  Sergeant-At-Arms on the side of the room so that we

         14  know to recognize you and so that we can properly

         15  record your testimony in our hearing.

         16                 Thank you, Commissioner, sorry for

         17  the delay. We appreciate your cooperation today.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JIMENEZ: Not at

         19  all. Thank you, Chairman Fisher and all of the other

         20  members of the Council and the Youth Committee

         21  today.

         22                 Good afternoon, I am Yolanda Jimenez,

         23  Deputy Commissioner of Community Affairs for the New

         24  York City Police Department, and I am joined here

         25  today by Deputy Inspector James McCool, commanding
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          2  officer of the Police Department, Investigations

          3  Division, as well as Deputy Warden Immanuel Bailey,

          4  Commander of the Department of Corrections and Chief

          5  Wangenstein, also of the Department of Correction,

          6  from the Gang Intelligence Unit.

          7                 On behalf of Police Commissioner

          8  Howard Safir, I am pleased to appear before you

          9  today to discuss the topic of youth involvement and

         10  gangs and the steps the Police Department has taken

         11  to address this issue.

         12                 As you are aware, the mission of the

         13  Police Department is to protect life and property,

         14  by preventing and reducing crime. We achieve this

         15  goal by developing preventing strategies while

         16  aggressively pursuing violators of the law. Our

         17  approach has yield dramatic results in the area of

         18  youth crime.

         19                 Between 1994 and 1998 youth arrests

         20  have decreased by 19.8 percent. As we address the

         21  issue of youth crime and more specifically youth

         22  gangs, we need to understand initially why children

         23  engage in such activity, why they feel compelled to

         24  become gang members.

         25                 After internal analysis and
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          2  consultation with other disciplines such as

          3  education, school work and psychology, we have found

          4  that there are many reasons why young people join

          5  gangs. Some of the more common reasons are the need

          6  to be a part of the group, the need for attention,

          7  lack of positive alternatives, the opportunity to

          8  easily get money, and perhaps the most common one,

          9  the need to be accepted, the need that could not be

         10  overstated when talking about young people.

         11                 From a law enforcement perspective

         12  however, knowing why young people join gangs brings

         13  us only half way towards the solution. To fully

         14  address this issue, we need to develop programs that

         15  reduce and ultimately prevent youth involvement with

         16  gangs an other criminal activity. Such programs will

         17  discourage young people from joining gangs by

         18  helping them build self esteem and teaching valuable

         19  life skills such as evaluating consequences in

         20  making positive long-term decisions.

         21                 To meet our goal we focus on

         22  education as a foundation of our strategy. While we

         23  were all in agreement that young people had to be

         24  made aware of negative consequences associated with

         25  gang involvement, the method of educating them about
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          2  the issues require a flexibility and multi-sided

          3  approach.

          4                 Theoretically we could have come in

          5  contact with every child in this City if we were

          6  only seeking to issue targeted warnings, which is

          7  don't do drugs, don't join gangs, be your own person

          8  and the like.

          9                 However, from our previous experience

         10  we did not believe such a plan would be effective.

         11  The number of contacts would be high in number but

         12  it would be unlikely that any of the information

         13  would be retained over a significant period of time.

         14                 From our experience, with our Drug

         15  Abuse Resistance Education program, the DARE

         16  Program, a national program which utilizes police

         17  officers to teach children of a particularly

         18  vulnerable age, it was our belief that a similar

         19  philosophy had to be applied to address the gang

         20  issue.

         21                 Consequently the Police Department

         22  has implemented several educational and preventive

         23  programs aimed at gang activity among our youth.

         24                 One such program is entitled GREAT,

         25  which stands for Gang Resistance Education and
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          2  Training. The program was originally developed by

          3  the Phoenix, Arizona, Police Department and the

          4  Federal Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms.

          5                 This is a nine-week program,

          6  classroom base, targeted at Junior High School-Aged

          7  Children or grade seven and eight, with the goal of

          8  reducing gang involvement and youth violence.

          9                 The GREAT Program has recently been

         10  expanded to include shorter third, fourth grade and

         11  the fifth and sixth grade curriculum, as well as the

         12  summer component.

         13                 The purpose of the grade program is

         14  to help children become responsible members of their

         15  communities by setting goals for themselves.

         16  Resisting negative pressures, learning how to

         17  resolve conflict and understanding how gangs impact

         18  on the quality of life of their lives.

         19                 GREAT offers students a new

         20  philosophical outlook concerning gang activity. And

         21  the tools needed to resist gang pressures. The GREAT

         22  program is conducted by sworn uniformed police

         23  officers who were certified in curriculum

         24  presentation in classroom management skills. The

         25  program is available to the public, private and
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          2  parochial schools citywide. The number of certified

          3  GREAT officers has steadily increased each year and

          4  to date the New York City Police Department has 38

          5  GREAT police officers. The number of certified

          6  officers will continue to be increased each year, as

          7  well as the number of students reached.

          8                 During 1998 and 1999 school year, the

          9  GREAT program reached 15,140 students throughout the

         10  City in 63 schools.

         11                 Over the last three years the program

         12  has reached approximately 36,500 students throughout

         13  the City.

         14                 In an effort to reach additional

         15  students that are not accessible during the normal

         16  school hours, the Youth Division implemented a

         17  nine-week GREAT after school program during the

         18  1998/1999 school year.

         19                 Currently the program is being

         20  administered in 23 junior high schools, or community

         21  centers throughout the city in after school

         22  programs.

         23                 The Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and

         24  Firearms in the Police Department is exploring

         25  expanding this program into PAL centers as a pilot
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          2  program during the current year.

          3                 This summer the Youth Division

          4  implemented a pilot summer GREAT program in the

          5  Kipps Boysbay Girl's Club in the Bronx. The summer

          6  component is filled with classroom curriculum and

          7  extra curriculum activities, not only to reinforce

          8  the nine week school program, but also to provide

          9  GREAT students with opportunity for cognitive,

         10  social and self-esteem building opportunities.

         11                 Additionally, the summer component of

         12  the GREAT curriculum is being conducted at seven

         13  sites throughout the City.

         14                 One of these sites includes the

         15  Manhattan Family Court where two officers conduct

         16  the GREAT curriculum during the after school hours

         17  to youth who have been remanded to court.

         18                 As mentioned before, we administered

         19  the DARE Program. DARE, which was introduced back in

         20  October of 1996, and replaced the Suspector Program,

         21  which was a school program to educate and control

         22  drug abuse, which was then created by the program,

         23  by the Department in 1985.

         24                 The DARE core curriculum is taught in

         25  the elementary school, is targeted at fifth and
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          2  sixth grade students, a secondary curriculum is

          3  targeted at kindergarten through fourth grade

          4  students. The New York City Police Department is

          5  exploring the possibility of expanding the program

          6  in the middle schools and high schools.

          7                 The DARE program is administered at

          8  the elementary school level in nearly every New York

          9  City public school district, as well as private and

         10  parochial schools.

         11                 The goal of the program is to teach

         12  effective drug prevention, it achieves this through

         13  education and skill building exercises that enables

         14  students to resist the pressures to get involved

         15  with drugs, gangs, violence and criminal activity.

         16                 During 1996/1997 school year, a total

         17  of 125,000 students received the DARE curriculum.

         18  The 1998/1999 school year was the third year the

         19  NYPD implemented the DARE program.

         20                 This curriculum was taught in 340

         21  public and parochial schools reaching a total of

         22  67,161. To date over 193 students have received the

         23  DARE curriculum. Currently there are 110 DARE

         24  certified officers that teach this curriculum.

         25                 Another program which has been
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          2  implemented by my office is the ASPIRE, which stands

          3  for After School Program for Interactive Recreation

          4  and Education.

          5                 The ASPIRE Program operates within

          6  the New York City Housing Authority Development

          7  Community Center in the five boroughs.

          8                 The Housing Authority, in

          9  collaboration with the Police Department, selects

         10  the development which receives the program. The

         11  intent of the ASPIRE program is to bring police

         12  officers and children and young adults together in a

         13  neutral setting that will help to establish a

         14  positive rapport.

         15                 In addition to recreational

         16  activities, the program features an interactive

         17  educational component, aimed at gang resistance and

         18  violence prevention.

         19                 Over the past two years approximately

         20  4,000 students have participated in the program. In

         21  addition, my office, in partnership with the

         22  Boyscouts of America, administers the Law

         23  Enforcement Explorer Program. The intent of this

         24  program is to teach the importance of higher

         25  education and self discipline to reach goals and
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          2  encourage young people to see law enforcement as an

          3  attainable and attractive career choice.

          4                 The Explorer Program is open to all

          5  New York City residents between the ages of 14 and

          6  20.

          7                 Currently there are 94 posts

          8  throughout the City with over 2,300 Explorers

          9  Citywide.

         10                 Another program conducted by the

         11  Youth Division of my office is the Youth Police

         12  Academy. This program and what is one which operates

         13  during the summer months, the children between the

         14  ages of ten and 17. The program seeks to educate and

         15  emulate the operation of the Police Department's

         16  Police Academy and thereby provide participants with

         17  an introductory view of police careers.

         18                 The program is comprised of six

         19  academies with two in Brooklyn and one in each of

         20  the other four boroughs in the City.

         21                 Since its inception in 1995,

         22  approximately 4,100 young men and women have

         23  participated in the program. Special highlights of

         24  the program include participation by the YMCA of

         25  Greater New York, which provides training and
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          2  leadership skills, and they select up to 15

          3  youngsters who have displayed good leadership skills

          4  and positive qualities are invited to a weekend of

          5  camping, educational and environmental lessons and

          6  team building exercises at the YMCA camp in Upstate

          7  New York.

          8                 Additionally I am proud to highlight

          9  another program, Mentoring USA, where New York City

         10  police officers make a valuable contribution to

         11  children by volunteering their time to serve as

         12  mentors to children from the ages of K through

         13  eighth grade during the school year.

         14                 Since the program's inception in

         15  1996, over 300 Police Department personnel, both

         16  uniformed and civilian, have participated as

         17  mentors.

         18                 In addition to the programs

         19  administered by my office, the Police Department

         20  Patrol Service Bureau has participated in three

         21  community-based youth referral programs, funded by

         22  the New York State Division of Criminal Service in

         23  the Mayor's Office. They are the youth force which

         24  services the 40, the 41 and the 42nd Precinct and

         25  PSA 7 in the Bronx. Red Hook Youth Court, which
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          2  services the 72nd, 76th and 78th Precinct in

          3  Brooklyn and a second Youth Court which will be

          4  opening up shortly, the Harlem Youth Court, and the

          5  community mediation services, which services the

          6  103, the 109 and the 113th Precincts in Queens.

          7                 Begun in 1998, these programs are

          8  community-based mediation centers that offer young

          9  people an alternative to criminal prosecution in

         10  Family Court for misdemeanor offenses.

         11                 For example, if a child who lives in

         12  the 72nd Precinct and is taken into custody for an

         13  offense such as criminal mischief or graffiti, he or

         14  she would be given the opportunity by the Precinct

         15  Youth Officer to voluntarily participate in the Red

         16  Hook Youth Court.

         17                 Upon the agreement of the child's his

         18  or her parent, the child would then be directed to

         19  appear the next day before a group of their peers

         20  who act as judges.

         21                 Most often the peer review will

         22  result in a period of community service. The 72nd

         23  Precinct Youth Officer then maintains follow-up on

         24  the child's progress for one year at the completion

         25  of the program.
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          2                 As you may know the Police Department

          3  assumed responsibility for the school safety

          4  functions in the New York City public schools in

          5  1998 and created the School Safety Division.

          6                 The School Safety Division and the

          7  Board of Education has prepared a comprehensive

          8  guide for gang prevention, which is distributed to

          9  all school safety officers and other Police

         10  Department personnel who regularly work within the

         11  school system.

         12                 The School Safety Division also has a

         13  gang intelligence unit, which monitors any

         14  development and trends that may suggest potential or

         15  existing gang-related activity.

         16                 As you can see, our endeavor to

         17  prevent and deter youth violence in a gang and other

         18  forms of negative and anti-social behavior, our

         19  approach is multi-faceted. Although our primary

         20  program in this regard is the GREAT Program, the

         21  others that I have discussed all work to educate and

         22  strengthen young people in the positive values

         23  necessary to succeed in life.

         24                 The Police Department will remain

         25  committed to this ideal and to be an innovative and
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          2  developing program to address the particular need of

          3  the New York City's youth.

          4                 We invite the City Council's

          5  participation and help in this regard. I will now

          6  ask Deputy Inspector McCool of our Gang Intelligence

          7  Division to address the Council, and we will be

          8  happy to answer any questions you may have after the

          9  presentation.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Before you

         12  proceed, I just wanted to note that Council Member

         13  Quinn was in attendance as well.

         14                 Inspector, you can proceed. Thank

         15  you.

         16                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: Good

         17  afternoon, ladies and gentlemen. I would like to

         18  thank the City Council, the members of the

         19  Committee, and the Committee Chair Ken Fisher for

         20  inviting me here today.

         21                 Approximately two years ago Mayor

         22  Giuliani and the Police Commissioner Safir saw a

         23  need to increase the efforts of the New York City

         24  Police Department as they relate to gangs.

         25                 As a result, the Gang Intelligence
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          2  Unit, a subunit of the NYPD's Intelligence Division,

          3  was significantly expanded.

          4                 The Gang Intelligence Unit began

          5  aggressively tracking crimes which involve gang

          6  members so that the New York City Police Department

          7  could capture an accurate picture and measure of

          8  gang crime.

          9                 In July of this year, the New York

         10  City Police Department once again increased its

         11  commitment to combatting gang crime by creating the

         12  Gang Investigation Division within the Organized

         13  Crime Control Bureau.

         14                 The mission of the Gang Investigation

         15  Division is to target street gang members involved

         16  in violence, drug trafficking and other crimes by

         17  rapidly deploying police officers, wherever such

         18  crime occurs or is anticipated, and by conducting

         19  vigorous focused investigations that dismantle the

         20  underlying criminal enterprises that support such

         21  gangs.

         22                 The Gang Investigation Division is

         23  comprised of uniform officers who patrol in gang

         24  prone areas, plainclothes investigators who seek to

         25  develop cases against gang members and narcotics
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          2  detectives who look to build cases against gang

          3  members who are involved in narcotics trafficking.

          4                 I am well aware that the focus of

          5  this hearing is on youth gangs. Consequently I feel

          6  compelled to clarify for the members of the

          7  Committee the definitions used by the NYPD.

          8                 The NYPD classifies a gang as a group

          9  of persons irrespective of their age or formal or

         10  informal structure that have designated leaders and

         11  members and that engages in or is expected of

         12  engaging in unlawful conduct.

         13                 In measuring the level of gang crime

         14  in the City, the Police Department breaks down gang

         15  crime into two separate categories: gang-related

         16  crime and gang-motivated crime.

         17                 Gang-related crime is any incident of

         18  unlawful conduct by a gang member or suspected gang

         19  member.

         20                 For example, if a gang member is

         21  arrested for theft of service jumping a turnstyle in

         22  the subway system, that is classified as a

         23  gang-related crime. In short, any incident involving

         24  unlawful conduct by a gang member is considered to

         25  be a gang-related crime.
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          2                 On the other hand, a subcategory is a

          3  gang-motivated crime, is any crime that is done

          4  primarily to (a) benefit or further the interest of

          5  the gang; or (b) as part of an initiation,

          6  membership right or act of allegiance to or support

          7  for a gang; or (c) as a result of a conflict or

          8  fight between gang members of the same or different

          9  gangs.

         10                 It has been my experience that the

         11  gang motivated crime serves as the more accurate

         12  barometer of gang criminal activity. It should be

         13  quite clear that the goal of the New York City

         14  Police Department is to reduce all gang crime.

         15                 Thankfully, we are not alone. The

         16  Gang Investigation Division continues to work

         17  closely with our own Division of School Safety, for

         18  experience has shown us that schools are sometimes

         19  fertile breeding grounds for the future gang

         20  members.

         21                 In addition, we maintain a very close

         22  working relationship with the New York City

         23  Department of Correction. For once again, experience

         24  has shown us that individuals often join gangs while

         25  they are incarcerated, and once they are released
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          2  from prison, they have a tendency to continue their

          3  gang affiliation activities outside.

          4                 Consequently, we value our

          5  relationship with the Department of Corrections.

          6                 In terms of the gangs, the work of

          7  the New York City Police Department is far from

          8  over. In fact, we have just begun. But we are

          9  confident that with the help of the City Council,

         10  the state legislature, the courts, the district

         11  attorneys, as well as a host of other City, state

         12  and federal agencies, we can move toward reducing

         13  gang crime and consequently further reduce crime

         14  overall.

         15                 Again, I thank you for the

         16  opportunity to be here today, and at this time I

         17  will take any questions that you may have.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Before we

         19  proceed, we have also been joined by Council Member

         20  Annette Robinson, who is the Chair of our Juvenile

         21  Justice Committee.

         22                 MR. WAGENSTEIN: Mr. Chairman, members

         23  of the Committee, Council members, my name is Robert

         24  Wagenstein, I am the Chief of Security for the New

         25  York City Department of Correction. Thank you for
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          2  the opportunity to address today's hearing on youth

          3  gangs and the impact of gang violence in New York

          4  City.

          5                 Commissioner Bernard Kerik, who

          6  regrets that he is unable to be here, has asked that

          7  I update you on the Department of Correction's

          8  current efforts in monitoring and combatting the

          9  influence of youth gangs. Joining me today are

         10  Deputy Commissioner for Strategic Planning and

         11  Programs, Roger Jefferies, Assistant Commissioner

         12  for Program Management and Development, Lisa

         13  McLeash, and Assistant Deputy Warden, Emmanuel

         14  Bailey, Executive Officer of the Department's Gang

         15  Intelligence Unit.

         16                 I would like to first give you some

         17  brief background on the Department and then outline

         18  the efforts we are making with regard to monitoring

         19  gangs and combatting youth gang activity.

         20                 The Department of Correction

         21  currently houses approximately 16,500 inmates in its

         22  custody. We maintain 16 facilities, two of which are

         23  currently closed, including ten facilities on

         24  Riker's Island, plus facilities in four of the five

         25  boroughs.
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          2                 The Department also maintains

          3  holding, court holding pens, hospital prison wards,

          4  and other facilities.

          5                 Our system is primarily a pretrial

          6  detention system. We mainly house inmates whose

          7  cases are being adjudicated by the courts. We

          8  maintain one facility for City sentenced inmates,

          9  which houses male inmates who have been convicted

         10  and sentenced to no more than one year.

         11                 Inmates sentenced to anything beyond

         12  one year will serve their time in the state prison.

         13  We also house some inmates who are waiting to be

         14  transported to state facilities. The Department of

         15  Correction is strongly committed to ensuring the

         16  safety of both staff and inmates within the

         17  facilities we operate.

         18                 For this reason the Department has

         19  undertaken its comprehensive violence reduction

         20  initiative, the goal of which is to reduce violence

         21  both among inmates and against staff.

         22                 Through this initiative the

         23  Department has under the direction of the Mayor

         24  achieved a 90 percent reduction in the number of

         25  stabbing and slashing incidents within the jails
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          2  from Fiscal Year 1995 to Fiscal Year 1998. From

          3  averaging as many as 120 to 150 stabbings and

          4  slashings per month throughout the Department in

          5  1990, the Department has reduced the number to an

          6  average of six to eight such incidents per month

          7  systemwide today.

          8                 This is particularly an astonishing

          9  reduction when you consider that it occurred during

         10  a time of steady increases in the total admissions

         11  of inmates into our system.

         12                 The key components of this violence

         13  reduction initiative is a vigorous new department

         14  rearrest policy that for the first time got serious

         15  about stabbing and slashing offenses committed by

         16  inmates within the system.

         17                 Amazingly, prior to the current

         18  administration it was rare occasion that inmates

         19  were arrested and prosecuted for crimes committed

         20  within the jail.

         21                 Today inmates who commit crimes are

         22  quickly arrested. The Department works closely with

         23  prosecutors to see that these cases are vigorously

         24  pursued and that inmates receive consecutive rather

         25  than concurrent sentences for crimes committed while
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          2  they are incarcerated.

          3                 The number of facility searches, both

          4  random and scheduled, were also greatly increased.

          5  Security technology was upgraded and new improved

          6  equipment was required.

          7                 The Department initiated a new

          8  management process called TEAMS, Total Efficiency

          9  Accountability and Management System, that created a

         10  new level of accountability across every level of

         11  the agency.

         12                 For the first time, jail managers had

         13  real-time inmate violence data to work with. Violent

         14  incidents that previously might not have been

         15  addressed for several months are now being looked at

         16  the same day.

         17                 The TEAMS system, through its monthly

         18  meetings, served as an effective method of

         19  identifying potential trouble spots and promoting

         20  the best jail managers within the Department.

         21                 Each of these factors has enabled the

         22  Department to better manage the jails and to

         23  dramatically reduce the overall level of violence

         24  within the facilities, not just among the general

         25  population, but also among the youth gang members
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          2  whom we refer to in our system as Security Risk

          3  Group or SRG members.

          4                 The Department employes this

          5  terminology when referring to what are commonly

          6  called youth gangs or street gangs because the

          7  Security Risk Group member, in contrast to general

          8  population inmates, who are affiliated with other

          9  inmates, qualifies as an intrinsic risk to the

         10  safety of other inmates, the facility staff and to

         11  the correctional institution itself.

         12                 The increasing prevalence of youth

         13  gang violence and its impact to communities both

         14  large and small has been well documented by

         15  researchers.

         16                 A recent National Institute of

         17  Justice Survey indicates that in addition to

         18  three-quarters of the large cities which report

         19  gang-related activity, one-quarter of rural counties

         20  report such activity as well, over the last several

         21  years.

         22                 According to a recent police magazine

         23  report, 95 percent of the large cities and 88

         24  percent of small cities in the nation have reported

         25  an increase in gang-related crimes. Out of the
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          2  Department's total population we currently classify

          3  2,121 inmates or approximately 13 percent of our

          4  total population as security group members.

          5                 Of that total, 198 adolescents are

          6  classified as SRG members out of a total of 1,146

          7  adolescents in the system.

          8                 The Department currently tracks

          9  inmates from 57 different security risk groups, the

         10  largest of which are The Bloods, The Latin Kings and

         11  the Netas organizations.

         12                 Of the prime reasons why the

         13  Department has achieved such unprecedented

         14  reductions in the levels of violence was the

         15  introduction of the Department's Gang Intelligence

         16  Unit, or GIU, whose Executive Officer, Assistant

         17  Deputy Warden Emmanuel Bailey, as I mentioned, is

         18  here with me today, and will be available to answer

         19  any questions you might have about the unit.

         20                 Begun in 1996 as a Task Force, the

         21  GIU has developed into the Department's main

         22  preventative means against violence within

         23  facilities.

         24                 The Gang Intelligence Unit has

         25  several functions including the tracking and
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          2  monitoring of SRG inmates within the system;

          3  arresting both inmates who commit crimes while in

          4  our custody, as well as visitors acting as

          5  accomplices to crimes; and gathering and sharing

          6  information with other law enforcement organizations

          7  in order to assist in combating youth gang violence

          8  outside the confines of our custody.

          9                 The Gang Intelligence Unit has

         10  established close working and information-gathering

         11  relationships with major law enforcement agencies

         12  throughout the nation.

         13                 By maintaining a highly-detailed

         14  computer database, the Gang Intelligence Unit

         15  currently tracks the names and pertinent case facts

         16  of more than 13,000 individuals.

         17                 This is information the GIU gathers

         18  for Department's use and shares with other law

         19  enforcement agencies. Among them are the Federal

         20  Bureau Investigation, the Drug Enforcement

         21  Administration, the federal High Intensity Drug

         22  Trafficking Area Program, the NYPD City-wide

         23  Anti-Gang Enforcement Unit, CAGE, and the United

         24  States Attorney for Southern District of New York,

         25  to name just a few.
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          2                 Correction Officers from the Gang

          3  Intelligence Unit have been assigned to several law

          4  enforcement agencies in order to lend their wealth

          5  of experience in tracking security risk group

          6  members in interagency efforts at fighting criminal

          7  gang activity.

          8                 As experts in de-coding the language

          9  and subculture which Security Risk Group members use

         10  to disguise their activities from law enforcement

         11  agencies, GIU officers have often provided crucial

         12  information needed to prosecute gang members for

         13  their criminal activity.

         14                 Institutional inmate incentive and

         15  reward programs within the facilities have also

         16  allowed the Department to dramatically reduce the

         17  prevalence of violence among inmates.

         18                 In keeping with the concept of

         19  prevention as the best medicine, the Department has

         20  also instituted community efforts to reach at-risk

         21  youth as a preventive measure against incarceration.

         22                 The Reducing Adolescent Problems or

         23  RAP Program has interacted with more than 30,000

         24  during Fiscal Year 1999 alone, both through

         25  correctional facility tours for groups of youths and
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          2  by sending RAP unit Correction Officers into the

          3  community with a positive message about their

          4  future.

          5                 With the RAP unit, the Department

          6  attempts to impart a dose of reality about where

          7  criminal activity leads, and to counteract the false

          8  lure which youth gangs hold for some adolescents.

          9                 In schools, youth groups and

         10  community meetings RAP brings its outreach about the

         11  real consequences of crime with the aim of reaching

         12  youth before choices have already been made for

         13  them.

         14                 Also, as part of our efforts at

         15  offering positive alternatives to young people, the

         16  Department has founded two Posts of the Explorer's

         17  organization of the Boy Scouts of America.

         18                 The Explorer's organization of the

         19  Boy Scouts, open to both male and female

         20  adolescents, actively involved youth in learning the

         21  skills that are required in professional law

         22  enforcement.

         23                 Through the Explorer's Posts, the

         24  Department helps young people channel their energies

         25  in positive directions through learning leadership
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          2  and training skills in an encouraging environment.

          3                 In keeping with our track record of

          4  initiating new approaches to problems, the

          5  Department of Correction was the first correctional

          6  system in the nation to found such a Post with the

          7  Explorer's organization of the Boy Scouts.

          8                 Through all of these efforts, the

          9  Department of Correction remains committed to

         10  tracking gang-related in our custody, as well as to

         11  combating the influence of gangs outside our system.

         12  Today, youth gangs have increased their appeal for

         13  some members of the community. That is why the

         14  Department is more firmly committed than ever to

         15  fighting their influence.

         16                 With a strong presence in the

         17  community, a message to youth designed to unmask a

         18  false promise of gangs, and restrengthened efforts

         19  at making gang violence within our system totally

         20  unacceptable, we continue to move forward.

         21                 With extensive interagency

         22  coordination, the Department is only more committed

         23  today to renewing its efforts in combatting

         24  gang-related activity.

         25                 Thank you for the opportunity to
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          2  address the Committee today. I will be happy to

          3  answer any questions you might have.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: How extensive is

          5  gang activity in New York City today?

          6                 Deputy Inspector, I think you

          7  testified earlier in the year that we were up to

          8  about 11,000 identified gang members, that seems to

          9  be an increase of 2,000 in just a year over what the

         10  Police Department was reporting at the end of 1998.

         11  And specifically, if you can address the question of

         12  how many of those gang members are under the age of

         13  21 or under the age of 18, since we want to

         14  particularly focus on young people at today's

         15  hearing?

         16                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: I think what

         17  we first have to realize is prior to 1997 the

         18  Department really never actually tracked the

         19  identified gang members or suspected gang members.

         20                 So at that time, a number of

         21  resources were used to identify gang members, and it

         22  came from a myriad of places - from NYPD, from

         23  Corrections of people incarcerated, from outside

         24  agencies, even outside counties such as Suffolk and

         25  Nassau, and a lot of historical members were put in
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          2  a database. So, I don't think the 11,000 is a true,

          3  it is really an intelligence database.

          4                 For instance, in 1998 we tracked, and

          5  again, some of this is historical because it takes

          6  awhile to get the information and identify it along

          7  with making our arrest, maybe about 8,000. This year

          8  we have only tracked about 2,000 to about 2,500. So

          9  it seems that gang membership is starting to subside

         10  somewhat in identification. We are getting a lot of

         11  repeat offenders and a lot of crimes solved quickly,

         12  and it seems to be the same people.

         13                 So, the 11,000 number has to be

         14  looked at a little more carefully as to what that

         15  really means. Certainly the presence of gangs is in

         16  New York City and over the last two years I think

         17  the Department has done a really great job in

         18  working with other agencies and identifying the

         19  problem.

         20                 As far as the age categories go. It

         21  is interesting, less than 16 years old, and if you

         22  want to go with that 11,000 number, it only makes up

         23  five percent of the membership.

         24                 Our real core problem is over 18. It

         25  is almost 75 percent of the members that we believe
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          2  are involved in gang activity, from 18 and above is

          3  about 75 percent, 18 to 24 is about 45 percent, 44

          4  percent. That is pretty much how it sizes up.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Council Member

          6  Clarke.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you very

          8  much. I just would like to say to all of you who

          9  have different parts of this, whether there are

         10  intensive efforts to prevent young people from the

         11  coming gang members, and if you have a strategy,

         12  what is it and how do we know where it is so that

         13  for those of us who want to work diligently with

         14  young people in the community knows where those

         15  efforts are.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JIMENEZ: Sure. I

         17  talked earlier about the GREAT Program which is a

         18  program, a Gang Resistance Education and Training

         19  Program basically developed its core curriculum as a

         20  curriculum that teaches youngsters in middle schools

         21  again how to resist the pressures in becoming

         22  involved in gang-related activity.

         23                 We are looking to expand that

         24  program, not only in after school and during the

         25  summer program, but we are also looking to expand

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            66

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  the curriculum and we have already done so for

          3  younger children in the third and fourth grade,

          4  fifth and sixth grade, but we will also look to

          5  reinforce that curriculum and try to expand it to

          6  other middle schools as well as some of the high

          7  schools.

          8                 Some might say why are we not in the

          9  high schools, in stead of being in the middle

         10  schools. Many studies have shown and have indicated

         11  that the age in which we target, particularly many

         12  of our gang-related programs, really should be at

         13  youngsters in grades seven to eight, that is where

         14  we need to sort of really reinforce some of the

         15  messages that have been carried about, particularly

         16  for the younger students in some of our drug

         17  prevention programs, like the DARE Program, whose

         18  core curriculum is in the fifth and sixth grade. So,

         19  what we are trying to do is reinforce reduction of

         20  involvement in any sort of youth violence activity,

         21  that includes drugs, that includes gang, that

         22  includes guns, and to try to see. And I think that

         23  some encouraging numbers that I had mentioned

         24  earlier is in fact the decrease that we had seen

         25  between 1994 of juveniles arrested, juveniles
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          2  between the ages of seven and 15, between 1994 and

          3  1998, has gone down to nearly 20 percent.

          4                 We have also seen and read some of

          5  the statistics nationwide that also seem to be very

          6  encouraging in telling us that overall youth

          7  violence is down, whether that violence is

          8  gang-related or drug related or other type of

          9  violence-related, it is going down nationwide and

         10  certainly we are seeing that trend here in the City.

         11  So there are some encouraging numbers for us but

         12  clearly a lot of work still needs to be done.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: If you can

         14  describe for us your Gang Intelligence Unit and the

         15  work that it does so that we can get a sense of what

         16  you do, how you do it, and then let us know whether

         17  you think it is doing a good job, whether you think

         18  there are ways in which it can be improved,

         19  including giving us a picture of how do you work,

         20  let's say, with the Department of Juvenile Justice,

         21  where there are a lot of young people whom I am sure

         22  when they leave may end up -- you know, unless there

         23  is really good coordination; just describe that for

         24  us, please.

         25                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: Sure.
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          2  Basically in 1997, the Gang Intelligence Unit was

          3  really created and expanded. It was at that point

          4  that we really hadn't tracked gang members, actually

          5  the crime that contributed to gang members. And over

          6  that time, naturally a lot of improvement has been

          7  done, manpower-wise and all.

          8                 The gang intelligence currently

          9  today, under the Intelligence Division, has

         10  comprised about 35 people, including supervisors. It

         11  was realized that during 1998 we had various units

         12  throughout the Department interested in gang

         13  activity, you had uniformed people, you had the CAGE

         14  Unit from Street Crime, you had some narcotics

         15  people, as well as detectives. And in July the

         16  Commissioner mandated that we become centralized, so

         17  they created a Gang Investigation Division. It is

         18  separate from the Gang Intel Unit.

         19                 The Gang Intel Unit's basic mission

         20  is to track the crimes.

         21                 They respond to all gang arrests and

         22  gang coincidence to gauge what is gang motivated and

         23  that is what I was trying to explain earlier.

         24                 The Gang Investigation Division, of

         25  which I am the commanding officer, has six borough
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          2  units operating throughout the City. Approximately

          3  30 to 35 members in each, roughly about 224 members

          4  total, including supervisors.

          5                 That being said, we work very

          6  closely, it is just not us doing gangs. The Patrol

          7  Force is involved, the School Safety Division is

          8  involved, Juvenile Crime Squad and a myriad of other

          9  people always within the Department interacting and

         10  coordinating. And outside of that we are very

         11  involved with the Department of Corrections.

         12                 We formulated a partnership, early

         13  stages of when the Gang Intel Unit was created,

         14  because we realized that a large percentage of gang

         15  activity and recruitment happens in a prison

         16  population.

         17                 As a matter of fact, when we started

         18  the unit, Commissioner Kerik sent over two

         19  Correction Officers that work actually in-house with

         20  our Gang Intel Unit, which is very important.

         21                 They gave us an indication of when

         22  identified gang members are leaving, as well as we

         23  give them an idea of when they are coming into

         24  Rikers and that has been a huge success in both

         25  their situation and ours, and then we also naturally
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          2  work very closely with the local prosecutors, each

          3  DA's office has a particular gang unit, as DA Hynes

          4  had acknowledged before, as well as working with the

          5  federal agencies and we have some active

          6  investigations with ATF, with the FBI, they have

          7  their own violent gang squad, and if the local

          8  prosecutors wish to hand over a case that might be

          9  better prosecuted in the federal system, we attempt

         10  to do that. That gives you an idea of what is

         11  involved as far as the set up of the division.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: And then my

         13  final question is, especially for a young persons

         14  who is probably first entering or being encouraged

         15  to join a gang and you identify them, is there any

         16  intervention for family awareness that your young

         17  person may be heading the wrong way, and if so, who

         18  does that and how does that occur?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JIMENEZ: That is

         20  something we have been looking at, and we have

         21  actually been having meetings with the Board of

         22  Education to develop a program that would allow us

         23  to identify what we would call youth at risk of

         24  becoming involved in gang activity. And risk factors

         25  can range anywhere from truancy, problems at the
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          2  home, you know, already some sort of involvement

          3  with some known gang activity.

          4                 We have not finalized the program

          5  because the idea would be to make referrals to

          6  identify these youngsters to see what is happening

          7  in school, what is happening at the home, and

          8  provide them with the resources they need. How we

          9  identify the youngsters and how we mandate that they

         10  enter the programs. Many of these programs that have

         11  already been developed on a voluntary nature is

         12  something that we are discussing as we speak.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Council Member

         17  Stabile.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: I will start

         19  off my first round of questions just to ask, do we

         20  have anyone here from school safety, officers? Do we

         21  have any school safety officers here? Anyone

         22  representing the Board of Education? We do, okay.

         23                 What community-based organizations do

         24  we contact? Do we contact community boards? Do we

         25  contact different civic groups? Do we reach out to
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          2  these groups at all to let them know what is going

          3  on?

          4                 Now, I remember back in 1993 the New

          5  York Times wrote an article that our prisons were

          6  out of control, and that the prisoners control the

          7  prisons, not our security and our guards and our

          8  officers that are there. I think that has turned

          9  around drastically where we have not only the

         10  control but we know what is going on. But I am just

         11  curious, how do we reach out to the community-based

         12  organizations that are out there?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER McLEASH: (Not

         14  identified for the record.) In terms of just

         15  informing them about the activity?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Yes. In other

         17  words, do we reach out to a community board? See, I

         18  represent Howard Beach, Ozone Park, South Ozone

         19  Park, Richmond Hill, do we reach out to a community

         20  organization in the Rockaways? Saying we know of

         21  activity in your area, be aware of certain types of

         22  graffiti, you know, things like this.

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER McLEASH: Part

         24  of the program that we are looking at, because we

         25  really want to develop and try to pilot something
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          2  that is very comprehensive, would be to see how some

          3  of these organizations that you are talking about,

          4  including for information sharing purposes, could

          5  assist in the youth at risk programs.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Because I

          7  believe they really can.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER McLEASH: Yes,

          9  they can.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: You know,

         11  when you mention the Eagle Scouts and Explorers and

         12  all of these, I keep thinking in my mind, I cannot

         13  believe in reality most of the young men who worked

         14  there way from Cubscouts or the young ladies

         15  probably never thought of joining a gang or ever had

         16  any activity with a gang, so I don't believe we are

         17  hitting the right group at some point.

         18                 The other question I want to ask you;

         19  have we tracked any of the street gang activities

         20  with organized crime, such as other sources of

         21  organized crime? Do you remember several years ago

         22  the Westies were recruited by the organized crime

         23  families to do a lot of their killings and

         24  everything else; has organized crime recruited any

         25  of these young to do some of their bidding out
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          2  there? Now, I am leaning towards car theft.

          3                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: Okay, as far

          4  as I know, and I have been doing this for three

          5  years, we haven't seen any nexus between the street

          6  gangs and, if you are referring to La Caza Notious

          7  people, absolutely not. I mean I view some of the

          8  gang activity as organized crime, but in reality I

          9  have never seen any connections to it, I am not

         10  aware of any.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Okay, that's

         12  good.

         13                 My other question deals with the

         14  Department of Corrections, and I believe as well as

         15  our Police Department, Department of Correction does

         16  a great job.

         17                 I think the biggest thing we don't

         18  want to get them to that point if they have to go to

         19  prison. We would like to try to stop them before

         20  they go to prison and try to head off some of the

         21  problems when they are adolescents, and I agree with

         22  the Commissioner about starting at a young age at

         23  educating them.

         24                 In our prisons, besides when they

         25  wear their beads, or they wear their certain -- at
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          2  that point that is your first sign that that person

          3  is a gang member. Is he wearing it for protection

          4  purposes? Is he like leave me alone now, I am part

          5  of the Netas or I am part of this group?

          6                 MR. BAILEY: (Not identified for the

          7  record.) At this point beads and bandanas is

          8  basically a contraband in our system, we don't have

          9  it at all. And that gave us a big impact on that

         10  group, because some of the individuals wearing the

         11  beads didn't want to wear them to begin with, all

         12  right? So, it took that ability to walk away from

         13  that. So we don't see that. What we do see are

         14  tatoos. Hand signs. We don't have graffiti either.

         15  We outlawed graffiti. We don't see that writing on

         16  the walls anywhere, all right? But you still have

         17  the hand sign, you still have the code words being

         18  floated inside as well as outside.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Okay, on that

         20  note now, I am going to go back to my youth. There

         21  was a gang many years ago who used to wear a

         22  crucifix, a sign of the cross on their right hand,

         23  okay? It was the right hand, that was the hand they

         24  shook with, that was a sign, it was a gang called

         25  The Things, that was very prominent in Queens years
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          2  ago.

          3                 When they went to prison, okay at

          4  that point they recruited from prison. Rikers Island

          5  was one of the main recruiting, most of their

          6  networking was done during the prison system and

          7  they dealt with other groups in prison.

          8                 When we, as New York City

          9  Corrections, finds out that we have John Doe who is

         10  not only a member but a high ranking member, what do

         11  we do with him? How do we try to hold him? What do

         12  we do with him? I am being very honest, how do we

         13  just grab --

         14                 MR. BAILEY: A lot changed. For one,

         15  we don't let them group up for more than five now.

         16  So the times when they used to be able to talk to 20

         17  people at one time no longer exists anymore.

         18                 Yes, we track them, we house them all

         19  together with different SRGs, we track more than 57

         20  different SRGs which is a/k/a gangs. They do have a

         21  lot of body tatoos that cite what group they belong

         22  to. For the most part, the Chief said earlier, we

         23  went from 150 slashings to seven a month. Down by 90

         24  percent. Arrests went up by 379 percent. It is not

         25  attractive to be part of an SRG group in the
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          2  facilities at this time.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: In other

          4  words, we put enough pressure on them that we know

          5  --

          6                 MR. BAILEY: A lot of pressure. And we

          7  have a lot of help from a lot of different agencies.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Thank you

          9  very much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Council Member

         11  Perkins.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you,

         13  Mr. Chairman, and to the panel.

         14                 Let me commend I guess you for

         15  whatever success you are experiencing in the

         16  prisons, because I know that that several years ago

         17  was a major problem, and many innocent people were

         18  victimized, as well as those who were

         19  gang-affiliated.

         20                 You know, you read every day about

         21  this robust economy nationally, as well as in the

         22  City, and we read about these crime statistics that

         23  are plummeting nationally and even more so in the

         24  City. Yet, at the same time we are seeing record

         25  growth in the number of street gangs amongst young
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          2  people especially, not only in the number in general

          3  but also in the types of street gangs. We are seeing

          4  street gangs defined as The Bloods, the Crypts, now

          5  you point out in terms of girls that are evolving

          6  street gangs; how do you account for that? How do

          7  you understand that? Your unit to some extent has

          8  tried to explain some of the social reasons behind

          9  it, maybe you can give us some kind of understanding

         10  about that?

         11                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: Well, I

         12  think the first thing we have to point out is, going

         13  back again, the Department really never kept

         14  accurate measurement of identification. Just before

         15  we are identifying more doesn't necessarily mean

         16  that we are having record-breaking numbers and

         17  increases in gang members.

         18                 If you look at other large cities,

         19  without going to the cities, they might have about

         20  five to six times as many gang members as we have.

         21  That is one thing to keep in mind.

         22                 The females overall, it falls under

         23  about eight percent of what we have identified, so

         24  it is not an alarming number, and I really don't

         25  know of too many gangs that actually have an all
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          2  female gang situation. I mean the Latin Kings have

          3  Latin Queens, but they are still very much involved

          4  in the male court.

          5                 There is really, to my knowledge, no

          6  violent female gangs out there existing.

          7  Nevertheless, there are female gang members

          8  committing some violent crimes.

          9                 So, I really think it is a

         10  combination of awareness that it has taken time for

         11  the entire Police Department to realize from

         12  identification, colors, graffiti, hand signals, as

         13  well as at time of arrest asking them if they are a

         14  gang member, and a lot of them admit to it and that

         15  is really how we have been able to be successful

         16  with it.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I don't want

         18  to draw too much on this, but the gang, particularly

         19  the female gang that I have just learned about, I

         20  have heard of the other ones, but it is Bitches

         21  Going Crazy, you know, it just seems to me like it

         22  is a new type of thing out of Queens. So, I just was

         23  wondering if you have seen more of those types of

         24  young female gangs?

         25                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: That segment
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          2  is somehow, in our opinion somehow related to The

          3  Bloods, they kind of changed their name, you know,

          4  sometimes they call it Money Over Bitches. I don't

          5  see an increase in a lot of -- some people might

          6  just get away from The Bloods name, might just call

          7  themselves a different name.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

          9                 Are you suggesting that gang activity

         10  is increasing or decreasing?

         11                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: Over the

         12  last two years it probably increased somewhat. But

         13  again, we really never had any good statistics.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: No, I

         15  understand that. I appreciate that. But I think it

         16  is important for us to know where we are heading

         17  with this problem? Are we heading up, or are we

         18  heading down? Are we seeing more female gangs? Are

         19  we seeing just divisions of so-called traditional

         20  gangs? Do you understand what I am saying?

         21                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: Yes. I

         22  believe, I think it is a division of the current

         23  structure. I don't think we are seeing a lot more

         24  female gangs. And identification, again, increases

         25  the membership.
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          2                 The good news is last year around

          3  school time, and that is really the focus here. You

          4  know, we have to reach out to those 15- and

          5  14-year-olds.  Gang activity in September over the

          6  school year in '98 was dramatically increasing, and

          7  this year, with the formulation of the Gang

          8  Investigation Division, along with us and School

          9  Safety Division coming into the Police Department,

         10  working with the Board of Education, I can happily

         11  say that the gang activity in September and October

         12  this year versus last year, it is down dramatically,

         13  gang motivated, and that is a good sign. By far we

         14  are not finished in our problem, but --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, let me

         16  just ask one final question. The gangs are sort of,

         17  you know, you have the African-American gangs, you

         18  the Latino gangs, you have a white gang called The

         19  Master Race. Now, is that gang -- what is that all

         20  about, do you know? It is called The Master Race.

         21  Are you familiar with that gang?

         22                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: Is that a

         23  hate group?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I don't know.

         25  That is why I am asking you. I don't know --
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          2                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: It is not a

          3  street gang that I know of.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: It is not a

          5  gang that you are familiar with, okay.

          6                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: Not a street

          7  gang, no.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Council Member

         10  Quinn.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         12                 I have a couple of questions.

         13                 Commissioner, I wanted to ask what

         14  the staffing levels are in the unit that is under

         15  you?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JIMENEZ: With

         17  regards to the Youth Division we have a total of 135

         18  officers, 110 of which are involved in going into

         19  schools and providing the curriculum, teaching the

         20  curriculum, the DARE curriculum. Of those 110 we

         21  have certified, because they have to be trained to

         22  deliver the GREAT curriculum, with is the Gang

         23  Resistance curriculum, to 38 officers, and we are

         24  looking to increase that number.

         25                 We also have 186 youth officers
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          2  throughout the precinct in the City, which is on the

          3  patrol surfaces.

          4                 So the numbers of resources in terms

          5  of personnel dedicated to addressing youth violence

          6  in combination between youth officers and patrol

          7  school safety for 3,000 school safety officers,

          8  youth officers and the youth division has certainly

          9  increased quite dramatically from 1994 to the

         10  present.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I am sorry, I

         12  don't remember your name.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JIMENEZ:

         14  Inspector McCool.

         15                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: I am

         16  Inspector McCool.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Sorry,

         18  Inspector.

         19                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: It's okay.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: You had said

         21  that there was only about five percent, was the

         22  guesstimate, of gang members were 16 and under?

         23                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: Actually

         24  less than 16, so it would be 15 and under.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Oh, okay.
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          2                 Given that number, a lot of what you

          3  described as your outreach and your prevention seems

          4  focused around schools and high schools. So, I had

          5  two thoughts on that; one, which is somewhat what

          6  Council Member Stabile said seems like you may be

          7  missing some of the kids who are more at risk or

          8  even already in trouble because they may not be in

          9  school, but also if a lot of the people involved in

         10  gangs are older than typical high school age, how

         11  are you, you know, reaching them?

         12                 I understand the idea of prevention

         13  when kids are earlier, to prevent them from getting

         14  in the gang, but I would think there would be work

         15  that could be done to get people out. And also I am

         16  concerned, since a lot of it is school based, how

         17  you are reaching kids who aren't in school that

         18  aren't at the rec center, do you know what I mean?

         19  Or involved with other organized groups that are not

         20  gangs, you know?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JIMENEZ: I think

         22  that is the challenge in coming up with a program,

         23  which as I mentioned earlier we are currently

         24  working on with the Board of Education to try to

         25  identify those youth at risk, and one of those
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          2  factors, one of those risk factors we know is in

          3  fact truancy. So, you know, these kids are not in

          4  school, where are they? And trying to identify where

          5  they are, trying to then go to not only the centers

          6  when we are able to retrieve them, if you will, but

          7  try to see how we can do greater outreach to them,

          8  regardless of what age they are. I think that is a

          9  different type of program. The ones that I talked

         10  about earlier were in fact aimed at prevention,

         11  which is why the younger youth, but those who might

         12  already be involved in some criminal-related

         13  activity or gang-related activity clearly need much

         14  more help and assistance, which is why we are trying

         15  to develop something that we can coordinate and work

         16  with various city agencies, you know, juvenile

         17  justice, social services, to identify problems that

         18  go beyond what we might just see initially. And I

         19  think that will be a real challenge. And also

         20  developing, if you will, a program that addresses

         21  that, you know, how do you then carry the message to

         22  the youngsters who are already involved in that

         23  activity.

         24                 But I don't want to lose sight of the

         25  fact that when we do talk about juveniles and we do
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          2  talk about involvement and gang activity, that what

          3  we are seeing in terms of juveniles involved in

          4  overall criminal activity is that that activity is

          5  in fact down.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Will you be

          7  able to send information to the Committee, inasmuch

          8  as we might not have another hearing, about the

          9  initiatives that you are developing to reach kids

         10  outside of school, because it would be useful for

         11  the Committee to know what it is, since it seems

         12  like that is on your horizon.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JIMENEZ:

         14  Absolutely.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: The last thing

         16  is more of just a comment. A lot of what you all

         17  mentioned in some of your work, it seems to center

         18  around the Boyscouts and the Explorer's Club and I

         19  just kind of wanted to make a statement so everyone

         20  knew that the Police Department's interaction with

         21  the Boyscouts and the Explorer's Club is something

         22  that has been questioned by the Lesbian and Gay

         23  Community in the City, has been discussed a great

         24  deal with Commissioner Kelahur and others.

         25                 There was a recent decision in New
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          2  Jersey, so I would, given that decision and given

          3  the exlusionary attitude of the Boyscouts, encourage

          4  you to find additional groups to work with, because

          5  I assume that it is more than likely that the

          6  Department will not be able to continue their

          7  connection with the Explorer's Club, given the

          8  City's human rights law and the recent decision in

          9  New Jersey.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JIMENEZ: I should

         11  also clarify that when we do the outreach for the

         12  Explorer Program, both in terms of the recruitment,

         13  and if you will, just the outreach to the youngsters

         14  themselves in the program, that is done by police

         15  officers, it is all done by the Police Department.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JEFFRIES: Council

         17  Member, I would like to state for the record, if I

         18  could --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: State your name

         20  for the record.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JEFFERIES: My

         22  name is Robert Jefferies, I am Deputy Commissioner

         23  at the Department of Correction.

         24                 We have a program in Correction that

         25  we are actually very excited about. It is a fairly
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          2  new initiative, started in March of '98 and it sort

          3  of goes to what Councilman Stabile and Councilwoman

          4  Clarke were asking about, as far as intervention

          5  efforts with younger kids.

          6                 We send Correction Officers out into

          7  the community to give, and they are specially

          8  trained and they are highly effective in

          9  presentations and working with young people, and

         10  they give an anti-gang, anti-drug, anti-violence

         11  message to the kids, and then the presentation in

         12  the community is followed up by a tour on Rikers

         13  Island, and we make the consequences of their

         14  involvement in gangs very real to them. They are

         15  brought to Rikers, they tour a facility, they have

         16  interaction with inmates, their peers, older kids

         17  that tell them this is not the way to go.

         18                 It has been very effective. We have

         19  served over 33,000 kids in Fiscal '99 in that

         20  program, we are very excited about it.

         21                 We target schools, we get referrals

         22  from churches, from community groups and some other

         23  outside organizations, community organizations that

         24  might not necessarily be associated with schools

         25  that have a concern for the kids that they consider
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          2  at risk. And this is a program we are very excited

          3  about and we are eager to tell you about.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Great. Thank

          5  you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Council Member

          7  Boyland.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Thank you,

          9  Mr. Chair.

         10                 Just to elaborate on the question my

         11  colleague just asked. I don't think the answer was

         12  properly -- the question was properly answered in

         13  terms of, we understand that from K through Eight,

         14  the children in school, I think they used to have

         15  the Spector program and all of these other programs

         16  in the schools, they used to address those issues.

         17  Obviously the gang members are the children that are

         18  the young men and women that are not in the schools,

         19  they are not going into the high schools, they are

         20  outside all day, and I think the Police Department

         21  can attest that the truancy officers are picking

         22  them up now in the subways.

         23                 So, my question is, how are you

         24  addressing that? And last year I thought there was a

         25  program in collaboration with the Parks Department
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          2  where they had safe houses within the Parks

          3  Department that was working with the Police

          4  Department, and I haven't seen any of that this

          5  year. As I have gone through a whole summer of young

          6  people dying and gun violence and gangs intervention

          7  programs that were supposed to be initiated, but I

          8  have not seen anything that addressed those

          9  teenagers. We are talking about 15, 16, 17, 18 year

         10  olds that are not in the school system, that are not

         11  going to school, what are you doing in terms of

         12  those children?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JIMENEZ: I have

         14  been to Durley (phonetic), they were in fact looking

         15  at that issue, which is why we are trying to see

         16  what is the best way to identify the youth at risk,

         17  truancy certainly being one of those factors, not

         18  the only factor, but a very real factor because if

         19  they are not in school, we do have to see where they

         20  are and try to reach out to them and try to find

         21  systems that provide that type of support.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: When you say

         23  try, elaborate a little on that.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JIMENEZ: We are

         25  working with other City agencies, we are working

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            91

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  with the Board of Education. The Board of Education,

          3  there are issues that we are still working out in

          4  terms of how these referrals will be made, who will

          5  make the referrals, how youth will be identified.

          6  All of these issues that, you know, are valid

          7  concerns that the Board has we are certainly looking

          8  to make sure that we are able to address that so

          9  that we in fact capture the youngsters that you just

         10  talked about.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: I would be

         12  interested to see exactly the program, that there is

         13  a concrete program that I can probably refer some of

         14  my youth organizations to seek out before they get

         15  to the Correction's facility, Correctional

         16  facilities, where they are mandated or mandatory and

         17  they have to be involved in that.

         18                 In speaking to the Captain, I guess,

         19  of the Correction facilities, you said there are

         20  16,000 inmates and there are 16 facilities; how many

         21  facilities are dedicated to juveniles, or does that

         22  go through DJJ?

         23                 MR. WANGENSTEIN: Right now we have

         24  the sentence facility, C76; we have the adolescent

         25  detention center; and we have the Rose M. Singer
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          2  Center.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: So that is

          4  three.

          5                 And my last question I addressed to

          6  the District Attorney, but I will address the panel,

          7  is what are the most serious crimes committed by

          8  youth gangs? Is it drug-related; prostitution;

          9  assaults with firearms; homicide; property damage,

         10  et cetera? If you had to put that on the scale from

         11  one to ten, which one would be the highest, and how

         12  are you addressing that?

         13                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: Well,

         14  naturally I think the greatest concern is the

         15  homicide, you know, taking somebody's life,

         16  irregardless of how it is on a grand scheme of the

         17  index crimes, that is our greatest concern.

         18                 And probably the next one is robbery.

         19  There seems a tendency that robbery is a higher

         20  crime committed by the youth.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Thank you

         22  very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Council Member

         24  Cruz, and then we are going to hear Council Member

         25  Espada and then we have some young people and youth
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          2  workers, just so the Committee members know, and

          3  then we have some experts in that area that will be

          4  testifying as well.

          5                 Council Member Cruz.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ: Inspector, could

          7  you please tell me, you stated there are six

          8  boroughwide units --

          9                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: Yes, Ma'am.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ:-- Of the street

         11  activities. Where specifically are they?

         12                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: Each unit is

         13  housed in that particular borough. Obviously there

         14  is one in Manhattan, one in the Bronx, one in Staten

         15  Island, one in Queens, two in Brooklyn. We have

         16  Brooklyn South and Brooklyn North split up.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ: And that one

         18  borough center would be the nucleus for the entire

         19  borough, correct?

         20                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: Yes, as far

         21  as the Gang Investigation Division goes, that is the

         22  nucleus for the borough. We are in charge with

         23  investigating gang crime. And actually we work with

         24  the local precincts, the Detective Bureau, Narcotics

         25  Division and so forth.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            94

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ: Okay.

          3                 The other question that I had I

          4  forgot. I will remember it and I will come back.

          5                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: Okay.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Council Member

          7  Espada.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Yes, thank you

          9  so much.

         10                 I almost don't know where to start

         11  because I have so many different areas and

         12  locations.

         13                 I have no doubt that the intelligence

         14  that you all have on these gangs or groups or

         15  whatever we call them is extremely good, and it

         16  probably has the entire history of the gang, who are

         17  the heads and what positions everyone else has.

         18                 My question is, though, why does it

         19  seem, especially from a community perspective, that

         20  those folks that we know are in the hierarchy and

         21  the leadership of the group, never seem to end up

         22  going to jail, whereas the young folks who are

         23  dealing drugs or who are being put out there to

         24  commit the crime, things of that nature, are so

         25  often the ones that are caught? When I am sure you
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          2  know, and the community definitely knows, the exact

          3  times when those head figures are there dropping

          4  drugs off in the morning, picking money up in the

          5  evening, getting large shipments from out of state,

          6  all of those other things, why is it that we never

          7  seem to be able to get the hierarchy?

          8                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: I would have

          9  to take a little bit of exception there. I know of

         10  several cases in the last two years where we exactly

         11  have done that. Without going into great detail and

         12  obviously it's public record, the Latin Kings on two

         13  separate occasions over the last four years, were a

         14  very violent street gang, homicides, drug dealing

         15  and all their members in the hierarchy are

         16  incarcerated, the main leader is in for life in

         17  prison. That was a joint case that started with the

         18  NYPD, and branched out through cooperation with the

         19  FBI and we hit them very good.

         20                 Prior to that, they had another

         21  leader in his organization, so it is not to say that

         22  people like to step in, but that is just one

         23  example, and I can name many where the heads,

         24  whether it be the head of ten or 12, have been

         25  targeted. Sometimes it can't happen overnight, it
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          2  takes various investigative methods. And if you

          3  think about it, it is probably why we just created

          4  the Gang Investigation Division, because we are

          5  going to go at it even a little stronger to attack

          6  those people.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Well, I mean I

          8  know for a fact that in Councilwoman Cruz' district

          9  and my own, that the industry is thriving and well

         10  in the gang businesses, had the same leadership for

         11  six, eight years, and the only people that have been

         12  changing that have been their own people within

         13  their groups that have been killing off the leaders.

         14                 And that is something that I think

         15  requires some of that community input to know a

         16  little bit more about.

         17                 But you spoke about the Intelligence

         18  Group, has there ever been a Gang Intelligence Group

         19  before in the history of the Police Department?

         20                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: Yes. But it

         21  was very resourced at a minimum of maybe five

         22  people. Obviously that is why we increased it, to

         23  get around the City and see what was going on. I was

         24  basically in operation, I work Monday to Friday,

         25  daytimes, and since then, in the last two years we
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          2  have aggressively expanded it, and as a result I

          3  believe we are really on target in what is happening

          4  out there.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: So, the group

          6  of five you are saying was in existence, and how

          7  long ago was that started, do you know? There was

          8  never a big Gang Investigative Unit in the seventies

          9  or early eighties?

         10                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: Oh, I am

         11  just differentiating because maybe I don't

         12  understand your question, but the Gang Intelligence

         13  Unit was in existence prior to 1997, with a minimal

         14  amount of resources.

         15                 The Gang Investigation Division,

         16  which just was created, and put into the Organized

         17  Crime Control Bureau never existed.

         18                 Now, under the Organized Control

         19  Bureau there is four divisions - the Narcotics

         20  Division, the Auto Crime Division, the Vice

         21  Enforcement, and the newly created Gang

         22  Investigation, which is probably one of the reason

         23  why our plan is to go and attack the leadership.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: But the thing

         25  that existed before to attack gang violence was in
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          2  the seventies and the early eighties, there was no

          3  mechanism of understanding what exactly was done

          4  then, who were the folks in terms of comparison to

          5  the day then and all of that?

          6                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: One of the

          7  big things we have done is the tracking itself.

          8  There was never any type of data, and it actually

          9  took awhile, again, to educate the entire

         10  Department. There was a mandated procedure where any

         11  time any member of the service comes in contact with

         12  a gang arrest or suspected gang arrest, they

         13  immediately notify a Gang Intel Unit. That had never

         14  been done before and that is why we are more

         15  successful in what we are doing. The resources have

         16  increased, the computer adaptability has increased,

         17  I think that is why we are so much successful.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Council Member

         20  Cruz had a final question.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ: Thank you.

         22                 We were talking about the Street

         23  Crime Unit, Inspector. Could you tell me how many

         24  men are in each crime unit, about?

         25                 You said we started out there was no
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          2  more than five at one time, how many are there in

          3  the Unit now?

          4                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: Again, we

          5  have to understand the difference between the Gang

          6  Intelligence Unit, which is a separate entity from

          7  my division --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ: The Street Crime

          9  Unit.

         10                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: -- And the

         11  Gang Investigation Division. There is a Street Crime

         12  Unit, but it doesn't fall under the Gang

         13  Investigation Division.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ: Well, what about

         15  the crime gang?

         16                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: Basically

         17  there are three components. There is a narcotics

         18  team, an investigative team, and a suppression team

         19  that works in uniform.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ: And these three

         21  components --

         22                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: Are made up

         23  of one office in one borough, and you multiple that

         24  six times --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ: Give me the name
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          2  of that unit.

          3                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: That is, for

          4  instance, are you from Brooklyn North? That would be

          5  the Brooklyn North Gang Unit.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ: The Gang Unit,

          7  that is what I want to know. And the narcotics, the

          8  suppressed, and the -- what was the other one?

          9                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL:

         10  Investigation team.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ: Investigation

         12  team. How many people do we have? One person, one

         13  person, one person? Do you have several people?

         14                 I want to know how many people we

         15  have in the gang unit.

         16                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: It varies in

         17  each borough, but it is approximately 30, 35 people

         18  in each borough.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ: In each borough

         20  we have about 35, okay.

         21                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: Now, you

         22  have to understand, if I can explain this, the

         23  Narcotics Division works separately and distinctly

         24  on gang, drug gangs, which is a huge difference also

         25  from Street Crime. Though sometimes they interact,
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          2  we have a narcotics team targeting the street gang

          3  members.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ: Okay, I

          5  understand what you are saying, within that nucleus,

          6  everybody has a different specialty. I can

          7  understand that. But if you are telling me that we

          8  are going to have one investigative in narcotics,

          9  one person, one person, one person --

         10                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: No, no.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ: -- I got your

         12  point.

         13                 What I want to know is, these are

         14  regular people that stay in those units? We are not

         15  changing them and sending them from Brooklyn to

         16  Bronx? Are they stationary personnel within the

         17  unit?

         18                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: Yes, they

         19  are.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ: Okay. So they

         21  become familiar with the people on the street and

         22  the gangs and what have you.

         23                 Has there ever been an occasion where

         24  the Street Crime Unit, all right, has medicated

         25  between, has heard there is going to be some
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          2  differences between gangs and has brought them

          3  together to say let's talk about it and mediate,

          4  that type of incident, has it ever taken place?

          5                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: No.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ: Because it has

          7  never come to you, or because you just have not done

          8  it?

          9                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: We certainly

         10  have many incidents where we believe that violence

         11  might occur out of retaliation.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ: Okay.

         13                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR McCOOL: What we

         14  basically do is go to that area with the uniformed

         15  personnel, and through confidential formats try to

         16  prevent it from happening.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ: But if you know,

         18  if the same people are dealing with the gang members

         19  and we know who they are, these two gangs are going

         20  to have a confrontation, I would like to see that

         21  there is an attempt to get, you know, the leader of

         22  A and the leader of B and say --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Council Member,

         24  since we are not really doing an oversight on the

         25  Police Department, we are trying to focus on why
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          2  young people join gangs, I would like to ask you to

          3  conclude your questions.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ: Okay. All right.

          5  I will come back at a later time with that.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Okay.

          7                 Thank you very much, to our panel.

          8  Thank you, Commissioner and Chief.

          9                 We are now going to hear from some of

         10  the people who work with young people at risk, and

         11  we have three representatives from the YMCA, if I

         12  could ask them to come up and identify themselves.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay, we

         14  have three persons who will come up. Is Karina here?

         15  Is Cynthia here? We have Ms. Lopez, and then we have

         16  Karina Pantoja.

         17                 You may identify yourselves for the

         18  record and you can go in which ever order you feel

         19  you want to speak.

         20                 MS. LOPEZ: My name is Emily Lopez, I

         21  am the adolescent program director at the West Side

         22  YMCA.

         23                 MS. PANTOJA: My name is Karina, I am

         24  part of the West Side YMCA, Awareness Theater Troop.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: You may
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          2  testify.

          3                 MS. LOPEZ: Okay. I wanted to begin

          4  with information from a young person that actually

          5  couldn't testify, but I wanted to just put out her

          6  words first before I began.

          7                 "The reasons I joined a gang is

          8  because of protection within the schools and the

          9  community.

         10                 The groups are generalized by the

         11  public and the media. They think that gangs are

         12  negative when in some cases the groups have done

         13  positive things within the community.

         14                 They have done stuff personally and

         15  for the community that were good.

         16                 The reasons why I am still part of a

         17  gang or an organization is because of the sense of

         18  leadership and togetherness the group provides me.

         19                 They are very organized, and we just

         20  represent a group of people. There are a lot of

         21  issues that we have to deal with, we just deal with

         22  it differently."

         23                 That was her testimony. With regards

         24  to young people and the way that we work with young

         25  people at the West Side Y is on an asset-based

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            105

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  approach. They don't come in, we don't work with

          3  them on deficit-based approaches. They have assets,

          4  they come in with power, they come in with energy,

          5  and we take that energy and we refocus it and we

          6  provide them with tools, and with those tools they

          7  keep going and they stay in school, and if they

          8  can't stay in school, we provide them with

          9  alternatives for education, we provide them with

         10  alternatives for their own heeling, to their own

         11  positiveness.

         12                 So, it is not about being, it is not

         13  just about looking at the issue, we should start

         14  looking at some of the solutions that need to be put

         15  forth for some of our young people. And if we can't

         16  find solutions for them, then somebody else will.

         17                 One of the things that I know of, the

         18  little that I know of in some of the organizations

         19  that are out there is that they are organized. They

         20  have applications, they have bylaws, they have rules

         21  and they set family, and that is some of the things

         22  that we are not aware of and that we are not

         23  organizing. We are organizing a separate entity, as

         24  opposed to collaborating with each other. And if we

         25  are continuously fighting with one another, nothing
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          2  will be solved, nothing will be put forth. I know

          3  that at the West Side YMCA, the programming that we

          4  have, for example, the Awareness Theater Troop, they

          5  educate teens on all types of issues, teen violence

          6  being one of them. We could have focused on gang

          7  violence but we didn't, we focused on teen violence,

          8  because that is what is prevalent out there, that

          9  young people are having a hard time communicating

         10  with each other, and it is just a matter of looking

         11  at how we can find better ways, better tools for

         12  them to learn how to communicate with one another,

         13  and learn how to communicate with adults.

         14                 We are sitting here, and one of the

         15  things that I know I do at West side and the work

         16  that I do in the community, is make sure that I

         17  partner with young people. I cannot create programs

         18  in a desert, I have to create the programs with the

         19  young people in their vision with their needs, not

         20  with my needs, not with their needs, of anyone who

         21  is afraid of young people, with the needs of the

         22  assets that they have, and the goodness of their

         23  energy and their power and their sense of

         24  well-being.

         25                 MS. PANTOJA: I would like to begin by
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          2  thanking you for giving me this opportunity.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Just tell us your

          4  name.

          5                 MS. PANTOJA: Karina Pantoja.

          6                 I considered joining a gang when I

          7  was in eighth and ninth grade, for popularity and

          8  protection, which was not provided in my high

          9  school. I am sorry, I am a little nervous.

         10                 I want to talk about the gangs, gang

         11  intelligence and even with the New York Police

         12  Department, you want to find out why teens join

         13  gangs and why teens make up gangs, I feel, and with

         14  experience with the New York Police Department, they

         15  don't know how to communicate with young teens. We

         16  are either wrong or we get suspected. Which I think

         17  is another problem, because when you are in a gang,

         18  with some of the people that I know, you get

         19  respect, you get families, you get friendship, you

         20  get the support that you don't get from a lot of

         21  adults.

         22                 Like Emily said, we have been talking

         23  about gangs for how many years? And I can remember

         24  at least a year and a half ago, two years ago, when

         25  we had that serious issue with The Bloods that the
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          2  media portrayed as a serious issue, which I won't

          3  say wasn't, but we have been talking about it for

          4  how many years? Yet, we are still having meetings

          5  like this when we should not be sitting in a room

          6  but going out into the street and talking to teens,

          7  because I only seen two teens in here, and if this

          8  is about teen violence and gang violence, then there

          9  should be more teens in this room.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Council Member

         12  Stabile.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Karina, you

         14  are absolutely right. Let me just go back to

         15  something that really should be brought out. The

         16  first time organized crime was ever identified in

         17  New York City was in the turn of the century, and

         18  his name was Joseph Petrocini. And New York City

         19  Police Department laughed at him, they said there

         20  was no such thing as organized crime. He was the

         21  only police officer killed in the line of duty out

         22  of our country. But you brought out something very

         23  true, this room should be full of young people, who

         24  are on the edge of going the wrong way. And I happen

         25  to agree with you, I think when a person joins a
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          2  gang, he is joining it to be part of something. Even

          3  when a person uses drugs, nine out of ten times it

          4  is just wanting to be part of something, wanting to

          5  be part of a group. And pardon the disrespect, I am

          6  just curious, where do you live?

          7                 MS. PANTOJA: In the Bronx.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: In the Bronx.

          9                 And the high school you attended was

         10  in the Bronx?

         11                 MS. PANTOJA: I used to attend DeWitt

         12  Clinton High School.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Okay, and you

         14  felt very unsafe there?

         15                 MS. PANTOJA: Very.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: And the gang

         17  afforded you protection, in other words?

         18                 MS. PANTOJA: No.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: If you were a

         20  member of a gang.

         21                 MS. PANTOJA: I wasn't a member of a

         22  gang.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Let's say the

         24  young students who went to school with you who were

         25  members of gangs, they were afforded that protection

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            110

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  from the gangs? Nobody would bother you, more or

          3  less?

          4                 MS. PANTOJA: Right. I wouldn't be

          5  able to answer that because I haven't been in that

          6  situation. But with some of the friends that I have,

          7  and I used to have two that were involved with

          8  gangs, they did it for protection, because a lot of

          9  the gang initiation used to happen in school.

         10                 We have security guards that guard

         11  nothing but the doors. They are guarding what is

         12  coming into the school, but are not guarding what is

         13  going on in the school, which is a big problem.

         14  Because gang initiation shouldn't happen to begin

         15  with, and especially it shouldn't happen in the

         16  girls' bathroom or the boys' bathroom or any place

         17  in that school. Because we are there for protection

         18  and education, and if you are not providing one,

         19  then we are not getting the other.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Very good.

         21  Thank you.

         22                 MS. PANTOJA: You are welcome.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Is the problem

         24  getting worse?

         25                 MS. LOPEZ: I mean, are we talking --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: I guess the issue

          3  is, are more young people joining gangs? Are the

          4  sophisticated techniques that the District Attorney

          5  demonstrated and discussed in terms of using

          6  inducements for young people to join gangs and

          7  intimidating them when they don't, is this becoming

          8  more common, more prevalent? Is it more widespread

          9  than it was a few years ago?

         10                 MS. LOPEZ: In the work that I have

         11  been doing, and I have been working with young

         12  people, advocating for young people for the last 14

         13  years, and the issue for me and the issue for some

         14  of the young people has not been the gangs, it has

         15  been the youth violence. It has been the violence in

         16  the schools, violence in the communities, that is

         17  the issue.

         18                 If we are going to focus just on the

         19  gangs, that is not it. That is such a small group.

         20  It is about teen violence. It is about getting the

         21  violence out of our communities. It is about young

         22  people learning how to work with each other and

         23  communicating and finding another way.

         24                 Because you all spoke about the

         25  robberies that are going on in the communities. It
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          2  is not just a big group that is doing it, it is not

          3  a small group, it might be one teen, it might be the

          4  marginalization within our community, the poverty

          5  within our community. So, it is not just so easy as

          6  to say well all of the young people are joining

          7  gangs, let's disband the gangs and the problem will

          8  be over, so I don't think that is the core issue to

          9  what we need to be talking about.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Council Member

         11  Clarke.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Having your

         13  experience and putting the positive spin that you do

         14  on what we need to do, if you would make three

         15  recommendations to the members of the Youth

         16  Committee and the City Council as we try to direct

         17  and to focus on how we best address these needs,

         18  what would they be?

         19                 MS. LOPEZ: I would say, and I would

         20  like Karina to respond to this as well, I would say

         21  seek out community-based organizations who are

         22  working and know the community very well.

         23                 I would say start educating the

         24  schools, the teachers, the principles to what the

         25  real issues are, I would also say seek out the
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          2  groups that are together, and look at some of the

          3  policies that they do have, because they do have

          4  policies and look at how we can establish, and the

          5  families as well, because it is not just one or the

          6  other. So, it is about bridging a lot of the gaps

          7  that are there, so there are a lot of gaps. So, I

          8  can mention tons of people, the church, the YMCA, we

          9  can mention many different organizations that can

         10  come into play with regards to working with some of

         11  the young people. And I think that really is the

         12  key, collaborating.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Finally,

         14  because this hearing is about, whatever it does it

         15  puts the fear of God in all of us that there are

         16  some young people out there who are completely out

         17  of hand. They recruit other young people into the

         18  things that are not so good.

         19                 I am sure that you probably, through

         20  your work, hear a lot about it, know a lot of what

         21  goes on, what do you think the root causes are and

         22  how can we best address those, and either of you may

         23  answer I think a young person's voice is always

         24  something you want to hear because they have the

         25  fears, they have the anxiety, they need the
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          2  camaraderie that brings them together, what would

          3  you say?

          4                 MS. PANTOJA: Well, being a teenager,

          5  it is difficult to even talk to another teenager

          6  sometimes, but it is even more difficult to talk to

          7  adults. The only people that understand teenagers at

          8  times are teenagers. So, I can't even answer that

          9  because I am one teenager out of the millions that

         10  should be here. So, in order for me to answer that,

         11  you would need to ask a lot of other teenagers.

         12                 Solutions. If you look hard enough,

         13  we can find them. Because we have always had them.

         14  There is always a solution to a problem. And fine,

         15  gang violence is a problem, but teen violence in

         16  general and violence in general is a problem. We

         17  need to look for a solution to that, instead of just

         18  that one pinpoint of gang violence, because it

         19  affects all of us, not just us teenagers.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: So you are

         21  recommending that we look at the balance among young

         22  people, even before we look at the gang issue, is

         23  that what you are saying?

         24                 MS. PANTOJA: Right.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 MS. LOPEZ: I just wanted to add that,

          4  you know, you had over 20, what would seem like 20

          5  police officers here talking about what they do and

          6  their experiences. We should have ten times that

          7  many young people, Karina is right. And --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Well, in fact,

          9  just so we are clear about that, we invited a large

         10  number of youth organizations to participate,

         11  including the YMCA. The YMCA asked you to come on

         12  their behalf. We invited all of these organizations

         13  to bring young people. Obviously a lot of young

         14  people who were involved in gang activity may not be

         15  comfortable coming into City Hall and talking about

         16  their experiences. But the reason that we are having

         17  this hearing is that last year and over the course

         18  of the year we held five youth speakouts in all of

         19  the five boroughs, we had over 1,000 young people

         20  participate, and one of the issues that the young

         21  people identified to us that they wanted the Council

         22  to look at first was the increasing threat of gang

         23  activity that they felt.

         24                 So, the fact that the young people

         25  are not here today doesn't mean that we didn't
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          2  welcome their testimony and invite them, nor does it

          3  mean that we haven't had those conversations

          4  separately, and that is specifically why we asked

          5  the YMCA to come down and we invited the YMCA to

          6  bring young people who either had been involved with

          7  gang activity or that were at risk of it.

          8                 MS. PANTOJA: Can I ask you a quick

          9  question? What is your definition of a gang? We have

         10  ours, but I would like to see your perspective of

         11  the definition of a gang.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Well, you know,

         13  we heard what the Police Department's definition

         14  was, in terms of an organized group of people with

         15  some type of leadership that was engaged in criminal

         16  activity, we would be interested in hearing what

         17  your definition is.

         18                 MS. PANTOJA: My definition of a gang

         19  is a group of young people looking for something

         20  that they don't have. But it can be negative and

         21  positive, because if you look at some of the gangs,

         22  they have done a lot of things for the community,

         23  such as police brutality marches, if you look at

         24  some gangs you have to have good grades to be in

         25  them, and if you don't they will help you out. It is
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          2  about looking for the positivity also, and not just

          3  focusing on the negativity.

          4                 Because when you turn on that TV and

          5  you open that newspaper, you only see negativity,

          6  but you never hardly see the positivity that young

          7  people do and that organizations do.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Yes, but I guess

          9  what we are talking about is those organizations

         10  that do engage in criminal activity, and I guess

         11  what we would be asking is, is that the only outlet

         12  for young people who want to engage in the positive

         13  things? Is the only place for them to be able to do

         14  that in an organized way, by linking up with people

         15  who are also engaged in criminal activity?

         16                 MS. LOPEZ: Okay, I just want to put

         17  out the efforts that we -- because although the West

         18  Side Y has really great youth programs, not all the

         19  programs -- we have our doors open, they don't just

         20  walk in. We have to go out to them, and our efforts

         21  are very creative. So, we will go out to the subway

         22  and we will give out flyers, and I am sure that many

         23  organizations do the same thing. We will go to the

         24  rent office and put out flyers in the rent office so

         25  we will know that we are there. We go to the
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          2  schools, we will make presentations, we will do

          3  whatever it takes.

          4                 So, if there is an issue that needs

          5  to be resolved, we will do whatever it takes to fix

          6  it, to provide anything that we can for the young

          7  people. So, those are the efforts that need to be

          8  taken in solving anything.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Council Member

         10  Cruz, did you have a question?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ: It is more of a

         12  comment. First of all, I want to say that I am very,

         13  very fortunate to have a YMCA in my district, and,

         14  yes, the YMCA does a wonderful, wonderful job, and

         15  it is evident by the two speakers that we have had.

         16                 We also have a Kipps Bay Boys Club,

         17  we also have a magnificent Pathways to Youth. But as

         18  you said, not every child joins.

         19                 Mr. Chairman, maybe we are looking

         20  for answers from the wrong people, the Police

         21  Department, the Corrections Department, maybe we

         22  need to look at programs such as the YMCA and Kipps

         23  Bay and Pathways, the youth groups that are dealing

         24  with kids, because you can't tell me that my Neil

         25  Berger from Kipps Bay organization, in the Bronx,
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          2  does not know what youngster is involved with what

          3  gang and can talk to him maybe more than a police

          4  captain can, and say, Jimmy, come on in, let's sit

          5  down, let's iron this out, how can we find a

          6  solution? Maybe we are just looking at the wrong

          7  people to provide us a way to solve the problem that

          8  is becoming greater, not lesser.

          9                 MS. PANTOJA: It is more along talking

         10  to us about what we need and what we want and what

         11  we should have, than talking amongst yourselves and

         12  knowing what I need, when I, myself, can tell you

         13  this is what I need. I need protection in school. It

         14  is all about what we need, it is not about you guys

         15  figuring out what we need, it should be you asking

         16  us.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Well, that is why

         18  we had the hearing.

         19                 MS. PANTOJA: Right, I understand.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 David Brotherton and Luis Barrios and

         23  David Yassky.

         24                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: The first

         25  speaker is David Brotherton. If you could just begin
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          2  to give us your testimony.

          3                 MR. BROTHERTON: Hi. Thanks very much

          4  for inviting me and my colleague Luis Barrios. By

          5  the way, as a point of information, when you asked

          6  one of the Gang Intelligence Officers about the

          7  history of gang intelligence, the police gang

          8  intelligence wrote their own book in 1979 by

          9  catching felons, that detailed in quite large detail

         10  the history of the gangs in the 1970s. So that is a

         11  point of information that maybe you should take a

         12  look at.

         13                 Anyway, let me just read this. We

         14  would like to thank the members of the Youth

         15  Committee and the City Council for holding this

         16  important hearing and for taking time to focus on

         17  one of the most pressing and perplexing social

         18  problems affecting New York City, youth gangs.

         19                 As you may know, I personally have

         20  been studying youth gangs since the early 1990s,

         21  first on the west coast and now here in New York

         22  City. Currently I am the co-director of an ongoing

         23  research project called the Street Organization

         24  Project, located at John Jay College of Criminal

         25  Justice, which is studying the growth and evolution
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          2  of gang subcoaches in three different settings, New

          3  York City, Los Angeles, and the Puerto Rican prison

          4  system.

          5                 So far through a form of research

          6  that is collaborative, humanistic and holistic, we

          7  have managed to develop working relations with

          8  organizations such as the Almighty Latin Queen

          9  Nation, the Asociacion Neta and the Bloods.  To date

         10  we have recorded over 200 interviews with both males

         11  and females, ranging in age from 15 to 50. Based on

         12  this data I want to talk about this central issue,

         13  which didn't seem to be the central issue of so many

         14  testimonies before, on why kids join gangs.

         15                 But before I do that I just want to

         16  quickly talk about there are differences among

         17  gangs, and it is no coincidence that we don't call

         18  our project The Gang Project, we call it The Street

         19  Organization Project.

         20                 In a table that I have given the

         21  Council Members, you will see the different

         22  breakdown of how youth street subcultures

         23  differentiated over the last 30 years. 1970s what

         24  predominated on the streets in the City was a group

         25  a gang subculture which went by what term we called
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          2  and they called themselves was "jacket gangs". There

          3  is a film "flying Cut Sleeves" that documented this

          4  evolution of youth gang subcultures, and in the

          5  1970s, these reached a peak of 40,000, 45,000,

          6  according to police statistics.

          7                 In the 1980s, this type of gang

          8  subculture dissipated and was replaced predominantly

          9  by street crews and street posies organized around

         10  the drug trade, particularly around the early onset

         11  of crack.

         12                 And in the 1990s, we start to see a

         13  development of what we call the Street Organizations

         14  which are responding to the lack of control in their

         15  local neighborhoods as a consequence of the drug

         16  trade, as a consequence of selective communities hit

         17  extremely hard by AIDS, as a consequence of

         18  intergenerational poverty and also the consequence

         19  of self-destructive internal powerplays that was

         20  affecting their own organizations, such as the Latin

         21  Kings, for example, which drew the attention of

         22  multiple law enforcement agencies.

         23                 Now, of course all of these groups to

         24  some degree may be present in any of the above

         25  areas, seventies, eighties, nineties, I want to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            123

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  sketch the groups that tend to predominate in any

          3  one period.

          4                 In the present period, however, we

          5  seem to have entered a new phase in which a violent,

          6  somewhat unfocused and quite a political gang type

          7  has emerged that loosely appropriates the gang

          8  symbolism of the Bloods, the Crypts, from the west

          9  coast, it seems to have little of the original

         10  groups' highly prized inner solidarity.

         11                 So we see in New York City a range of

         12  gangs street subcultural variations and you can't

         13  tie them all with one brush, and it is a grave

         14  mistake, both in terms of policy, law enforcement

         15  and intervention to do so.

         16                 And it is my opinion that we must

         17  bear in mind that neighborhood youths are constantly

         18  constructing complex meeting systems that adults

         19  must try to understand rather than pathologize and

         20  demonize to come to terms of the extent of the

         21  problem, the changing nature of the problem, the

         22  purpose behind these organizations and the

         23  structured environments that shape condition and

         24  perpetuate the problem.

         25                 Now, why do kids join? Already I have
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          2  talked about some of these things, but I will go

          3  specifically to a number of points. The first point

          4  I want to talk about, and what one of the YMCA

          5  representatives talked about briefly is

          6  marginalization. In our interviews with young

          7  people, especially young people between the ages of

          8  14, 16, 17, we see multiple forms of marginalization

          9  that they feel they are experiencing.

         10                 The definition of marginalization in

         11  this sense is people being kept at the economic

         12  social, cultural and political periphery of a

         13  society. This concept is much used in social

         14  science, but in the interviews of our respondents is

         15  quite specific.

         16                 Marginalization I am referring to

         17  here is (1) lived racial inferiority and

         18  segregation: In all of our samples of both

         19  African-American and Latino youth, the respondents

         20  spoke of living quite segregated lives from their

         21  white counterparts. Of course, this did not mean

         22  that they never interacted with white youth but

         23  since most of them went to exclusively minority

         24  junior high and secondary schools, lived their

         25  formative years in barrio or ghetto residential
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          2  areas, socialized with almost only minority youth,

          3  they tended to believe that the dominant white

          4  society, the one that dominates the Congress, the

          5  Department of the Mayor, the fraternity of bankers,

          6  the owners of newspapers, the bulk of university

          7  administrators and professors, conspired against

          8  them.

          9                 The group they joined, therefore,

         10  tended to culturally affirm their lived racial and

         11  ethnic marginalization and, in effect, turn it into

         12  its opposite. While for "outsiders" the brandishing

         13  of colors and other representational symbols may

         14  simply be seen as provocative bravado, due to the

         15  perverse consequences of living in a racial

         16  hierarchy, this action of "flaming" or

         17  "representing" as they call it, is a way to

         18  retrieve their damaged racial pride and in a single

         19  gesture be "visible".

         20                 The second point here is urban

         21  stresses and no way out. Since virtually all our

         22  respondents came from the working, or subworking

         23  classes they tended to live in some of the most

         24  overcrowded and substandard housing in the city.

         25  Such environments provide them with little respite
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          2  from the stresses of family, neighbors and constant

          3  drama of the streets.

          4                 Compounding this problem of a

          5  heightened urban stress load were schools that

          6  similarly were almost as chaotic as their home

          7  environment. Thus, many youth felt that living in

          8  their so-called normal environment gave them little

          9  chance for relaxation, self-discovery, and

         10  conflict-free living. The group they joined

         11  paradoxically seemed to provide them with a buffer

         12  from these daily stress factors.

         13                 The third issue here is class

         14  polarization and no end in sight. Poverty amid a sea

         15  of abundance describes how many youth saw the class

         16  nature of their upbringing. They could not

         17  understand why and how people lived the way they do

         18  in Westchester County, the Upper East Side, or how

         19  those who worked on Wall Street could "get over" so

         20  easily.

         21                 The sight of this permanent overclass

         22  has a significant on the psyche of these young

         23  people and cannot be underestimated.

         24                 Night and day in the newspapers,

         25  magazines and television messages they are pumped
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          2  with the crass delights of smug upper class, mostly

          3  white life styles. While, of course, they live the

          4  reality that New York increasingly becomes a city of

          5  the very rich and the very poor which, I might add,

          6  is also duplicated in Los Angeles. Of course, some

          7  might respond by half-heartedly suggesting that they

          8  also will get their share, but for street

          9  organization members, they and their community can

         10  only make headway through an organization that is

         11  autonomous from the power structure and has its own

         12  nation structure.

         13                 The fourth issue here is second or

         14  third class schooling or why Jaime can't read. Of

         15  the 200 interviews, less than ten percent had

         16  attended private or parochial schools. Nearly all

         17  had been educated in local public schools, and

         18  though most did not express resentment toward

         19  teachers or to their school peers, there was little

         20  doubt in their mind that school was shortchanging

         21  them.

         22                 This took the form of overcrowded

         23  classes, antiquated books and materials, lack of

         24  high expectations in the classroom and too few

         25  opportunities to leave special education classes.
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          2                 Very few youth spoke of taking part

          3  in school governance and many had experienced

          4  expulsions, repeat referrals and a few had dropped

          5  out.

          6                 When the street organizations began

          7  to pay much more attention to schooling among their

          8  members, many of the young responded positively.

          9  They now felt that they were in school for a

         10  purpose, rather than the seemingly aimless and

         11  numbing rituals of attendance and testing. In their

         12  eyes, they were there to be a role model for their

         13  race and/or community and they had to learn plus

         14  challenge the school system's silence on certain

         15  topics.

         16                 The fifth issue is political

         17  invisibility or the co-optation process.

         18                 Most youth felt almost completely

         19  alienated from the political process. They felt

         20  constantly slighted over questions such as Puerto

         21  Rican independence, the latest welfare proposals,

         22  the constant frisking and surveillance by the

         23  police, and they had little experience of ever being

         24  consulted about anything.

         25                 On the other hand, they had noticed
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          2  certain minority politicians "making it" on the

          3  backs of the ghetto and barrio poor. Consequently,

          4  for street organization members there had to be some

          5  form of grassroots movement that could speak up for

          6  Latinos or Blacks or poor people in general. For

          7  gang members there was only cynicism and the

          8  conviction that politics was only for white society.

          9                 The sixth issue here is sexism at all

         10  levels of society. It is no secret that increasingly

         11  young women are adjoining these youth subcultures

         12  although most gangs and street organizations are

         13  still predominantly male, probably amount to about

         14  90 percent of the membership. But the reasons that

         15  females join are often to do with their own acts of

         16  empowerment in the face of male privilege and male

         17  dominance at all levels of society.

         18                 The contradiction is that by joining

         19  these groups they do little to escape this

         20  domination. Nonetheless, they can find, albeit

         21  fleetingly, a form of solidarity that was missing in

         22  their so-called normal lives.

         23                 Frequently, in our interviews female

         24  respondents spoke of having experienced rape,

         25  molestation, domestic violence, and highly
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          2  restricted social con duct that stood in direct

          3  contrast to other males in their immediate family.

          4                 Consequently, joining a youth

          5  subculture could appear liberating and often the

          6  friendships they made in these subcultures was the

          7  only defense they had against further victimization.

          8                 The above are reasons that the youth

          9  gave for joining that speak more to the political

         10  and economic structuring of their world.

         11                 Below I just talk a bit about other

         12  issues which are very important in influencing their

         13  membership and why they join. Primarily influences

         14  of both family and friends.

         15                 Family. Many youth joined the street

         16  organizations due to their family connections. This

         17  meant that they were being inducted into the

         18  organization through their brothers, uncles,

         19  sometimes fathers and therefore membership was

         20  almost an extension of their actual kinship network.

         21  Some of them were simply born into the organization.

         22  Other than the networking effect of the family, the

         23  group itself often functioned as a surrogate family

         24  for many young people. Often such young people had

         25  never experienced much emotional attachment from
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          2  their own parents, if they existed, but there were

          3  many who came from quite well adjusted family

          4  backgrounds, and memberships in these groups was a

          5  complement to what already existed.

          6                 Friends. There has been a great deal

          7  of emphasis on the influence of peer groups among

          8  membership patterns. This was quite a strong element

          9  in our interviews but it should not be inferred that

         10  youth are out there recruiting their unsuspecting

         11  friends and acting as street agents of an organized

         12  gang enterprise solely and simply.

         13                 More often, youth grew up with

         14  friends who joined neighborhood cliques over a long

         15  period of time, there was nothing sudden about it.

         16  Furthermore, it was quite common for friends to join

         17  different organizations, and for some friends to

         18  join nobody.

         19                 In other words, we should be careful

         20  about the hype around peer influences even though we

         21  see adolescents who are going through that

         22  vulnerable stage to identify construction aping

         23  others to "fit in".

         24                 Finally, I just want to finish by

         25  mentioning a crucial piece of the current puzzle

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            132

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  which is the impact of the justice juggernaut on

          3  inner-city youths, particularly African-American and

          4  Latino youths.

          5                 Fourth is the culture of

          6  incarceration and social control. To end this very

          7  short introduction to the gang and street

          8  organization rationale, I must be very candid about

          9  the unintentional consequences of the present rush

         10  to develop more punitive sanctions to combat drugs

         11  and violence.

         12                 As we all should know by now, the

         13  last fifteen years or more has seen an unrelenting

         14  tide of penal legislation that has had a highly

         15  selective impact on the poorest members of society,

         16  particularly singling out the black and Latino

         17  populations. Entering Rikers today, where 92 percent

         18  of the adult and youth populations are black and

         19  Latino is like entering a bantustan in the previous

         20  apartheid regime of South Africa. The overcrowding

         21  of prisons and the mass round ups of young males

         22  from very specific neighborhoods, have produced a

         23  rich breeding ground for gang subcultures that

         24  eventually spill back onto the streets. The

         25  popularity of slashing, the throwing up of hand
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          2  signals, the development of secret linguistic codes

          3  and alphabets, the top-down paramilitary structures

          4  of certain organizations et cetera, all originate in

          5  the dog-eat-dog world of the prison.

          6                 Finally, the mass sentencing that is

          7  now de rigeur turns prison into its opposite - it is

          8  no longer a deterrent but may indeed be rite of

          9  adult initiation into the big time. The paranoia and

         10  the trauma that prison induces, the cynicism and

         11  predatory instincts that it encourages do not leave

         12  the inmate when he or she finally re-enters civilian

         13  life. Yet, there are few consistent services or

         14  powerful social support networks that ex-offenders

         15  can access when they return - this leaves them with

         16  little choice but to rejoin the outfit they had come

         17  to know, trust and depend upon when they were on the

         18  inside.

         19                 In conclusion, I thank you for your

         20  time and patience in considering these important

         21  issues and for allowing me to offer you some

         22  alternative interpretations of this social

         23  phenomenon. If there are questions, I would be glad

         24  to answer them.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you. What I
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          2  will ask is for the three of you can give your

          3  testimony and then we will do some questions for the

          4  panel.

          5                 DR. BARRIOS: Thank you, Mr. Chair,

          6  and other members of the Council. I am Luis Barrios,

          7  a full-time professor at John Jay College, forensic

          8  psychology, and also a priest at St. Mary's church,

          9  a place where the Latin Kings, the Netas, have been

         10  having meetings for close to four years. So, what I

         11  am going to share here, I am going to share as a

         12  professor, researcher, as a priest and as a

         13  community activist that has been working with these

         14  street organizations for the last four years. And it

         15  is more a continuation of what my colleague Dr.

         16  Brotherton was saying as some of the items that he

         17  didn't discuss, because we are working together in

         18  this research project at John Jay College.

         19                 I was not impressed by the first

         20  presentation with all of these fancy web sites that

         21  some people were very impressed. What really

         22  impressed me was that what was missing there. You

         23  see, the KKK was not there, the white supremacist

         24  groups were not there, the malicious groups were not

         25  there, the religious right, with all of this bombing
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          2  and killing, they were not there, and when someone

          3  brings me this kind of misinformation, because they

          4  are giving half of the information, I get

          5  suspicious.

          6                 The other issue is that people come

          7  to these kind of activities to talk and not really

          8  to listen, and I am very concerned about that. And

          9  the first two groups, they talked and they left.

         10  They do not really want to listen to what members in

         11  the community want to say, and this is one of the

         12  problems. If we are going to fix something here, we

         13  need to be available to talk and also to listen,

         14  because how the hell are we going to find a solution

         15  to what we are saying here?

         16                 The other issue is that after

         17  listening to all of this, we still are probably in

         18  the same place. We don't have a definition for what

         19  the hell is again trying to mix here, drug gangs,

         20  youth gangs, street gangs, prison gangs, ethnic

         21  gangs, it is like we have a basket and we are going

         22  to drop everything there. So, this is one of the

         23  biggest issues. We don't have a definition of

         24  something that we want to attack.

         25                 Two, none of them can say how much
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          2  crime is gang-related. Because if they come here

          3  saying how much crime is gang-related they do not

          4  justify the jobs that they have and the salaries

          5  that they have that we are paying to them.

          6                 However, you want to create an issue

          7  in the City of New York? What about creating

          8  intelligent units to attack domestic violence that

          9  is out of control in this city. Why domestic

         10  violence is not an issue, why gangs are an issue.

         11  That is one of the things that really concerns me.

         12  The Mayor has come out, the Police Commissioner came

         13  out, crime is going down, crime is going down, if

         14  crime is going down, why are we doing this?

         15                 So then are we saying that crime is

         16  going down? There are two specific areas where crime

         17  is not going down, and it is not related to gangs.

         18                 Youth violence is going down in the

         19  last five years, everybody knows that, okay? It's

         20  going down. However, domestic violence, crimes

         21  against gay and lesbian community is out of control

         22  just because you are gay or because you are lesbian.

         23  So what about creating intelligence units that we

         24  are that we are going to the school, we teach these

         25  kids and we also teach adults how to handle this.
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          2                 So, how much crime is gang-related?

          3  We need to get this information. But believe me, it

          4  is not going to be more than two percent, that does

          5  not justify the gang intelligence units.

          6                 The last movie of Tupac Chaku

          7  (phonetic), very interesting movie. Gang related.

          8  You come out of there with one conclusion, when the

          9  Police Department do not know how the hell they are

         10  going to classify crime, they use that,

         11  gang-related. That's it, because they don't know how

         12  they are going to call that.

         13                 Why these groups emerge, we are still

         14  in the same place, this is crime, we need to attack

         15  this. Listen, gangs are symptoms, not a problem.

         16  This is one of the realities that we need to

         17  recognize. You have to deal with who are the people

         18  right now in New York City talking about so-called

         19  gangs - Latinos, Latinas, blacks.

         20                 So, what is going on in this

         21  community that they produce these types of

         22  organizations? Poverty, alienation, oppression,

         23  colonization, marginalization.

         24                 So, if we are going to deal with

         25  something that is going to stop people organizing
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          2  these groups, that what they do and it is just

          3  fighting back in justice, then we need to understand

          4  why they emerged. So, we are still there.

          5                 However, let me share something that

          6  from our preliminary reports, this resource that we

          7  have been running at John Jay College, what we have

          8  at this moment?

          9                 One of the reasons why this group

         10  emerged after you alienate, marginalize, oppress

         11  people, people come together in this organization,

         12  they search for identities in a racist society that

         13  marginalize, want to destroy the identity of these

         14  young people. So, one way to protect themselves is

         15  to create this type of organization. That some of

         16  the members commit crimes, yes, some of the members

         17  in my church commit crimes, some of the members of

         18  NYPD commit crime, but nobody there to say that NYPD

         19  is a crime organization, the blue gang of New York

         20  City. So, nobody there to say that St. Mary's Church

         21  is a gang, but we have people there that do drugs,

         22  we have people there that they are dealing with the

         23  underground economy, most people in these

         24  communities are dealing.

         25                 The other reality is the search for
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          2  respect, how they promote respect for each other in

          3  these organizations. In a community, in a society

          4  that do not respect, made a decision that they are

          5  going to scapegoat young people. They are qualifying

          6  them because they do not have any maturity or

          7  whatever we want to call them.

          8                 The other reality is the search for

          9  culture. You listen to the stories, you expose

         10  yourself there, and the more you listen you find

         11  these kind of searching for our culture. We need to

         12  deal with this type of preservation. The Puerto

         13  Rican culture, the issues of independence, this is

         14  our language, this is our culture, so how can we

         15  handle all this in this racist society that is

         16  promoting that we go into the American population -

         17  it is fighting back, it is a social resistance. They

         18  become subcultures.

         19                 The next aspect is the search for

         20  power. We take away the power of these young people.

         21  We marginalize them, we alienate them so they are

         22  fighting back. We also want to make decisions in

         23  this society. We want to be part of all of these

         24  policy-making that mostly counts against us. Why not

         25  allowing us to be part of this? You go into the
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          2  manifestation of the Latin Kings, of the Asociacion

          3  Neta, of the Bloods and this is here, it is, it is

          4  there, the search for power. Why we blacks and

          5  Latino do not have power in this society? So, let's

          6  create this so we are going to fight back.

          7                 And the last aspect is the search for

          8  spirituality uses a weapon for resistance. You want

          9  to learn about black people, you want to learn about

         10  Latinos and Latinas, you do not deal with

         11  spirituality you are not going to go anyplace.

         12                 You need to understand that our

         13  people use this popular religion as a way of

         14  fighting back. You come yourself into this

         15  organization, this is one of the biggest issues that

         16  first you confront. These so-called popular

         17  religion, this spiritual resistance as a way of

         18  fighting back the preservation of identity, the

         19  preservation of culture, gaining power in this

         20  society.

         21                 Most of our experience here in New

         22  York City tells us the Latin Kings Queens, the

         23  Asociacion Neta, they are not street gangs, they are

         24  street organizations.

         25                 How we learn that? Something that
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          2  probably we need to do here with these public

          3  hearings. If someone called me, not the day before,

          4  4:30 in the afternoon to come here, I can bring you

          5  the leaders of these organizations so you learn

          6  about them, you learn from them, they are going to

          7  tell you who they are and why they create this

          8  organization.

          9                 Thank you very much.

         10                 MR. YASSKY: Good afternoon, Mr.

         11  Chairman, and Council Members. Thank you for the

         12  opportunity to testify before you today.

         13                 My name is David Yassky, I am an

         14  assistant professor at Brooklyn Law School, and I am

         15  also testifying today on behalf of New Yorkers

         16  Against Gun Violence, which is a citizens group

         17  dedicated to reducing deaths and injuries caused by

         18  firearms.

         19                 A number of the witnesses today have

         20  made the point that urban gangs have been around for

         21  a long time, and of course they have been. But I

         22  think the problem today is a very different one than

         23  the problem at the turn of the century that

         24  Councilman Stabile was talking about before, and the

         25  reason is because of guns. The widespread and easy
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          2  availability of guns make urban gangs a much more

          3  dangerous phenomenon, and dangerous primarily to the

          4  other people in neighborhoods where gangs have

          5  sprung up. And I guess I should be clear of what I

          6  talk about by gangs, I am talking about

          7  organizations that have some level of structure and

          8  that are formed for the purpose mainly, if not

          9  entirely, of illegal activity.

         10                 It is the widespread and easy

         11  availability of guns that make these gangs so

         12  dangerous today.

         13                 The presence of guns makes gang

         14  violence more common, deadlier, and more

         15  uncontrollable. A gun turns a fistfight into a

         16  bullet wound and exposes innocent bystanders to the

         17  same risks of gang members. And there is no

         18  question, gangs and guns go together. One recent

         19  study found that of all the undesirable behaviors

         20  associated with gang membership, including getting

         21  arrested and dealing drugs, the most common was gun

         22  possession.

         23                 Being in a gang doesn't just put you

         24  at risk of possessing a gun, it virtually guarantees

         25  that at some point you are going to be walking
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          2  around carrying a firearm. And if you are carrying a

          3  firearm, there is some chance that you are going to

          4  use it.

          5                 It is hard to gauge the precise

          6  extent of gun possession by gang members in New

          7  York, but the data suggests that the problem is

          8  substantial.

          9                 During a one-year period, 1997/1998,

         10  12 months, the NYPD arrested at least 618 juveniles,

         11  that is people under the age of 18, who possessed

         12  the gun at the time they were arrested. And at least

         13  another 1,913 young people between the ages of 18

         14  and 24 were arrested carrying guns. So that is 2,600

         15  young people, and I would say at least because those

         16  were only the guns that police were able to link

         17  with a specific individual at the time of arrest,

         18  two-thirds of the guns were covered by police they

         19  can't link to any one specific person.

         20                 These numbers raise the question

         21  where do the guns come from, who is selling guns to

         22  our kids?

         23                 Thanks to tracing data compiled by

         24  the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms, we have

         25  some tentative answers to that question. The vast
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          2  majority of guns used by young people in crimes in

          3  New York City come from out of state. Our licensing

          4  system, our strong gun laws here in New York State

          5  make it relatively difficult for gang members to

          6  obtain guns from legitimate gun stores either

          7  directly or indirectly.

          8                 Instead, gangs get guns from illegal

          9  traffickers who purchase the guns in states with lax

         10  gun laws and then bring them here for resale.

         11                 Ninety-six percent of guns recovered

         12  from juveniles, that is under 18, and 91 percent

         13  recovered from kids in the 18 to 24 category were

         14  traced to out-of-state gun stores. That is

         15  virtually, you know, more than nine out of ten guns

         16  are coming in from out of state.

         17                 That makes the problem here unlike

         18  the gang problem in other states where guns are

         19  obtained locally, and it also makes it unlike the

         20  school shootings that we have seen where a kid takes

         21  a gun from the father or the grandfather and brings

         22  it to school. These gang members are not getting

         23  guns at home in that way, they are getting them from

         24  traffickers.

         25                 Moreover, the traffic and illegal
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          2  firearms appears to follow predictable patterns.

          3  Five states, Virginia, North Carolina, South

          4  Carolina, Georgia and Florida, account for 60

          5  percent of the guns used in crimes by juveniles, and

          6  50 percent of the guns used in that 18 to 24

          7  category.

          8                 So that is five states, more than

          9  half the guns used by the population that you are

         10  worried about.

         11                 These numbers, together with the

         12  facts that most crime guns used by young offenders,

         13  were manufactured less than three years before their

         14  use in crime, suggests that most gang members buy

         15  guns from established distribution networks.

         16                 This finding is very important

         17  because it means there are things we can do about

         18  the flow of guns into the hands of gang members.

         19                 If it is true, as these data suggest,

         20  that the guns used by New York Criminals come

         21  through a relatively small number of trafficking

         22  rings, then disrupting these traffickers with law

         23  enforcement will have a big impact on violent crime.

         24                 The City of Boston has proved that

         25  with its Operation Cease Fire Program. District
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          2  Attorney Hynes talked about Boston's pioneering

          3  efforts earlier, one crucial part of what Boston did

          4  was to focus on the gun trafficking networks, self

          5  consciously deliberately go after the traffickers,

          6  the result has been a 71 percent drop in the

          7  homicide rate among people under 25.

          8                 New York City has now begun to adopt

          9  some of the strategies pioneered in Boston, and I

         10  urge the Council to support these initiatives.

         11                 The most important strategy is simply

         12  to make the arrest and prosecution of illegal gun

         13  dealers a top law enforcement priority. This sounds

         14  obvious, but in fact New York has not done a very

         15  good job of putting illegal gun dealers in prison.

         16                 In 1997, all of 1997, 76 people were

         17  convicted of gun trafficking in the entire State of

         18  New York. That is like trying to stop a tidal wave

         19  with a thimble. The Council can play a valuable

         20  oversight role in making sure police and prosecutors

         21  do better. Every time a mugger or a rapist or a

         22  murderer uses a gun, the goal of the police ought to

         23  be two arrests and two convictions; one for the

         24  mugger, rapist or murderer, and one for the gun

         25  trafficker who put the weapon in his hands.
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          2                 One strategy used in Boston was to

          3  plea bargain with people arrested on gun possession

          4  charges if they will testify against the person who

          5  sold them the gun. The strategy has some costs

          6  because it does result in lighter sentences for

          7  people actually caught with the guns. But it may be

          8  the only way to shut down the distribution networks

          9  that put the guns on the street in the first place.

         10  We do this kind of plea bargaining with drug cartels

         11  to get the higher ups, and Council Member Espada

         12  raised this issue before. And I agree with you, we

         13  don't do a terribly good job of getting the drug

         14  ring higher up, we do a much better job there than

         15  we do with the gun traffickers. We almost never get

         16  behind the person on the street with the gun, to the

         17  person who brought it into the state.

         18                 Another tactic from drug enforcement

         19  is the use of undercover buy and bust operations.

         20  The police use these widely against drug rings, but

         21  they have not applied the same methods against gun

         22  traffickers. If this requires hiring more police

         23  officers, I hope the Council would consider that

         24  money well spent.

         25                 Another idea, a final idea, would be
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          2  to consider the possibility of cooperative

          3  agreements with other jurisdictions.

          4                 One of the main reasons gun

          5  trafficking is hard to stop is that it cross the

          6  state lines. When the NYPD arrests an armed robber

          7  and they trace his gun to a store in Virginia, the

          8  NYPD does not have jurisdiction to follow up. I talk

          9  to police officers and prosecutors all the time who

         10  will tell me of some case where they get a gun, it

         11  is traced to Virginia or North Carolina or Florida

         12  and they send some form down to the police in that

         13  source state, but the police in that state never

         14  follow up. And I guess perhaps it is understandable

         15  the police in the source states focus on crime

         16  problems that affect their own citizens more

         17  directly, but it means they never get around to

         18  going after the traffickers that are sending guns

         19  here. So too often gun trafficking falls through the

         20  cracks.

         21                 New York should explore the

         22  feasibility of reimbursing other states for a

         23  portion of their gun trafficking enforcement

         24  expenses, if those states are able to produce some

         25  results.
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          2                 The last point I would like to make,

          3  the question has been raised a few times about how

          4  young do people join gangs. There was a recent

          5  study, a survey of gang members of four cities that

          6  this is reporting by the gang members themselves the

          7  average age in which they joined the gang was 13.

          8  That is the average. So it means people are getting

          9  involved pretty early on.

         10                 The NYPD and the DAs' offices don't

         11  see those people because when a 15 year old gets

         12  arrested they don't come through the DA's office.

         13  But there is no question that there are a lot of

         14  kids who are 13, 14 and 12 years old getting

         15  involved in gang activity.

         16                 Mr. Chairman, thank you very much for

         17  inviting me to testify today.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you. I have

         19  a couple of questions.

         20                 As I understood your testimony, the

         21  idea of a gun person joining the gang is

         22  understandable, I guess my question is, is it

         23  desirable?

         24                 If you were talking to that 13 year

         25  old today and they had a choice between joining a
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          2  street organization or going to the Kipps Bay Boys

          3  and Girls Club, as Council Member Cruz described in

          4  her district, what would you say to that young

          5  person? What is a better choice for that young

          6  person?

          7                 DR. BARRIOS: Well, one of the things

          8  that we would like to have clear is that, first you

          9  have to be very careful when you use this

         10  terminology gang, because we are using this as a

         11  general concept and we have to be very careful. And

         12  because they are affiliating themselves with this

         13  particular group, then you have to be very careful

         14  of who is giving some type of definition.

         15                 Like, for example, I don't have any

         16  problem with kids going, affiliating to street

         17  organizations, the ones that we studied. But then

         18  there are other organizations there that they are

         19  being labeled by NYPD as gangs when they are not

         20  gangs. So, we have to be very careful with the use

         21  of arbitrary definition and labels.

         22                 Kintone (phonetic), a friend of mine,

         23  leader of the Latin Kings, on one occasion he told

         24  me, Luis, let me tell you, we have to be very

         25  careful when we bring these research going on in the
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          2  United States, I want to know what is going on in

          3  New York City. How many of this research is in New

          4  York City. Because that is the other problem, that

          5  someone is doing research in Chicago, or in Boston,

          6  and we apply that here, that is not correct.

          7                 So, when Kintone was talking to me he

          8  said, Luis, this is the reality in New York City,

          9  eight or ten blacks or Latino on a corner is a

         10  street gang. Eight or ten white kids on a corner is

         11  a hockey team, NYPD, okay? That is painful, because

         12  that reflects the racism that we have in our

         13  society.

         14                 So, we have to be very careful. We

         15  need to start searching. We are doing research here

         16  in New York City, in John Jay College. What we have

         17  is relevant to New York City. We put together a gang

         18  symposium to learn more about this. We say this is

         19  the way we are going to do it. Law enforcement,

         20  community activist, and members of the organization,

         21  we want to get these three sources to talk about

         22  what is this, if we have a problem or we don't have

         23  a problem.

         24                 Guess who was not there? Law

         25  enforcement. Everybody else was there. They said,
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          2  no, we are not going there.

          3                 MR. BROTHERTON: It wasn't only that,

          4  they tried to stop the conference.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Was that because

          6  they thought you were legitimizing what they

          7  consider to be criminal organizations?

          8                 MR. BROTHERTON: Yes, they said that

          9  we were inviting non-criminals and all of this sort

         10  of stuff, and I mean it was very much sort of

         11  McCarthyism sort of reaction. Even the photograph

         12  exhibit we had from two prize-winning photo

         13  journalists they tried to stop being displayed, and

         14  this is a public university, last year in September.

         15                 But to get back to your question

         16  about would I advise a young person, how would I

         17  counsel a young person, you know, the street

         18  organizations, they have membership rules. For

         19  example, you can't be a member unless you are 16

         20  years of age. You can be a fan, you can hang around,

         21  but you can't become a full member. And they brought

         22  in the number of rules that were designed to take

         23  the young people within their organization.

         24                 Now, given the context in which these

         25  kids are living, given the things that we have been
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          2  talking about that they face every day, you have to

          3  respect their decision to join this kind of

          4  organization. It doesn't seem to me, as long as this

          5  organization is doing positive things in the

          6  community, it is going to be terribly detrimental.

          7                 Of course if they are joining an

          8  organization which is going to, you know, typically

          9  we hear about the Bloods and so on and so forth, and

         10  they are against it and try to intervene and try to

         11  -- but I would make a differentiation between this

         12  organization and another organization.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: And how is a 13

         14  year old supposed to know that?

         15                 MR. BROTHERTON: I think 13 year olds

         16  know a lot more than we give them credit for. They

         17  grow up in these particular environments, and there

         18  are a lot of choices that have to be made, there are

         19  a lot of pressures upon them. I am not saying they

         20  are completely free of any of these peer pressures

         21  or adult pressures and so on and so forth, there

         22  are, and there needs to be interventions, given a

         23  certain context. It is not enough to, you know,

         24  simply blandly retort. This is what is going on a

         25  lot of times in the gang prevention messages in
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          2  schools, don't join gangs and don't do this and

          3  don't do that. I studied the gang prevention

          4  policies in Los Angeles and San Francisco throughout

          5  the 1990s, and believe me, it did very little to

          6  stop young people from joining gangs. In fact, you

          7  have seen an increase in gang membership in Los

          8  Angeles or San Francisco, although now it has

          9  plateaued, because what it is is constant

         10  moralizing, adult moralizing that these young

         11  people, some listen to, those who really want to

         12  hear it, other people very much disbelieving of the

         13  adult message. What they want is much more

         14  understanding, much more alternative, and much more

         15  power given to them and their community.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Is gang activity

         17  increasing in New York City?

         18                 MR. BROTHERTON: I probably wouldn't

         19  say so.

         20                 I think that if you measure it from

         21  gang-related incidence, I know on the Brooklyn

         22  Homicide Task Force, that even though that is one of

         23  the areas where homicides have been increasing this

         24  year, and bucking the trend in New York City, of all

         25  of the homicides, I think only three of four are
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          2  designated gang related. That is not a terribly big

          3  increase due to gang involvement. It doesn't seem to

          4  be that way.

          5                 Do we have statistics on gang-related

          6  violence? Well, what we heard we have only just had

          7  intelligence set up and police statistics and

          8  departments in the last few years, you know, why was

          9  that? I am not quite sure. Is it because of the

         10  explosion of gang involvement?

         11                 What is very interesting about New

         12  York City, and it should be brought out, that while

         13  other cities we are seeing definitely an increase of

         14  gang-related violence in Chicago and Los Angeles and

         15  Denver, Colorado, and so on and so forth, throughout

         16  the nineties, apart from the infamous trial of the

         17  Latin Kings' leaders, there was much less and

         18  couldn't be seen as this gang epidemic that was

         19  taking place in New York City, it wasn't there. It

         20  simply wasn't there.

         21                 And, again, it is very interesting,

         22  because if you look in the history, New York City is

         23  the first place that the gangs were written about

         24  back in the 1850s, so in the sense we are the home

         25  of gangs and yet we were the one city where we

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            156

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  didn't see the gang explosion. That is a very

          3  important question for us to address.

          4                 No, I don't see there being a

          5  tremendous increase in gang-related and gang

          6  membership. I think it is the same today as it was

          7  probably six years ago.

          8                 MR. YASSKY: I just want to agree with

          9  a couple of points that have been made about, first

         10  of all, the problem clearly differs city by city.

         11  Los Angeles, the gangs in Los Angeles were citywide,

         12  Washington, D.C., the gangs would be three streets,

         13  have a jurisdiction of three streets, and Chicago

         14  it's a neighborhood. And also, New York, certainly

         15  throughout much of the nineties we did not have the

         16  same gang problem that many other big cities did.

         17                 I do know that the prison, the state

         18  prison officials believe that they have seen a

         19  steady increase in gang signs among prisoners. Now,

         20  whether that only means that gangs are established

         21  within the prisons to a greater extent than before,

         22  or it means that people are coming into prison as a

         23  member of gangs it is hard to tell. But that is one

         24  indication that there is an increase in gang

         25  activity.
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          2                 The other thing, I really want to

          3  echo the point about some of the traditional gang

          4  prevention programs not being terribly effective.

          5  The Great program that they talked about before has

          6  had really not a big history of effectiveness, and

          7  it is because it does, I think Professor Brotherton

          8  is absolutely right, that kids can't kind of be

          9  pushed into some very traditional forms of activity,

         10  the YMCA. There are a lot of kids that aren't

         11  interested in being told the YMCA is a great group

         12  to be in. Most of those kids don't have to be in

         13  gangs by any means, and the goal has to be for kids

         14  that are going to resist the authority message, the

         15  YMCA is the official place to be to still hang on to

         16  them and keep them out of the criminal gang.

         17                 DR. BARRIOS: Let me add something.

         18  Again, youth violence is going down, that is one.

         19                 Two, we have more crime related to

         20  young people who are not affiliated to gangs than

         21  those who are affiliated to gangs. So, it is not

         22  correct to put one and one together here, because

         23  that is not correct. So, we have to make this

         24  separation, that most of the young people committing

         25  crime, they are not affiliated to gangs, so we need
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          2  to look at that.

          3                 The other issue is that so-called

          4  social construction, how the media is dealing with

          5  all of these, and also the hype going on inside the

          6  NYPD. Last year the Operation Crime, this is the

          7  biggest operation, okay? That they went against the

          8  Latin Kings, according to them the most dangerous

          9  street gang and prison gang that we have, 117

         10  members were arrested. There was a display of all of

         11  the drugs and all of the weapons. Three months

         12  later, 47 of those 117, they were members of the

         13  Latin Kings, the others were drug dealers.

         14                 Three months later that never came

         15  out in the media. Two months later after those three

         16  months, they brought charges, seven of the Latin

         17  King members. Do you know for what? Parole

         18  violations. There was no guns, no drugs, one and a

         19  half year investigation with paying officials more

         20  than $75,000, giving houses in Florida, all of this

         21  is being documented in two of the trials that we

         22  went to testify. For what? Seven cases on parole

         23  violations. That is what they got.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: I am sorry, I

         25  thought I understood the District Attorney of the
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          2  U.S. Attorney to say that they prosecuted 167, I

          3  think was the number, members of the Latin Kings; is

          4  that the same prosecution you are talking about? Are

          5  you talking about the 167 people that the

          6  prosecutors testified were members of the Latin

          7  Kings and only seven were members of the Latin

          8  Kings?

          9                 DR. BARRIOS: That is right. But one

         10  of the things that we need to be very careful here,

         11  our research is following the Latin Kings after the

         12  arrest of King Blot (phonetic), the leader, the

         13  founder of the organization, how the organization

         14  turned around with the new leadership under Kintone

         15  and became a street organization. So this is what we

         16  have been documenting. This is what we have been

         17  telling NYPD and the media. You need to bring this

         18  out. There is a transformation going on inside of

         19  this organization, you need to bring this out.

         20                 You can't continue, when you talk

         21  about the Latin Kings, it is about Chicago, all what

         22  happened before 1994 under the leadership of King

         23  Blot, no, that's not fair.

         24                 The other issue is about young

         25  people. Are you aware that under 16 years old, to
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          2  become a member of the Latin Kings, the most

          3  dangerous so-called gang organization, the parents

          4  need to sign a consent. They need to explain to the

          5  parents where their kid is coming. The parents need

          6  to come to the meeting and the kid needs to bring

          7  the school report. That never came out in the media,

          8  okay? And they were having the meeting in my church.

          9  And I am not going to allow any criminal

         10  organization to destroy my community or destroy this

         11  institution. If they have been there for four years,

         12  because we know what they are doing there, this is

         13  what we say.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 I know this has been a long

         17  afternoon. We appreciate everyone's patience.

         18                 Jesse Escalara, Ronald Brinn,

         19  Bertrand Wang, and John Manniel.

         20                 MR. MANNIEL: I am John Manniel, a

         21  retired New York City police officer. I was

         22  considered a street gang expert, before when they

         23  had the five-man intelligence thing, et cetera, et

         24  cetera. And I guess I will let them introduce

         25  themselves.
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          2                 MR. BRINN: Good afternoon. I am

          3  Ronald, Director of Public Affairs for the Jamaica

          4  Community Adolescent Programs in Jamaica, Queens.

          5                 MR. ESCALARA: Jesse Escalara, the

          6  Executive Director of Gang Member Alternative, and

          7  intervention and prevention program in New York

          8  City.

          9                 MR. WANG: My name is Bertrand Wang, I

         10  work for South Asian Youth Action in Elmhurst,

         11  Queens.

         12                 MR. PACIFIC: My name is Mike Pacific,

         13  I am president of the Board of Directors for Gang

         14  Member Alternative.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Before you begin,

         16  I want to thank you for participating, for sitting

         17  through a long day, and also to let you know that

         18  while our audience may have dwindled somewhat,

         19  particularly the media because this is around the

         20  time that they file their stories, we are going to

         21  be both creating a transcript of the complete record

         22  of the hearing today, and also taking the testimony

         23  that you are hearing, trying to reconcile some of

         24  the conflicts that we have already heard, and we

         25  will probably be generating a report with it.
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          2                 So, I don't want you to feel

          3  disappointed that not all of the audience is here.

          4                 And also, I wanted to let you know

          5  that the Mayor's Office is in attendance, as well as

          6  some of the other agency representatives. So, while

          7  they may not be wearing uniforms, that doesn't mean

          8  that the city agencies aren't here.

          9                 Thank you very much. You can proceed.

         10  Whoever wants to go first, we will hear you all.

         11                 MR. WANG: With the permission of the

         12  board, I actually need to go back to our center. We

         13  run an after school program --

         14                 MR. MANNIEL: Go ahead.

         15                 MR. WANG: Thanks a lot.

         16                 Again, I would like to echo some of

         17  the disappointment at the large number of law

         18  enforcement representatives that were here. And

         19  again, that there was an extreme lack of youth

         20  participation. In discussions like this, leaving

         21  youth out of these discussions only reinforces the

         22  negative images and negative messages that we send

         23  them that they don't matter, that they don't count,

         24  that how is a 13-year old supposed to understand the

         25  difference. Those kind of messages I think I want to
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          2  reinforce.

          3                 I understand that efforts have been

          4  made to contact them, but I don't think it is enough

          5  to simply say they didn't come. They were invited.

          6                 What I would impose upon the Council

          7  is to find out why they are not coming. Find out why

          8  they don't feel comfortable. Find out why. That is

          9  all I have to say about that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: This is just the

         11  first step.

         12                 MR. WANG: Understood. Understood.

         13                 Second, it seems to me that

         14  prevention versus punishment and surveillance are

         15  two completely different conversations, that I was

         16  actually a little puzzled why when I first arrived

         17  here that there were the charts and the graphs and

         18  the Police Department rattling off the statistics of

         19  their programs.

         20                 And also I find that, again, the

         21  definition of gangs is extremely loose, and it seems

         22  very much like an elastic clause, that I believe the

         23  one officer said something like a gang is an

         24  organization with members and designated leaders,

         25  who are engaged in unlawful activity or suspected of
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          2  unlawful activity. I mean, that covers just about

          3  anybody. I think other people have already alluded

          4  to that.

          5                 Also, historically police are not

          6  youth friendly, they are not immigrant friendly,

          7  they are not friendly towards Asians, and that is

          8  really what I would like to get into, that the whole

          9  discussion so far has been African-American and

         10  Latino, which I understand, given the demographics

         11  of the City; however, while Asian-Americans do make

         12  up about roughly seven percent of the City's

         13  population, they are making up over ten percent of

         14  the school population now. So, indeed we see it is

         15  growing.

         16                 And in addition to the standard

         17  adolescent issues of the needs of acceptance,

         18  protection and respect, all of which I am not

         19  downplaying but I believe are very important, we

         20  also are compounded with language issues, race

         21  issues, assimilation issues, cultural issues, fear,

         22  economic stability. Many of the kids that I am

         23  working with, they are in gangs because someone else

         24  has given them $100 off of their role, and no one

         25  else is reaching out to them.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            165

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2                 Again, I am not saying that it is

          3  right, but there is no one else providing any

          4  alternative.

          5                 Also, perceptions of Asian youth

          6  generally work against them when it comes to

          7  non-Asian and school staff, et cetera, other people

          8  who are involved with their lives, when it comes to

          9  them intervening. The perception of Asian as the

         10  model minority, that we are quiet, hard-working,

         11  bla-bla-bla, that is still quite pervasive in the

         12  school systems, particularly, as well as in a lot of

         13  the youth organizations, and even community

         14  organizations I have been involved with.

         15                 This obviously works against them

         16  because this makes them more vulnerable and

         17  susceptible to gang outreach because no one else is

         18  listening to them.

         19                 So, when a big brother comes and buys

         20  them dinner and says why don't you come out with us,

         21  what else are they going to do? No one else is

         22  telling them even no. Certainly not the Police

         23  Department who at very best is unaware of certain

         24  things.

         25                 I think also a police officer had
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          2  said he looked puzzled when they mentioned the

          3  master race as a street gang and, again, I would

          4  like to underscore the lack of inclusion in white

          5  supremacist hate groups in definitions of gangs.

          6                 Since I was a kid, everyone knew who

          7  TMR was, and he is sitting there going, uh, is it

          8  like a hate group. I was actually very offended by

          9  that. Because it is documented also that many sons

         10  of police officers belong in such groups. I think

         11  there has been documentation in the last five years

         12  alone, in different parts of, particularly Queens.

         13                 Also Asians who are victimized by

         14  gangs and gang crime are way more unlikely to report

         15  crimes. And as someone who has done work in

         16  Chinatown, as well as with South Asian young people,

         17  South Asian meaning Indian, Bangladeshi, Pakistani,

         18  Guyanese, Trinidadian, as well as Chinese and

         19  Korean, I can tell you that the belief is that gangs

         20  don't exist. I have been told by a lieutenant in the

         21  fifth precinct in Chinatown, these Chinese gangs,

         22  they don't exist. Looked at me point blank.

         23                 Now, that either tells me one of two

         24  things. Either he is on the take, or he is

         25  completely ignorant of the situation, which would
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          2  mean he is incompetent and he is not doing his job

          3  because he doesn't know the situation.

          4                 Either one of those alternatives is

          5  not a particularly pleasant one to look at.

          6                 And like I said, Asian kids have gone

          7  pretty much unmentioned up until now.

          8                 Finally, I think what I am asking for

          9  is perhaps a discussion on gang prevention and

         10  understanding why young people join gangs. In terms

         11  of the solution angle, it is incumbent I believe on

         12  schools, families, government and social services to

         13  come together and meet about that. Of course with

         14  young people input all the way. We need to provide

         15  better economic, better educational, better social

         16  opportunities for young people right now, because

         17  clearly, they are not getting them.

         18                 And especially for some programs,

         19  people who like to state specifics, because I

         20  understand that funding is often numbers driven, and

         21  you need to meet x amount of kids per group. How

         22  effective that? If you are reaching, I think Project

         23  Great was saying something about 60,000 kids, how do

         24  they evaluate their success? Is there a post test

         25  survey that is done? Is there any kind of intake or
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          2  outtake that is done to measure impact of programs

          3  before and after entering?

          4                 And, yes, I think that is it. I would

          5  like to thank the Council very much for this chance

          6  to speak, and I would definitely welcome any

          7  continued participation in this dialogue.

          8                 Again, I underscore that Asians are

          9  constantly left out of this equation, and in

         10  general. Thank you very much. And no disrespect to

         11  anyone else, I apologize, I need to go back.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 MR. ESCALARA: Once again, my name is

         14  Escalara. I am the Executive Director of Gang Member

         15  Alternative. Gang Member Alternative is an

         16  intervention and prevention program that was

         17  developed in 1995 in Los Angeles. I was born in the

         18  town of Fullerton, at the age of nine I joined a

         19  notorious gang in Los Angeles called Topperstone,

         20  a/k/a FTT. My grandfather and father were of the

         21  same gang. And for after about eight years my father

         22  was murdered in prison by another gang, a rival

         23  gang. I separated from the gang and was able to

         24  graduate from Fullerton High School and was able to

         25  go into Fullerton Junior College, where I received
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          2  by bachelor of arts in early child development, with

          3  a minor in juvenile justice in 1992.

          4                 I was then employed by the Coalition

          5  for Youth Development as a gang counselor, where I

          6  developed an alternative to membership program,

          7  which is GMA, for the County, Los Angeles County of

          8  Education in the ABC school district.

          9                 I then joined the Hawaiian Gardens

         10  Police Department as a gang unit officer, where for

         11  about four and a half years I did suppression.

         12                 When I did the suppression, I came to

         13  understand that the kids that I was arresting, they

         14  were wannabees when they went in and when they were

         15  coming out they were coming out hardcore gang

         16  members. And so that is when I decided to go

         17  full-time and develop the gang member alternative

         18  program for the Los Angeles.

         19                 Presently, about two years ago I

         20  relocated to New York City where I had seen that you

         21  guys were having the same problem that Los Angeles

         22  was having with the Bloods, the Crypts, Latin Kings,

         23  Netas. Although LA doesn't have Netas or Latin

         24  Kings, I came to find out that they were one of the

         25  largest gangs and to iterate what was spoken just a
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          2  little while ago, that it is an organization, of

          3  street crime and all of that, I was part of that

          4  symposium that took place at John Jay College, and

          5  that was a joke.

          6                 I have dealt with gang members and

          7  the Latin Kings are a gang. I don't care what

          8  anybody else has to say. About three weeks ago I had

          9  a phone call from a mother, her son was involved in

         10  the Latin Kings. He was found that he was talking

         11  with a Blood gang member and inside of their 360,

         12  which is like a unity circle when they are holding

         13  their meetings, he was pulled aside and he was

         14  beaten so bad that he was internally bleeding. When

         15  he would urinate blood was coming out. When he was

         16  using the restrooms, bowel movements, blood was

         17  coming out, and so this young kid that was a Latin

         18  King, because he was seen associating with a Blood

         19  gang member he was beaten almost to death.

         20                 I was able to go to the location

         21  myself and my gang counselor, which was one of the

         22  supreme crowns in the Latin King Nation, he is no

         23  longer a part of that gang and he has let me know a

         24  lot of the stories that have taken place with that

         25  gang, that, you know, guys that have gotten thrown
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          2  off the bridge and killed, other Latin King members

          3  because they were found associating and not doing

          4  what was done, told by the rules and by their laws,

          5  they have to follow a certain code, and if this code

          6  was not met, it is called a physical or a BOS, a

          7  beat-down on site, or a TOS, which means a terminate

          8  on site, and these words are used by that nation, by

          9  the Kings nation. So if it is not a gang, then I

         10  don't know what the heck they are using those terms

         11  for. You know a TOS.2, a BOS.1, all of these

         12  different terms that are being used by that

         13  so-called organization. Like I said, I am not Jonny

         14  come lately. I had been in the gang for a number of

         15  years, I just happened to be lucky because I had an

         16  opportunity when a police officer approached me, and

         17  he knew that I had gotten my degree, and he had told

         18  me that he would sponsor me to go to the police

         19  academy, so I took that job and because of that I

         20  was able to be who I am today.

         21                 The GMA program, our mission is

         22  three-fold:  To intervene, to save young people from

         23  the gang lifestyle and to give them a sense of hope

         24  outside of the gang, and to make our communities

         25  safer for everyone.
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          2                 We serve over 2,000 youth every year

          3  through prevention seminars that deal with street

          4  level gangs, and what happens to a gang member once

          5  he or she is incarcerated.

          6                 Our method of educating youth on

          7  gangs is successful for the reason that we give them

          8  the tools that are needed to reject gang

          9  recruitment, and understand the lifestyle and the

         10  price that one pays when joining the gang.

         11                 In addition, we serve their families

         12  by being on call 24 hours a day, when a crisis

         13  arises at the home. We will counsel and make

         14  necessary referrals, but we will also recognize the

         15  need to divert youth to criminal activity well

         16  before the opportunity arises for them to commit it.

         17                 Unfortunately, our work is far from

         18  recession prove. Funding for this program, such as

         19  GMA, is even more crucial in times of economical

         20  hardships, as there is a direct correlation between

         21  inflation, poverty and crime, your financial support

         22  will enable us to continue helping these kids'

         23  potential for change, which is our youth.

         24                 Where I find that it is hard is that

         25  I work a full-time job and also do GMA on the side,
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          2  what I have been running across is that for a gang

          3  program to actually come up, people have to say,

          4  yes, we do have a gang problem.

          5                 I go to the school districts and talk

          6  to different agencies and they are in denial that

          7  there is a gang problem in their community or in

          8  their school, so it kind of shuts down the funding.

          9                 I cannot get funding for something

         10  they don't believe is happening in the school.

         11                 Once again, what I do is merely on a

         12  volunteer basis. I have developed a board of

         13  directors this last month, hoping we would go ahead

         14  and start going after some of the grant money. The

         15  Catholic charities has offered us to go ahead and

         16  help support our initiative.

         17                 What we do when we go into a

         18  classroom or into a presentation and service about

         19  300 to 400 kids, we find that maybe 75 percent of

         20  those kids are gang related and they need a program

         21  where they can go to and have counseling and people

         22  that understand what they are going through and

         23  being experts in that field, Immanuel Bailey, which

         24  is the Assistant Deputy Warden, is a part of that.

         25  He is one of the great volunteers that help us in
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          2  that. Sergeant Mike Pacific, which works with the

          3  court. We also have Sergeant Servelli with the NYPD

          4  cage unit, a number of police officers that

          5  volunteer their time, so as many times as I hear

          6  that police officers don't do this or they don't do

          7  that, you know, I invite them to my home and they

          8  are a part of this and they are not getting paid for

          9  it but it is something that they see that is needed

         10  rather than just suppression all of the time. But

         11  they know that there are some young kids out there

         12  that really do want to get out, but because their

         13  gang will not let them get out, or they are going to

         14  get physical or they are going to get killed for

         15  getting out, that is when they turn to us.

         16                 To conclude with that story, when we

         17  were able to go and talk with the kid that had got

         18  the DOS, they had actually put a TOS on him, a

         19  terminate on site, so another gang leader or anybody

         20  that was involved or seen this young man, they were

         21  to kill him on the site.

         22                 Myself and the gang counselor, he

         23  went to the home of that person who gave him the

         24  physical and we were able to get the TOS off of him,

         25  so he no longer has a terminate on site. And it is
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          2  because of that, I tell the kids that I work with,

          3  you know, when I was willing to die for a street

          4  corner, I was willing to die for the gang that I

          5  came from, you know, now I am willing to die for

          6  what I believe in, and if it takes that I have to go

          7  into a street at 3:00, 4:00 in the morning and try

          8  to take this kid out of that gang, then so be it. My

          9  wife understands that, she is part of my

         10  administration staff. She knows that because of the

         11  cause that we believe in, but once again, we need

         12  the support of the City to see something like this

         13  really take off.

         14                 You know, right now we are also are

         15  part of the Alternative to detention school, which

         16  is ATD. GMA is replicating their success with the

         17  Manhattan ATD program. It is a City facility that

         18  uses probation and teachers to supervise juveniles

         19  while they await judgement in the family court.

         20                 GMA is currently holding classes with

         21  ATD and Gang Member Alternative is presently

         22  interviewing kids to determine their gang

         23  involvement.

         24                 This profiling process will prove to

         25  be invaluable in developing a database of active
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          2  gang members. It also identifies those at risk,

          3  which may be open to being helped and disassociating

          4  themselves from gangs.

          5                 We have the gang counselor that is

          6  there at the school, and what he does is speaks with

          7  each and every kid that comes into that school, and

          8  it is about a 15, 20 minute interview. At that time

          9  the kids are pretty open and tell us if they are

         10  involved with gangs. Because we don't come in as law

         11  enforcement, we come in as civilians, ex-gang

         12  members, and we talk to them and they are pretty

         13  open with us and they will tell us, you know what,

         14  we are involved but I want to get out. Not only with

         15  that, but with the Weeds and Seeds Program, with the

         16  Hida Program, we are looking to get into that, but

         17  because of limited resources and limited money, we

         18  can't actually do that.

         19                 I have been having meeting after

         20  meeting with Chauncy Parker and his staff and he

         21  really agrees with this program. He wants to see

         22  this take place.

         23                 Weeds and Seeds Program has really

         24  done a tremendous job in working with drugs, but now

         25  they know that the problem now is in the gangs. You
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          2  know, a lot of individuals said today that they see

          3  that gangs are not on the uprise. I am in there, I

          4  am in the streets with them, and I see that it is a

          5  definite uprise.

          6                 The reason why a lot of these crimes

          7  are not reported or they are not in the NYPD

          8  intelligence unit, is because it is something that

          9  happens within the gang.

         10                 This kid that had gotten beat down,

         11  is not going to go to the cops and say, hey, I got

         12  beat down by another gang member, so that is why the

         13  statistics are not at high levels like they should

         14  be, because a lot of these crimes are not being

         15  reported because it is done within the gang.

         16                 So, like I said, I want to thank you

         17  guys. There is a lot of other stuff that I can talk

         18  about, but I think pretty much our point to get

         19  across, you know, I wish that other people were here

         20  to see, you know. You know, they said it is merely

         21  here to speak and to take off, and those people that

         22  said that, I don't see them out in the audience

         23  anymore, so I think that is what happened, that they

         24  just wanted to come in and speak. And I don't say

         25  this out of lack of experience, but I have worked
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          2  with those individuals and it sears my heart to hear

          3  people say that, you know, especially when I know

          4  what is happening out there. I know that these kids

          5  are getting killed out there. These kids are getting

          6  hurt because of gangs that don't want to release

          7  them, that they want the full control of these

          8  kids.  And these kids, yes, they are looking for a

          9  family, they are looking for somebody that will

         10  listen to them, and that is what Gang Member

         11  Alternative is in the City.

         12                 So, I hope that you guys would use

         13  this time to really look at this operation that we

         14  are trying to really develop and take off, and like

         15  I said, it worked real well in Los Angeles, where a

         16  lot of these gangs here today are implementing the

         17  gangs in Los Angeles. So, if it worked out there, I

         18  know it can work here.

         19                 Like I said, I know there are other

         20  agencies out there that work with some gang members,

         21  but that is not the whole idea, they don't just work

         22  strictly with gang members. Gang Member Alternative

         23  works strictly with gang members, those that are

         24  youth at risk, those that pretty much have not other

         25  choice but this is where I hope that you guys will
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          2  look at this.

          3                 I have left some of the packets and

          4  information with the City Council members, and I

          5  hope that you guys will look at this and take it to

          6  heart. Because this is a program of the nineties, as

          7  we enter into 2000 this program will actually nip it

          8  in the bud and help these kids actually turn their

          9  lifestyles over. So, if you want more information,

         10  you can reach me at the number that is listed. I

         11  have cards with me, I will leave my cards up on the

         12  table, so this way you can reach me and get a hold

         13  of me.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 MR. BRINN: My name is Ronald Brinn,

         18  Director of Public Affairs, Jamaica Community

         19  Adolescent Programs in Queens, New York.

         20                 I don't know how to follow this

         21  gentleman. His energy and commitment is outstanding.

         22                 Chairman Fisher and members of the

         23  Youth Service oversight committee, I appreciate your

         24  invitation to provide testimony on the gang culture

         25  associated drug and violence issues, and some ways
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          2  that JCAP is working to address some of those

          3  problems.

          4                 First, I have provided the Committee

          5  with copies of my testimony, including a history and

          6  description of JCAP's services, and would ask that

          7  this be included in the transcript or the record of

          8  your hearings. It is this brochure in here.

          9                 I followed your outline and I would

         10  like to just make a few points going right down the

         11  list. In terms of a definition of the problem, from

         12  our perspective being a non-profit organization that

         13  is principally providing substance abuse education

         14  prevention and violence prevention services since

         15  1969 in New York through OASAS and through the New

         16  York City Youth Services Department, we believe that

         17  youth access to alcohol, tobacco, illicit drugs,

         18  guns, gambling and sexual activities and other

         19  at-risk prone activities, and activities that are

         20  being more heavily promoted through mass media,

         21  coupled with the breakdown of family support and

         22  social and community services and supervision, lead

         23  to a constellation which yield the key underlying

         24  risk factors for delinquency, social marginalization

         25  and potential gang involvement.
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          2                 As these activities increase in their

          3  intensity among youth, gang formation and growth

          4  becomes a natural social economic and cultural

          5  response, especially in an environment where there

          6  is a lack of positive and rewarding alternative

          7  mainstream life experiences or connections. Gangs do

          8  provide a culturally sensitive power base for youth

          9  who feel disenfranchised, either through language,

         10  through culture or through educational disadvantage

         11  or racism or any of the other number of real

         12  elements or issues that have been discussed here

         13  today at this hearing.

         14                 His power is very important for us to

         15  understand. For youngsters who feel totally

         16  powerless, and in many cases who have been either

         17  physically, psychologically, sexually or abused in

         18  other ways, in the very early years, there is a

         19  sense of being less than human. There is a

         20  deep-seated feeling that they are not going to be

         21  able to join the ranks of humanity in a mainstream

         22  way, then a natural tendency would be to join a

         23  group where they can be super human, where they can

         24  feel that they are extremely powerful. The problem

         25  with this is that this can exact the ultimate price
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          2  for many youth in terms of their affiliation with

          3  gangs.

          4                 The motivation factor. Gangs provide

          5  troubled youth with immediate social, ethnic and

          6  cultural acceptance. They make youth feel powerful.

          7  They usually place where there is a charismatic

          8  leader, somebody who can show them excitement and

          9  dynamism in every day life, somebody who can show

         10  them that there is no reason to go through a series

         11  of steps in order to achieve the goal or to retain a

         12  reward, the prize can be had immediately.

         13                 Gang membership provides protection

         14  and economic activity and economic opportunity. It

         15  provides a clear sense of identity. It provides a

         16  sense of turf and a sense of purpose. It provides a

         17  clear set of norms, limits, consequences, both

         18  positive and negative for behaviors.

         19                 The gang image is charismatic and it

         20  is universally respected, and I put in parentheses,

         21  feared.

         22                 Links. Drugs and gun trafficking

         23  create a negative synergy within and amongst rival

         24  gangs. In a 1997 U.S. Department of Justice Survey

         25  of State and Federal prison inmates, who committed
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          2  homicides with a gun, over 50 percent reported that

          3  they were under the influence of alcohol or drugs

          4  when they pulled the trigger. Drug and alcohol abuse

          5  drive violent behavior, and the availability of guns

          6  makes quick and final violence possible in the

          7  illegal drug trade.

          8                 Guns and drugs are the hard currency

          9  and chief commodities of gangs. Guns provide the

         10  drug turf, and drugs provide the cash for gun buys

         11  and sales.

         12                 Drugs and guns are powerful

         13  controlling tools to attract and keep youth in gang

         14  membership. Ironically gang conflict are both

         15  created and resolved based on the control of drug

         16  and gun networks and markets.

         17                 Some of the solution. Community-based

         18  therapeutic communities like JCAP provide a

         19  comprehensive array of education, prevention,

         20  treatment, rehabilitation, alternative sanctions

         21  programs, and in our case a Safe Kids Safe Streets

         22  youth initiative, a diversion program that was born

         23  during the Safe Streets initiative of the early

         24  nineties.

         25                 We have a 30-year partnership with
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          2  the juvenile and the criminal justice systems in New

          3  York. The research shows that community-wide

          4  approaches which integrate law enforcement, drug and

          5  alcohol services, schools, public health, and

          6  juvenile justice agencies have the best chance of

          7  reducing gang involvement and related drug abuse and

          8  violence.

          9                 In our case, we are finding more and

         10  more that it is very easy for a 12 or a 13 year old

         11  on a status offense to be caught up in the juvenile

         12  justice system, and once that happens, once they are

         13  on that track, there is almost an over-determination

         14  that they are going to be involved in a crime

         15  career, development of a crime career. Because they

         16  are not going to be in a mainstream educational

         17  system, they are going to be pushed further and

         18  further away from what we call a normal development

         19  track.

         20                 Some of the reports that are coming

         21  out of Washington, from the 1999 national report on

         22  juvenile offenders and victims point to a dramatic

         23  increase in violent crime arrest rates for female,

         24  it has nearly doubled for girls since 1981 and 1997.

         25  I am seeing a trend, as we spoke, of the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            185

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  feminization of poverty in the eighties, we are

          3  seeing the criminalization of females in the

          4  nineties and in the next century.

          5                 Girls seem to be carrying more and

          6  more of the weight for illegal activities as

          7  sanctions against males drop to lower and lower age

          8  limits.

          9                 That is something that we need to

         10  really look at in terms of the setting and achieving

         11  a better balance between punishment and punitive

         12  responses and ameliorative or alternative sanctions.

         13                 One in every three delinquents with a

         14  history of violent offenses has a juvenile court

         15  record before they turn the age of 14. And in our

         16  Safe Streets initiative, which we would love to see

         17  the City replicate, we are working closely with the

         18  113th Precinct in Jamaica, which is a high youth

         19  crime precinct. We identify the kids really early,

         20  and then we engage them in a total rack of services

         21  - education, health, tutoring, leisure, the works,

         22  in an effort to provide an intensive turn-around

         23  experience for them, so that we don't have to deal

         24  with the heroin addict or a violent criminal five

         25  years later or three years later.
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          2                 The sad irony of this is that we are

          3  always coming up with this intensive intervention at

          4  age 14 instead of building in a sustainable set of

          5  services for kids in the City when they are very,

          6  very young.

          7                 I don't believe that the Boys Club or

          8  the Y or the Cubscouts or the Brownies are going to

          9  ever really deal with this problem. But it seems

         10  that at every national and state forum that deals

         11  with youth problems or delinquency or gangs or

         12  troubled youth, there is a cocktail hour and the

         13  Brownies are brought out and everybody applauds

         14  them. I think it is ludicrous.

         15                 We do need to tap into real kids in

         16  the City of New York, and we need to bring them

         17  forward, and we need to ask them to provide us not

         18  with intelligence, not to rat out themselves and

         19  others, but to find meaningful roles for them to

         20  play in our society that can lead them to a

         21  respectful position where they earn a salary, they

         22  have benefits, they have a routine, they wake up in

         23  the morning, they go somewhere, they do something of

         24  value to society, they go home, they watch the ball

         25  game, they go to sleep just like everybody else, and
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          2  we are not doing that. We are not adequately

          3  providing that kind of value system for youth, and

          4  that is why when they take advantage of

          5  opportunities that are presented to them, often that

          6  don't require literacy, don't require any kind of

          7  skill, it is just take this package around the

          8  corner, or come down south with me on a ride on a

          9  Greyhound bus. Carry this green bag, don't ask

         10  questions just do what I say. The kids are going to

         11  go for it, because when they turn to the right side,

         12  there is nothing there. If they turn to the wrong

         13  side, there is too much opportunity.

         14                 So, we have got a lot of work to do.

         15  And I agree with most of the people who made

         16  testimony to the effect that we are hyping the gang,

         17  we are hyping gangs. I mean, I just testified before

         18  Senator Goodman's oversight hearings just recently,

         19  and I was also very, very apprehensive about the

         20  concept of, you know, doing this neon sign about

         21  gangs. Because you can promote the fear, and you can

         22  inadvertently throw gasoline on the fire of fear,

         23  and politicize an issue, and then it is

         24  exponentially worse.

         25                 I would just, you know, I am a
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          2  dreamer like a lot of people in this field, and I

          3  know that there is a lot of City real estate that is

          4  vacant who are underutilized, and I have this vision

          5  of opening up these spaces for a whole variety of

          6  educational, cultural and other opportunities for

          7  youth in this City. Going way beyond ping-pong,

          8  going way beyond the Boys Club concept, and planting

          9  the seeds for real mainstream youth activity that

         10  leads to employment, gainful employment, I don't

         11  care if it is the web, creating web sites, I mean it

         12  doesn't matter. But we have to validate youth. And

         13  it is much easier to label and incarcerate youth

         14  than it is to really think about ways to create

         15  opportunities for youth.

         16                 At JCAP we are trying to do that, and

         17  we are networking with all of the other

         18  youth-serving organizations to accomplish that, and

         19  I think at that point, I just want to end with this

         20  quote: We need to nurture the personal strengths of

         21  children and adolescents so they can resolve

         22  problems without resorting to violence, alcohol,

         23  drugs and suicides. We must enter the 21st century

         24  using the knowledge we have to promote healthy

         25  development among children, and provide prevention
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          2  and treatment services for them. And that is from

          3  Donna Chavalia, an HHS secretary.

          4                 Thank you very much for the

          5  opportunity to appear before the Committee and

          6  present this testimony.

          7                 MR. MANNIEL: After all of this, I

          8  don't know what to say. I mean, they have all of the

          9  solutions. The DA offices have the solution, the

         10  feds have the solution, the Police Department has

         11  the solution, why are we sitting here? And if the

         12  feds and the Police Department, and I am a retired

         13  police officer, have, you know, all of these

         14  programs, why ain't it working in LA? And why are

         15  people who had organizations in LA sitting in New

         16  York right now? Because there are over 140,000 gang

         17  members in LA, and I live the life, and I am the guy

         18  that took the gangs off the streets in New York, and

         19  let me see, I now have 38 of them are police

         20  officers, one of them is a fireman, I have systems

         21  analysts, I mean I took gangs right off the streets.

         22  Do you know how I did it? I sat down with them one

         23  on one. I took them for dinner, pizza and a movie. I

         24  sat there and talked. You can't put a group of kids

         25  in a room and brainwash them. Those that want to be
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          2  gangsters will be gangsters, and those that want to

          3  go to the Boys Club and eat brownies, they will do

          4  it. But what you have to do, as we sat here today, I

          5  will bet that Latin Kings, Netas, Bloods, Crypts,

          6  Five Percenters are right now in all our junior high

          7  schools recruiting, and I will bet on that and

          8  nobody is going to tell me different, because I can

          9  prove that too. They are recruiting.

         10                 Last month, I had a woman call me up

         11  saying you got to help me, you got to help me, you

         12  got to help me. They recruited her 12-year-old kid,

         13  the Latin Kings were not a gang, they were not a

         14  gang, they are just an antisocial organization.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: And they don't

         16  allow anyone under 16 and over 16 you have to --

         17                 MR. MANNIEL: Dewey Junior High School

         18  in Brooklyn. Taking a 12-year-old kid, for some

         19  reason he decides what am I doing and he wants out.

         20  The only way out is death? So, now mamma says I got

         21  to send my kid to Puerto Rico to keep him alive.

         22                 But I sort of had a talk with some of

         23  the, I think they were third string Latin kings, and

         24  they sort of decided that it would be in their best

         25  interest not to kill this kid. Because then I am
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          2  retired, so I am even worse than I was when I was a

          3  cop. But me personally, I travel one on one with the

          4  kids, well I ran martial arts schools, I still do, I

          5  throw in there, they get discipline, they get

          6  respect, they learn to fight, they go to

          7  tournaments, they win trophies, they love it. I

          8  think I salvage maybe, I have just a rough estimate,

          9  2000 kids. I have 65 God children because of my

         10  activities, and they are all Hispanic, black. As a

         11  matter of fact, I don't have any white ones. Just

         12  you know, everybody here is. And out of 65, I told

         13  you 38 of them are New York City cops. And some of

         14  them are Port Authority cops, some of them are DEA

         15  guys and some of them were ATF, two of them are sky

         16  martials, they are all in law enforcement. It seems

         17  like they mimic me. They are also high ranking black

         18  belts.

         19                 Now, my answer to the Police

         20  Department, with 35 men in each borough, that is a

         21  crock. When we had a gang task force in the

         22  seventies and eighties, there was one man in

         23  headquarters, a Sergeant Gallia, there were one in

         24  each borough. All they did was compile information,

         25  and the way they did it was every cop brought in an
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          2  arrest, if this was a gang-related arrest, then the

          3  youth officer, you know, he wrote it all down and

          4  you sent it forward to headquarters. That was then.

          5  Now they have databases, this and this, I see

          6  computers, that is not going to work. You can't

          7  compile all, everybody here, I don't know what they

          8  want to do, I don't know, everybody has the same

          9  role. Most people want to cater to the gangs, most

         10  people want to start the gangs. I say stop the kids

         11  from getting into the gangs. I say don't compile all

         12  of the data in the world and then when a crime is

         13  committed, say, well, according to our data that

         14  must have been Latin Kings, this guy, and go lock

         15  him up. Stop it before the crime happens.

         16                 So, I am actually saying, my

         17  Department is wrong, always has been wrong. Sweeps

         18  it under the rug, make sure nobody is looking and

         19  vacuums it out with a Dare Devil, or whatever them

         20  vacuum cleaners is. The way to do it is they should

         21  put four men in every precinct. Four men, assigned

         22  specifically to street gangs.

         23                 They should go out into the field,

         24  they should sit in clubhouses, they should take

         25  these guys for pizza and soda. They should talk to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            193

          1  COMMITTEE ON YOUTH SERVICES

          2  the kids, and when they are not doing anything

          3  during the day, they should go to the school, but

          4  not in classrooms, to have kids on the corner joke

          5  around with this with them, and get them together on

          6  one on one.

          7                 And they will find out and that may

          8  be the way to stop it. You can't -- there is nothing

          9  you can do about the gang members you have now. They

         10  are either going to die or quit on their own. If you

         11  can stop these young kids, and I am telling you, 12

         12  and 11 year olds, if you can get to them, stop them,

         13  then the gangs will peter out. I took 14 street

         14  gangs off the street of the 72 and the 68. I did it

         15  alone, with no other help of the Department, it was

         16  lucky that the chief at the time was chief Johnson,

         17  and he backed me up and he told my bosses to leave

         18  me alone, and I did it.

         19                 I finally got the neighborhood to be

         20  un-frightened of them so they started testifying

         21  against them when they saw them commit a crime. And

         22  the rest of the gang said wow. If the neighborhood

         23  is going to see what we do and testify, and they

         24  broke up.

         25                 Once I put eight Latinos in jail for
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          2  killing an eight-year-old kid. And the neighborhood

          3  went in and testified, the other gangs said this is

          4  not good.

          5                 Now, to make a long story short, I

          6  have no papers here, I am talking from my head, my

          7  experience and from my heart. I am not talking from

          8  papers, I am talking from memory, from what I lived

          9  through and from what I did.

         10                 I think this City maybe should set up

         11  programs to talk to the parents of the kids, because

         12  I think most kids that join gangs, unless they are

         13  forced into it, come from stepfather/mother no

         14  father/mother, have no family life. So, when I join

         15  a gang I have a family. Now you don't screw with me

         16  because my brother will back me up. There are a lot

         17  of gang members, if you really infiltrated the

         18  gangs, I don't know how deep these other

         19  organizations infiltrated gangs, who will not commit

         20  the crime.

         21                 You have every gang you have, this

         22  guy will take a car, this guy will slash somebody,

         23  this guy will do a murder, but these two guys they

         24  just hang out, they don't want nothing to do with

         25  the crime, they just want the gang back-up.
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          2                 You can sit and talk to street gangs

          3  and they stand there, yeah, man, and bro and this,

          4  and they talk and then take the same kid alone, away

          5  from the environment, then he drops his whole

          6  facade, he becomes a normal kid.

          7                 I think you got to get to the kid

          8  when he is young, but you got to get to the parents,

          9  because people say parents are concerned. I have

         10  seen gang members, the parents are very concerned.

         11  The mother knows she is in a gang but she don't care

         12  because she is bringing home money every night, or

         13  she don't have to buy his clothes and his MC boots

         14  and stuff like that. So they sort of overlook it

         15  until the kid gets in trouble or killed. I have seen

         16  many, many kids killed. But I have pulled gang

         17  members out of gangs, and made them full contact

         18  kick boxes, who have the United States kick boxing

         19  titles and are earning $20,000 a fight in the kick

         20  boxing world. Like Robert Bang Bang Pagon, I took

         21  him right out of Mosateros. I seen him in a street

         22  fight in front of school one day, I walked over to

         23  him, I was in uniform. I said, man, you're a good

         24  fighter, I would like to get you in my karate

         25  school, I will train you. Bang. He is now a United
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          2  States weight and kick boxing champion for the PKA.

          3  He gets $20,000 a fight, he has also become a born

          4  again Christian and he is studying to be a pastor,

          5  and he fights.

          6                 So, you know, I can't go by books and

          7  what Washington says and what the feds say, and I

          8  can only go by my own experience. What I did worked,

          9  my way worked, I got out into the field. I spoke to

         10  parents, I spoke to kids, I put kids into Karate

         11  school. I took seven, eight kids every weekend to

         12  movies, out to eat Chinese food, pizza, it works.

         13  That is the way to do it.

         14                 One on one, you can't get a classroom

         15  full of kids and put some cop in there, or some

         16  social worker who is going to tell us don't join

         17  street gangs, it is not going to work, not with my

         18  experience.

         19                 You got to get them separately. You

         20  got to get into each kid's head, if you can get a

         21  group of seven and get to their heads, maybe ten,

         22  but when you start trying to brainwash a class, it

         23  ain't going to work. Because they sit there looking

         24  at you just like the school teacher, if I want to

         25  learn that math today I will learn it, and if I
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          2  don't, I won't. And the kid that wants to join a

          3  street gang isn't going to pay attention, he is

          4  going to go, yes, smile. You know, I don't know all

          5  of these people with experience with street gangs,

          6  but street gangs are great manipulators, and nobody

          7  is going to tell me that Kintone and the Latin Kings

          8  are not a street gang and that they didn't shoot

          9  that police captain in the Bronx and all of that. I

         10  dealt with Latin Kings, there are Latin Kings right

         11  now on 57th Street, 57th Avenue, there is a whole

         12  fraction of them. But they are going to be run out

         13  in a little while, because the LaFamilia is back in

         14  business, and that is another thing. They tell you,

         15  11,000 gang members for that one borough, is that in

         16  one borough? Or are they talking the Latin Kings,

         17  Netas, Crypts and Bloods?

         18                 What about Popichulo (phonetic), what

         19  about the United to the Crown, what about all of the

         20  little splinter gangs and all of those Mexican

         21  gangs, there are 12 of them in Sunset Park. Add that

         22  up. Add that up and maybe you have about another 250

         23  gang members, the Department is not feeding into

         24  that because there are only 12 to 18 members. They

         25  are doing more crime than the Latin Kings in all of
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          2  the big groups. Because they are splitting it out

          3  doing it. See I did it, I did it for years, I am

          4  retired for years. People call me, the Department

          5  calls me, you have one good guy in the Police

          6  Department that really knows his onions, and that is

          7  Sergeant Servelli. I sat down and talked to this guy

          8  one day and I said, wow, he is doing what I do. He

          9  knows them, he is smart, you know, this is the guy

         10  you should talk to, don't talk to the three starts,

         11  and the two stars and the deputy commissioner, talk

         12  to the sergeant, talk to the cop on the street that

         13  deals with the kid, but suggest to the Department

         14  maybe four cops in each precinct, doing like two of

         15  them doing four to 12s and the others overlapping,

         16  maybe doing like three to ten to three in the

         17  morning. And I found street gangs cannot take

         18  constant supervision. They hate it. They hate it

         19  when they think that every time they are going to

         20  turn around like this there is a cop there. They

         21  hate it. They despise it. They can't take

         22  harassment. They quit the gangs, they get nervous.

         23  And real quick, because I don't want to be boring

         24  like some of the stuff I heard today, I am not

         25  offending anybody, but there was some boring stuff
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          2  going on down here today, it was coming from my old

          3  job, too. I had a tip. Somebody said tonight

          4  Familial is going to roll on the Assassinators, the

          5  Assassinators are going to put their guns up on the

          6  roof, there is going to be a bust down and we are

          7  going to have bodies all over the street.

          8                 I said, man, why -- and you must

          9  understand, I didn't just do an eight-hour job,

         10  whenever the gangs rolled, I was there. Sometimes I

         11  work 52 hours without ever going home, never charged

         12  this Department overtime either. But I said I got a

         13  wedding tonight, how do I stop this? And I said I

         14  got them, because they were paranoid of me. I got in

         15  my car, I dressed all in black, because they knew

         16  when I was in black, that means I was out on the

         17  prowl, somebody was going to get caught, locked up,

         18  or even hurt.

         19                 I parked my car. I got out of my car,

         20  they looked at me, I said I am going out over the

         21  rooftop, I got a little tip something is going down

         22  tonight, I am going to be around, watch my car.

         23  Anything happens to my car, you two guys have had

         24  it.

         25                 Somebody picked me up around the
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          2  corner, I went home, got dressed and went to a

          3  wedding.

          4                 I came back three something in the

          5  morning, they were watching my car. The rumble never

          6  went down, the shoot-out never went down, they were

          7  watching my car. They even told me, nobody touched

          8  the car, John, but where were you? I was at a

          9  wedding. You were what? I was at a wedding. I left

         10  the car here because I heard you guys were going to

         11  roll up on each other and we were going to have some

         12  bodies on the streets, I figured -- and it worked.

         13  They can't take supervision. They can't take

         14  harassment, and they do like to be talked to. And

         15  they do like to be treated with some respect.

         16                 You talk to these kids, you give them

         17  a little respect, then you show them, I was a cop,

         18  why am I Godfather to 65 Hispanics and blacks? I was

         19  a cop, I wore a blue uniform, I am supposed to be

         20  the bad guy. I locked up gang members, bad guys like

         21  crazy. The community loved me, the people loved me.

         22  Gang members come out of jail and walk into my

         23  karate school now, hey, John, man, it's good to see

         24  you. I said I thought you were going to kill me?

         25  They said, when I get out of jail I'm going to off
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          2  John, the cop. Now you are coming to me and you want

          3  a job. They want me to hook them up with a job.

          4                 So, I hooked one guy, LaFamilia's

          5  ex-leader up with a job with Coke, I had a few

          6  connections, I made a few calls. But the thing is, I

          7  am not looking for anything from anybody, and I

          8  bought kids sneakers, I bought kids shirts, I bought

          9  kids bicycles, I took it out of my own pocket. I had

         10  other cops say, what are you doing, why are you

         11  taking this kid to a store and buying him a pair of

         12  sneakers, two pair of pants and two shirts? I said

         13  what do you care, it's coming out of my pocket, not

         14  yours. But that same kid that was wearing a size

         15  four shoe on a size eight foot was swelled up like

         16  this, had, was living with an aunt, his mother and

         17  father passed away. If my feet were like that, I

         18  would be rebelling against things. So, I took him

         19  out and bought him things. That same kid who spoke

         20  not too good English, ended up in my prison every

         21  morning, buying me coffee and donuts, waiting for

         22  me.

         23                 And you want to hear the greatest

         24  thing in the world? That kid today is a cop in the

         25  78 Precinct.
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          2                 Now, here is a kid that I was

          3  supposed to go and pick him up and escort him to

          4  Spofford, and by the time I spoke to the

          5  complainant, to the people and with the shoes, the

          6  kid is now a cop in the 78, and probably a damn good

          7  cop, because everybody that I turned out through the

          8  karate school, and all of my guys that became cops,

          9  they are emulating me. And I hope and pray they are

         10  doing what I do.

         11                 You must have one black belt cop in

         12  every precinct. You can't have a precinct that

         13  hasn't got a cop that is a black belt. Why can't

         14  this cop start a little karate program? And the

         15  martial arts discipline, it gives them confidence.

         16  You can keep a lot of kids out of the gangs by doing

         17  that and you give them a family within the martial

         18  arts. And it is not an expensive program, because if

         19  the cop wants to get paid for it, then he is a

         20  moran, he should do it for nothing and get himself

         21  some good students. My best students were my

         22  freebees, and I turned out plenty of freebees. But

         23  with street gangs, I think they lack home life, I

         24  think they lack affection, and if you give it to

         25  them, or if I give it to them, a cop in uniform or
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          2  out of uniform, if you give them as a City Council

          3  member, they are going to relate to it, and I have

          4  proved it. And I have no paperwork, no books, no fax

          5  from Washington, no videotapes from the DA's office.

          6  I have it all here and I can prove it. Because I

          7  have a movie being written on my life and a TV

          8  series in the works.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Good.

         10                 MR. MANNIEL: And it is 15 years later

         11  and I didn't even ask for it, it just came out of

         12  nowhere.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: We will follow up

         14  and pick your brains on this. This is the beginning

         15  of our conversation, not the end. Thank you very

         16  much for your testimony.

         17                 MR. MANNIEL: Good. But I seriously

         18  think you should try the martial arts thing in the

         19  precinct. And one more quick thing. Three-hundred

         20  cops are mentoring kids, 300 out of what, 40,000?

         21  Bad figures. The Department shouldn't have even

         22  thrown that up at you.

         23                 Tell me 20,000 cops are mentoring

         24  kids, and I would be happy.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 MR. MANNIEL: Sorry if I bored

          4  anybody.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: No, no. It was

          6  very insightful testimony.

          7                 MR. MANNIEL: And if I offended

          8  anybody, but I have to speak my mind.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you.

         10                 Carl.

         11                 MR. SICILIANO: Thank you. I am Carl

         12  Siciliano. I am Director of Homeless Youth Services

         13  with the Center for Children and Families.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: The last time you

         15  testified here you were also the last witness,

         16  although we have one more to go after you, but I do

         17  want you to know that I just recently recounted your

         18  testimony in some detail for Commissioner Mitchell.

         19  So, just because it is the end of the day, I don't

         20  want you to think that people aren't listening.

         21                 MR. SICILIANO: Okay, well I am happy

         22  to hear that.

         23                 In talking about gang issues, I am

         24  going to limit my comments to issues that relate to

         25  homeless youth, since that is my area of expertise.
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          2                 I have worked with homeless youth in

          3  New York City for five years. When I first started

          4  working with homeless youth there were a lot of

          5  issues that we saw around the Latin Kings and the

          6  Netas. In the last two years the issues have

          7  revolved more around the Bloods and the Crypts. I

          8  have been disturbed in the last year, particularly

          9  over the last six months, at an escalating level of

         10  violence that I have seen in and around my program

         11  relating to gang membership.

         12                 Particularly disturbing this past

         13  summer, a group of Bloods kind of ensconced

         14  themselves on the street where we run our services,

         15  because they saw homeless youth as being

         16  particularly vulnerable to them. They would rob from

         17  them, steal from them and intimidate them into

         18  joining the Bloods. It was a very disturbing process

         19  for us. Our staff attempted to intervene with the

         20  Bloods and asked them to stop beating up our kids.

         21  They responded by threatening to kill us and

         22  threatening to burn our building down.

         23                 I spent a lot of time at the local

         24  police precinct trying to get a response from the

         25  police. They were kind of handicapped in their
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          2  response because the youth who were beaten and

          3  harassed they said had to be the ones who made the

          4  complaint, but the youths themselves were terrified

          5  of gang members and were very intimidated about

          6  making those kind of complaints.

          7                 During a seven-month period there

          8  were a number of beatings on the street. One day a

          9  gang of Bloods converged on one of my clients and

         10  beat him with wooden clubs, knives were pulled on a

         11  number of our clients. You know, it was very

         12  disturbing and it was clear to me that the Bloods

         13  and the Crypts were making major in-roads in the

         14  City and it is also clear to me that youth who are

         15  very vulnerable that don't feel protected by

         16  society, who don't have a strong family structure

         17  are particularly vulnerable to the gangs. It is very

         18  seductive to feel that there is a group of people

         19  who are going to be looking out for you all the

         20  time. A homeless kid who is on the street is

         21  probably as scared and as vulnerable as anybody in

         22  the City. So, in addressing preventing gang

         23  membership and in looking at why young people want

         24  to join, I think if some focus is given to homeless

         25  youth, it would really help prevent a population
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          2  that is very vulnerable to gang membership to

          3  getting inducted into gangs.

          4                 And, so, I am going to go back to

          5  just the old stuff, you know, there are less than

          6  400 beds for kids in New York City, it is estimated

          7  that there are 15,000 to 20,000 homeless kids on the

          8  streets of our City. We need to have a census. We

          9  don't know how many kids there really are. Without

         10  proof of how many kids there are on the streets, we

         11  are not going to be able to get the resources to

         12  develop appropriate services.

         13                 I think that at Safe Space, which is

         14  one of the programs that I run, we have developed a

         15  model of sheltering the young people that is very

         16  effective. Instead of putting them in large

         17  institutional settings, we are renting apartments,

         18  and putting six kids in each apartment. And in doing

         19  so we are kind of creating a family-like environment

         20  for the young people with the staff and the youth

         21  and the small groupings.

         22                 I do believe that that is a very

         23  effective remedy to gang membership. The youth join

         24  gangs because they feel like they are going to be

         25  given a family. They feel like they are going to
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          2  have people who care about them and look out for

          3  them.

          4                 Looking at our institutions that care

          5  for vulnerable youth, I think we have to look not at

          6  just saying don't join gangs, we have to look at how

          7  can we offer the services in a way that gives them

          8  the good thing that they get from the gang.

          9                 A really serious issue, though, in

         10  working with homeless youth is obviously there

         11  aren't enough resources to meet this population.

         12                 There is a second recommendation that

         13  I would like to suggest, in terms of pulling

         14  together resources.

         15                 Tens of millions of dollars for

         16  homeless and runaway youth come into New York State

         17  every year from the federal government, the federal

         18  RHY monies. The state decides how to divvy up those

         19  monies. And the way that the state currently divvies

         20  up those monies is each county gets the same amount

         21  of money. So, New York City which probably has 80

         22  percent of the homeless youth in New York State,

         23  gets the same amount of money like up in Rochester.

         24  It is a catastrophe. It is a catastrophe. And if the

         25  money was distributed equitably, we could have ten
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          2  times the amount of money in New York City to

          3  develop appropriate programs for homeless youth, so

          4  that they don't have to be lured into gangs.

          5                 So, I would really ask that the

          6  Council look at that issue and look at how to bring

          7  more resources.

          8                 Thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you very

         10  much.

         11                 Our last witness, who I guess has

         12  gotten an ear full today, and that is the Division

         13  of School Safety.

         14                 No, you are not testify? Who is

         15  testifying for -- oh, there you are. Come on up, and

         16  thank you for your patience.

         17                 DR. MARGOLIES: Board of Education,

         18  Division of Student Safety.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: We are running a

         20  bit over schedule and the Speaker has an event

         21  planned. Are there other people that are going to be

         22  testifying who signed up to testify who are still

         23  here? If you are, come up to the panel, because we

         24  want to hear you. I apologize for that, but thank

         25  you very much for coming. Just get in touch with our
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          2  counsel, we will make sure we get your testimony

          3  into the record, if you want, and we will follow up

          4  on the conversation.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 Thank you very much. If you could

          7  proceed with your testimony. You have heard a lot

          8  today. A lot of people have been talking about what

          9  is going on in the schools, so maybe you can tell us

         10  --

         11                 MR. THOMAS:  Yes, we are happy to

         12  tell you at the end of the --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you. Just

         14  identify yourself for the record.

         15                 MR. THOMAS: Gregory Thomas, Executive

         16  Director of the Division of Student Safety and

         17  Prevention Services, for the New York City Board of

         18  Education.

         19                 DR. MARGOLIES: Dr. Enid Margolies,

         20  Director of Educational Safety Development and

         21  Support for the New York City Board of Education.

         22                 MR. THOMAS: Good afternoon, honorable

         23  members of the Council. On behalf of the Chancellor,

         24  Rudolf Crew, and the members of the New York City

         25  Board of Education, I would like to thank you for
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          2  the opportunity to provide testimony to this

          3  Committee on the topic that is of concern to

          4  educators nationwide - the involvement of our youth

          5  in gang activity.

          6                 I am joined today by a key member of

          7  my staff, Dr. Enid Margolies, who will testify about

          8  her experiences with youth in our city who have been

          9  exposed to gang culture, as well as the successful

         10  programs that the Board of Education offers to

         11  student and community groups Citywide to prevent

         12  gang presence and the unfortunate violence that is

         13  often associated with it.

         14                 School districts across our nation

         15  face the challenge of addressing this issue on a

         16  larger scale than we do here in New York City. Some

         17  cities are presented with gangs that have survived

         18  generations, designated streets and neighborhoods as

         19  their turf, and have attempted to designate

         20  neighboring schools of their turf as well.

         21                 We are fortunate not to battle issues

         22  on this scale, however we are faced with

         23  school-based incidents that raise concerns about the

         24  choices that our children are making to resolve

         25  conflict.
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          2                 The topic of your hearing today

          3  focuses on the reasons why kids are joining gangs.

          4  While there are varying reasons why our youth are

          5  choosing to become a part of this destructive

          6  culture, most often they join because gang

          7  membership provides the attention, affirmation, and

          8  protection that they are lacking elsewhere.

          9                 Anyone, male or female, from a

         10  wealthy or low-income bracket can be recruited to

         11  join a gang.

         12                 Experts note that gangs tend to

         13  flourish in areas where social and economic

         14  conditions offer our young people a bleak future.

         15                 Teen gang members typically have weak

         16  ties to their families, to their schools and their

         17  communities.

         18                 To provide our youth with positive

         19  alternative activities, you must fill the gap that

         20  gang membership provides for them. It is important

         21  that our youth are offered safe havens after school

         22  to provide areas for positive social activities. Our

         23  children are most vulnerable during the afternoon

         24  hours of 3:00 to 7:00, because that typically is the

         25  time when there is the least amount of adult
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          2  supervision.

          3                 Chancellor Crew has recognized the

          4  need to address this void and has worked to extend

          5  the platform for learning by offering more after

          6  school programs in our schools.

          7                 In addition, we must educate our

          8  children about the dangers of gang membership and

          9  the long and short-term consequences related to it.

         10                 We have worked hard at the Board of

         11  Education to provide students, staff and parents

         12  with workshops that focus on the warning signs of

         13  gang activity, as well as the alternatives available

         14  to avoid becoming a part of its culture.

         15                 While we have noted pockets of areas

         16  in our city where incidents in intelligence indicate

         17  problems with gang activity, I will be careful to

         18  note that this presence is far from a level of

         19  crisis proportion.

         20                 The Chancellor and the Board of

         21  Education have acknowledged its presence, and we

         22  have to take a number of measures to reduce its

         23  existence.

         24                 After increased level of public

         25  concern around gang activity in the beginning of the
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          2  1997/1998 school year, Chancellor Crew issued a

          3  memorandum for all school personnel, reminding them

          4  of our zero tolerance policy for violence and

          5  gang-related activity in our schools.

          6                 This memorandum provided

          7  administrators with a list of the recognized

          8  indicators of potential gang activity and the

          9  resources available within the Board and from our

         10  partners in education that can provide support and

         11  guidance if gang presence is suspected.

         12                 To date our analysis indicates that

         13  our steadfast efforts in collaboration with the New

         14  York City Police Department and other stakeholders

         15  to reduce the presence of gangs are paying off.

         16                 In December of last year, the Board

         17  of Education and the City of New York worked

         18  together to transfer the function of school safety

         19  and security to the New York City Police Department.

         20                 One of the intended goals of this

         21  transfer was to provide a wider spectrum of care for

         22  our students during their school day.

         23                 In particular, this partnership with

         24  the NYPD has allowed us to share

         25  intelligence-related events that occur during the
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          2  school day that are presumed to be related.

          3                 In addition, this transfer allows us

          4  to provide an increased level of protection for our

          5  children as they travel to and from school.

          6                 School administrators and

          7  community-based organizations are encouraged to

          8  communicate our safety concerns to the NYPD School

          9  Safety Division and/or the neighborhood precincts to

         10  ensure attention is focused on the areas where our

         11  children travel and congregate, like school bus

         12  stops and subway stations.

         13                 In addition to these efforts,

         14  guidance counselors and other members of the school

         15  community are trained by staff and the Board's

         16  division of student support services in the areas of

         17  conflict resolution and anger management to provide

         18  our children with meaningful alternatives to

         19  violence.

         20                 We also are fortunate to work closely

         21  with the NYPD in an effort that has been extremely

         22  successful in reducing the number of children who

         23  are in gangs and increasing the number of children

         24  who choose not to join gangs.

         25                 At this time I would like to ask Dr.
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          2  Margolies to elaborate further on this unique

          3  program.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 DR. MARGOLIES: Yes, I am glad for the

          6  opportunity. We heard a lot of people talking about

          7  what is going on with youth, and not too many people

          8  have really listened to what we have had to say and

          9  what we are doing in the school system. So, I thank

         10  you for your time.

         11                 As an educator, counselor and an

         12  administrator, my focus has been on violence

         13  prevention.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Let me interrupt,

         15  only because the Speaker is going to -- we don't

         16  want to interfere with the next program. Can I ask

         17  you if you would summarize your testimony and to

         18  provide us with a copy and we will spread it in full

         19  on the record, and then what I would like to do is,

         20  I have some questions for both of you, but I would

         21  like to do those off-line so that we can let them

         22  have the use of the room.

         23                 I don't mean to give you short shrift

         24  and I don't want you to misunderstand it, but what i

         25  would like is if you could summarize your testimony,
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          2  we will put the full testimony in the record, and

          3  then I will have some questions that I would like to

          4  discuss with you afterwards.

          5                 DR. MARGOLIES: I will be happy to do

          6  that.

          7                 We have a program with strategies of

          8  training, training guidance counselors and support

          9  staff in the school to recognize and prevent

         10  violence problems.

         11                 We talk to them about dealing with

         12  the behavior of the youngsters and not so much the

         13  gang affiliation. We know, as you have heard today,

         14  that when you talk about gang, youngsters will close

         15  their ears to it, so we talk about behaviors.

         16                 But we do have a program where we do

         17  go in the classroom that is effective, with safety

         18  agents who are now working for NYPD, who go into the

         19  classroom and meet with the youth, and what we do

         20  goes beyond the Great Program. It deals with the

         21  gang issue head on, what is the myth that the young

         22  person is joining the gang for many reasons. One is

         23  they will tell you for protection. What we do is we

         24  talk to the youngsters that they say they are

         25  joining for protection, protection from who? You
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          2  have to be beaten up to go into a gang, so we

          3  dispelled the myth.

          4                 You also now have a lot of enemies,

          5  so you want to be protected from one person, you now

          6  have to be protected from a lot of people, and we go

          7  through all of those myths.

          8                 What I wanted to do was to answer a

          9  couple of the questions that you and some of your

         10  Council Members had raised before, in terms of

         11  youngsters under the age of 16. We do have gang

         12  members or we will use the word gang groups under

         13  the age of 16 that are generally school-related and

         14  turf related. The phenomenon of gang has become the

         15  persona that youngsters want to take on. So, what

         16  might have been a bullying group, is now going to be

         17  a youth gang in school.

         18                 Those would not be in your statistics

         19  that NYPD would collect.

         20                 Female violence nationally, female

         21  violence is up by 26 percent over the last six

         22  years, whereas male violence crimes are up over 11

         23  percent over the last six years.

         24                 So, we are seeing an increase in

         25  violence among our females.
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          2                 We do know that females are joining

          3  youth gangs, not only as members but also as

          4  leaders. We do have females that are splintering off

          5  into their own gang groups, as well, that are not

          6  affiliated with the male. As we predominantly see

          7  that among eastern Asian groups, that is where it

          8  started, from LA, and it has slowly moved its way to

          9  us.

         10                 Some of your other questions,

         11  indicators for parents, we have a parent program. We

         12  do go out, we meet with parents, we meet with

         13  community groups, we are out there all the time, in

         14  the churches, any group that asks us for our

         15  assistance, we come out, we do presentations for

         16  them on looking at the graffiti, how to look at a

         17  child's notebook, what is the symbol, what is the

         18  behavior that is going along with it. Is your

         19  children bringing home more money than you are

         20  sending him to school with. So those are some of the

         21  indicators.

         22                 We also reach out to -- one of the

         23  questions was about if, for example, Far Rockaway

         24  and you know something has occurred at that school,

         25  do you let them know? Yes.
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          2                 In the testimony you will see on one

          3  of the pages we do have what we do, if we have

          4  information, and now working with NYPD we do get a

          5  lot more information as to what occurred on the

          6  weekend. We make a phone call on the following

          7  Monday, and we let the principal know or the

          8  Assistant Principal designated, what has gone on so

          9  that they can keep an eye out.

         10                 We also work with the NYPD school

         11  safety agent who will go out and keep an extra eye

         12  on that particular school to what might occur and to

         13  prevent anything further from occurring.

         14                 We do a lot of training of staff so

         15  that when we leave a school we have several

         16  approaches. We meet with the general staff, we do an

         17  intensive training with the support staff, we meet

         18  with the parents and then we go into the classroom.

         19  So that there is somebody there who can then work

         20  with the youngsters. When we are in the classrooms,

         21  when we leave a classroom, youngsters are given

         22  telephone numbers where they can call for

         23  assistance. When we leave on a typical classroom, we

         24  usually find at least one-third of the youngsters

         25  want to talk further.
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          2                 We are successful at getting

          3  youngsters out of gangs. We do that through a

          4  phase-out program, where we look at the need that

          5  the gang is fulfilling in that young person, not a

          6  global need, but what is specific to that young

          7  person and then phasing the young person out by

          8  finding positive adults to fill that need in another

          9  way.

         10                 We do have collaborative programs. We

         11  are working with Corrections, we are working with

         12  the Brooklyn DA's office and we are trying to look

         13  at some of the issues that are not being covered,

         14  and I just wanted to get these suggestions in.

         15                 In order to further our goals, we

         16  feel that additional funding is needed for after

         17  school recreation and tutorial programs, job

         18  training, career programs, internships and mentoring

         19  programs.

         20                 Emphasis needs to be placed on early

         21  intervention for siblings and children of gang

         22  members, including teen parenting programs, which

         23  leads me also to the fact that we do -- I was at

         24  Brookdale Hospital recently and we saw a young man

         25  with a red bandana waiting to put on his new born
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          2  baby, so we do have the born-in youngsters.

          3                 Increased juvenile diversion programs

          4  need to be put in place. Individual and group

          5  counseling for incarcerated youth made mandatory.

          6  While our youngsters are in the division of children

          7  services, they are not receiving counseling. It is

          8  not a mandatory piece of their incarceration.

          9                 School transition programs for

         10  returning youth must be established because when

         11  they are coming out they are going into the lower

         12  grades to try to become the new gang leader.

         13                 We must also pay attention to the

         14  youngsters in foster care. That is a growing group

         15  that is in dire need of assistance. So I thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Two quick

         17  questions.

         18                 One is, is gang activity increasing,

         19  staying the same or decreasing?

         20                 And secondly, is it fair to say that

         21  these adult gangs are actively trying to recruit in

         22  the schools?

         23                 MR. THOMAS: Well, I think in the

         24  school level we are trying to focus, as the doctor

         25  said, on the behaviors. So we are not going to allow
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          2  the behavior that is happening in school that is

          3  deviant behavior to be classified as gang behavior.

          4  We are telling them you are here to be educated, and

          5  we clearly ban anything like bandanas or things like

          6  that that would be warning signs or the ways to

          7  provide signage for other people in the schools.

          8                 So, to try to quantify whether

          9  anything is happening there, we are confident and we

         10  are working diligently every day to make sure the

         11  kids are not involved in gang activity.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you very

         13  much, I appreciate it.

         14                 DR. MARGOLIES: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Do we have a copy

         16  of your full testimony?

         17                 DR. MARGOLIES: Yes, but not with all

         18  of the questions that were asked.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Okay, thank you

         20  very much. Thank you for your patience.

         21                 We are adjourned.

         22                 (The following written testimony was

         23  included in the record.)

         24

         25  Testimony of:
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          2  Enid F. Margolies, Ph.D

          3  Director of Educational

          4  Safety Development and Services

          5  NYC Board of Education

          6

          7                 Good afternoon. As an educator,

          8  counselor, and administrator, my focus is on the

          9  prevention/resistance and intervention/renouncement

         10  strategies for anti-gang affiliation and violence

         11  amongst our youth.

         12                 In 1995, as the Director of Pupil

         13  Personnel Guidance Services for the City's public

         14  high schools, I was charged by the Chancellor to

         15  convene a committee of educators, law enforcement

         16  personnel, and community-based organizers. Which has

         17  since become the Chancellor's Advisory Council on

         18  gangs. Over these past five years, the Chancellor's

         19  Zero Tolerance Policy was promulgated 1997, a

         20  prevention manual was developed and distributed to

         21  all principals (1996) presentations for staff,

         22  parents and students with accompanying materials was

         23  developed and is on-going (1995).

         24                 Since assuming the position of

         25  Director of Educational Safety Development and
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          2  Support with the Division of School Safety/Student

          3  Safety and Prevention Services, a continuum of

          4  services, rather than a program, has been developed

          5  to assist schools, individual youngsters, families,

          6  and communities to reduce youth gang affiliation and

          7  violence.

          8                 These strategies include extensive

          9  training for guidance counselors and other support

         10  staff, awareness and intervention presentations to

         11  parents, school staff, and other agency staff,

         12  interactive student workshops, visits to

         13  correctional facilities for selected youth and most

         14  importantly individualized assistance to victims and

         15  renouncing youth.

         16                 This is done by addressing the need

         17  that the gang is fulfilling in the young person,

         18  dispelling the myth, and then phasing the youngster

         19  out of the gang by having positive adults and

         20  programs fill the identified need.

         21                 Gangs are perceived by young people

         22  as fulfilling the needs of belonging, a sense of

         23  identity, a sense of power and status, a sense of

         24  structure and family, financial gain, and excitement

         25  and fun.
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          2                 We are finding that some members,

          3  especially the very young, are brought into the

          4  gangs by family, either through being born in or by

          5  the families acceptance of financial gains obtained

          6  from being in a gang.

          7                 In some cases, on the elementary

          8  school level, we are seeing groups of youngsters

          9  organized by a school bully or an older youngster

         10  emulating the gang persona. When we as a school

         11  system and community provide young people with the

         12  opportunity to form bonds with prosocial adults and

         13  enable youth to participate in activities that

         14  enhance their sense of belonging and competence and

         15  which also provide them with knowledge and skills,

         16  we foster their resiliency and reduce the

         17  attractiveness of gangs.

         18                 In order to further these goals

         19  additional funding is needed for after school

         20  recreational and tutorial programs, job training

         21  career programs, internships and mentoring programs.

         22  Emphasis needs to be placed on early intervention

         23  for siblings and children of gang members including

         24  teen parenting programs. Increased juvenile

         25  diversion programs need to be put in place,
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          2  individual and group counseling for incarcerated

          3  youth made mandatory and school transition programs

          4  for returning youth be established.

          5                 By collaborating with other

          6  governmental agencies such as NYPD, Corrections,

          7  Probation, Juvenile Justice, ACS Weed and Seed

          8  programs, hospitals, mental health agencies and

          9  community-based organizations, strategies to address

         10  the individual needs of our youngsters continue to

         11  be developed and implemented.

         12                 Gang Prevention and Intervention.

         13                 Services at a Glance.

         14                 - Staff Awareness Presentation: An

         15  informative 30 to 45 minute presentation to provide

         16  school staff with an understanding of gang culture,

         17  including hate and cult groups, clues for

         18  identifying gang members, current geographic-based

         19  data and resource information.

         20                 - Support Staff Training: A

         21  participatory workshop of two to three hours in

         22  duration to provide support staff with prevention

         23  and intervention counseling strategies, techniques

         24  and resources related to gangs, hate groups and

         25  cults.
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          2                 - Parent and Community Awareness and

          3  Prevention Presentation: An informative hour long

          4  presentation to provide parents with the tools they

          5  need to help their children stay out of gangs/hate

          6  groups/ cults, avoid victimization, recognize high

          7  risk and affiliation behaviors and access resources

          8  for help.

          9                 - Student Choices Workshop: A gang

         10  resistance and renouncement classroom lesson to

         11  provide students with a true picture of gang

         12  affiliation. The lesson is modified to the grade and

         13  ability levels of the youngsters. Individual

         14  assistance and support is provided to students in

         15  need.

         16                 - Student Hate Crime Prevention

         17  Workshop: A classroom lesson designed to develop

         18  tolerance and understanding by exploring issues of

         19  stereotyping, prejudice and bias which may lead to

         20  hate crimes.

         21                 The lesson is modified to the grade

         22  and ability levels of the youngsters. Individual

         23  assistance and support is provided to students in

         24  need.

         25                 Youth Assistance Program (YAP): In
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          2  conjunction with several correctional facilities

          3  this program offers students an opportunity to

          4  experience prison life and gain insight into the

          5  unappealing reality of living a life filled with

          6  drugs, guns and violence.

          7                 This program targets at risk

          8  youngsters.

          9                 - Gang Renouncement Assistance: An

         10  individualized plan is developed for the youngsters

         11  and their families to meet their specific needs

         12  based upon a full investigation and assessment.

         13  Support is provided with referrals made to

         14  appropriate agencies.

         15                 - Community Outreach: Assistance is

         16  given to schools and community organizations to

         17  establish partnerships and access services from

         18  governmental and private agencies.

         19                 (Hearing concluded at 5:21 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 26th day of October 1999.
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